## **Georgia State University**

# ScholarWorks @ Georgia State University

**Public Health Dissertations** 

School of Public Health

Spring 3-7-2024

# A Comprehensive Policy Analysis to Address the Public Health Dilemma of Systemic Ableism and Patient Distress Following Prenatal Screening for Disabilities

Stephanie Meredith

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.gsu.edu/sph\_diss

#### **Recommended Citation**

Meredith, Stephanie, "A Comprehensive Policy Analysis to Address the Public Health Dilemma of Systemic Ableism and Patient Distress Following Prenatal Screening for Disabilities." Dissertation, Georgia State University, 2024.

doi: https://doi.org/10.57709/36975094

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the School of Public Health at ScholarWorks @ Georgia State University. It has been accepted for inclusion in Public Health Dissertations by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks @ Georgia State University. For more information, please contact scholarworks@gsu.edu.

# A COMPREHENSIVE POLICY ANALYSIS TO ADDRESS THE PUBLIC HEALTH DILEMMA OF SYSTEMIC ABLEISM AND PATIENT DISTRESS FOLLOWING PRENATAL SCREENING FOR DISABILITIES

by

### STEPHANIE MEREDITH

MA, Brigham Young University

BA, Brigham Young University

A Dissertation Submitted to the School of Public Health of Georgia State University in Partial

Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree:

DOCTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH

ATLANTA, GEORGIA 30303

# Approval Page

A Comprehensive Policy Analysis to Address the Public Health Dilemma of Systemic Ableism and Patient Distress Following Prenatal Screening for Disabilities

Ву

# Stephanie Meredith

Approved By:

Dr. Erin Vinoski Thomas, PhD, MPH; Committee Chair

Dr. Carlos Pavão, DrPH; Committee Member

Dr. Marsha Michie, PhD; Committee Member

Robert Dinerstein, JD; Committee Member

Proposed final defense date: March 7, 2024

# Author's Statement Page

In presenting this dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Georgia State University, I agree that the Library of the University shall make it available for inspection and circulation in accordance with its regulations governing materials of this type. I agree that permission to quote from, to copy from, or to publish this dissertation may be granted by the author or, in his/her absence, by the professor under whose direction it was written, or in his/her absence, by the Associate Dean, School of Public Health. Such quoting, copying, or publishing must be solely for scholarly purposes and will not involve potential financial gain. It is understood that any copying from or publication of this dissertation which involves potential financial gain will not be allowed without written permission of the author.

Stephanie Hall Meredith

Stephanie Meredith

Signature of Author

# Dedication and Acknowledgment

This dissertation is dedicated foremost to my husband and children. My husband, Justin Meredith, supported me throughout this journey with words of encouragement, financial support, and help with kids. I love him, and he's my person. I am deeply grateful to my daughter, Lily, who supported me all along by bringing me food, encouraging me to have fun, being understanding about having a busy mom, and even helping clean up transcriptions of interviews. Many thanks to my daughter, Kate, for her unwavering support and encouragement and for her help with holding down the fort at home and to Andy Meredith, my son with Down syndrome who forever changed how I view the world in the best ways and who makes me laugh and inspires me with his confidence. They are my inspiration and joy.

This dissertation is also dedicated to my parents, William and Bernice Hall, who instilled the value of education in me and always made me feel loved and supported—a truly precious gift for which I will always be grateful. My mom also inspired me through her example of returning to school to pursue her lifelong dream of becoming a teacher. This dissertation is also dedicated to my extensive family, especially my sisters, who patiently listened to me vent, cheered for me, and made me get out of the house. I similarly owe many thanks to my friends for listening to me and encouraging me, especially the Davises during the COVID year.

This dissertation is further dedicated to my friends in the Down syndrome and broader disability community who encouraged me, cheered for me, patiently sat through interviews, participated in research, and let me know that this makes a difference. I am so deeply and profoundly grateful and feel richer for having you all in my life. I started to list you all out, and I just couldn't because there are so many of you. I absolutely could not have accomplished this

without Nancy Iannone, Harold Kleinert, and Madeleine Will. Thanks also to Andy Imparato and Daniel Crimmins for the AUCD Leadership Seminar that inspired me to return to school.

I also want to thank all the members of my dissertation committee for their guidance, mentorship, friendship, expertise, generosity, and unique skills and deep subject-matter knowledge to make this dissertation the best it could be. Thank you all for your willingness to serve on my dissertation committee and helping me in so many other ways with constructing research and grant proposals and advocating as part of the disability community.

And a special thanks to Dr. Erin Vinoski-Thomas for serving as my dissertation chair, especially during her pregnancy. You have been uniquely supportive in the program as the faculty who most acutely understands the intersection between disability and public health, who shares a passion for this work, and who is unfailingly encouraging.

Thanks also to the generous experts in the field who agreed to be interviewed for the study. They are all people for whom I have profound respect and who contribute significantly to disability policy and advocacy.

Finally, I would like to acknowledge my cohort and other School of Public Health faculty and staff that I have come to know during my time in the DrPH program. You have been a genuine gift and the shining light of this experience, particularly given all the challenges during COVID. I'm also so grateful for your perspectives on health equity that will be a gift throughout my career.

# Abstract

**Background**: For nearly twenty years, research studies have demonstrated that the majority of pregnant patients do not receive the information and support they need when learning about a potential disability diagnosis (Meredith et al., 2023; Nelson Goff et al., 2013; Skotko, 2005). These negative experiences and lack of information can lead to lasting emotional harm for the pregnant patient and negatively impact patient/provider relationships (May et al., 2020). Therefore, the purpose of this policy analysis is to identify potential policy solutions that can address this problem.

**Methods**: Using the Bardach Model for Policy Analysis, I applied the eightfold path which includes 1. defining the problem; 2. assembling evidence; 3. constructing the alternatives; 4. selecting the criteria; 5. projecting the outcomes; 6. confronting the trade-offs; 7. deciding; 8. and telling the story. In completing Step 2, "Assembling Evidence," I conducted a targeted literature review and qualitative interviews with 10 different interdisciplinary and bipartisan policy experts using the responsive interview approach, then I applied the Framework Method to analyze interview data.

**Results**: The literature and interviews suggest that federal policy initiatives are unlikely to pass given the current political climate but can be effective at bringing skeptical stakeholders to the table. The most cost effective and promising solutions involve 1. applying for research funding to improve outcomes for people with disabilities as a health disparities population at the first point on the life course and 2. advocating directly to medical and genetics organizations to be

more inclusive of the disability community in their health equity initiatives and the development of guidelines, medical training, and organizational practices.

Conclusion: Fundamentally, the disability bias conveyed during prenatal screening conversations that causes negative experiences for pregnant patients is rooted in systemic ableism. Therefore, the literature and interviewees in this policy analysis pointed to medical and genetics organizations as the linchpins for establishing standards in the field of obstetrics to address the harms to both people with disabilities and their parents caused by ableism, and federal research grants hold significant promise in facilitating collaborative work between medical organizations and the disability advocacy community.

# Table of Contents

App	proval Page	2
Aut	thor's Statement Page	3
Dec	dication and Acknowledgment	4
Abstract List of Abbreviations:		
Cha	apter 1: Introduction and Statement of Purpose	13
1.1.		
1.2.	. History of the Problem	
	1.2.a. Patient experiences	
	1.2.b. Systemic Bias	
	. Purpose and Significance of Analysis	
	. Reflexivity Statement	
Cha	apter 2: Literature Review	34
2.1	Federal Policy	
	2.1.a. Prenatally and Postnatally Diagnosed Conditions Awareness Act (PPDCAA)	36
2.2	Organizational Policies About Prenatal Testing and Disabilities	
	2.2.a. Organizational Prenatal Testing Policies	
2.3.	. Current Proposed Policy Solutions	
	2.3.b. Fund disability cultural competency training for clinicians.	
	2.3.c. Incentivize disability equity in the creation of guidelines	55
	2.3.d. Create sustainable patient education funding models	56
2.4.	. Models:	
	2.4.a. PCORI: Grant funding model	
2 -	Limitations	
Cha	apter 3: Methods	
3.1.	. Introduction	63
3.2.	. Methodological Perspective	63
3.3.	. Research Design	
	3.3.a.Rationale	
<b>.</b> -	·	
3.4	Data Collection	

3.4.b. Participant Selection	
3.4.c. Procedures and setting	
3.5. Data Analysis	77
3.6. Ethical Considerations	80
3.7. Validity and Reliability	80
Chapter 4: Results	82
4.1. Assemble Some Evidence—Interviews: Step 2	82
4.1.a. Participant Characteristics	
4.1.b. Themes and Subthemes	
4.1.c. Indexing and applying the analytical framework	
4.2. Construct the Alternatives: Step 3	
4.2.a. Mapping and interpretation	
4.2.b Alternatives	
4.3. Select the Criteria: Step 4	103
4.4. Project the Outcomes: Step 5	106
4.4.a. Alternative 1: No action	
4.4.b. Alternative 2: Fund the Prenatally and Postnatally Diagnosed Conditions Awareness Act.	
4.4.c. Alternative 3: ACOG, SMFM, and genetic organizations include people with disabilities in	• •
measures, the development of guidelines and clinical practices, and the training of residents a how to sensitively discuss disabilities training.	
4.4.d. Alternative 4: Federal funding agencies, including NIH and CDC, which are now funding linitiatives that include people with disabilities as a health disparities population, can prioritize toward research and resource dissemination to improve prenatal diagnosis experiences as the	nealth equity funding
the life course	
4.4.e. Alternative 5: Congressional funding used as a reward or penalty for medical organization providers to address disabilities more equitably	
4.4.f. Policy Analysis Criteria Matrix	
4.4.g. Break-even estimates	119
4.5. Confront the Trade-offs: Step 6	121
4.5.a. Policy Analysis Trade-Off Matrix	121
Chapter 5: Conclusions	125
5.1. Deciding: Step 7	125
5.2. Limitations and Future Research	133
5.3. Conclusion	134
References	137
Appendix 1: Potential Interviewees:	160
Appendix 2: Interview guide	161
Appendix 3: Potential Legislative Champions	162
Appendix 4: Index	167

Appendix 5: Analytical Memo	168
Appendix 6: Telling Your Story: Step 8	186

# List of Abbreviations:

DSIA: Down Syndrome Information Act

DS: Down syndrome

cfDNA: Cell-free DNA

NIPS: Non-invasive prenatal screening or NIPT: Non-invasive prenatal testing

PPDCAA: Prenatally and Postnatally Diagnosed Conditions Awareness Act

SB: Spina Bifida

# List of Tables

Table 1: Bardach Model Step Directory: 67 Table 2: Assembling Evidence Methods: 73

Table 3: Participant Selection Characteristics: 76

Table 4: Major Inductive Themes: 83

Table 5: Policy Analysis Criteria Matrix: 118
Table 6: Policy Analysis Trade-Off Matrix: 122

# Chapter 1: Introduction and Statement of Purpose

# 1.1. Problem Statement: Step 1

A majority of pregnant patients in the US undergo blood tests such as maternal serum screening and cell-free DNA (cfDNA) screening to detect if their fetus has increased chances for disabilities such as Down syndrome (DS). Indeed, maternal serum screening for disabilities was being utilized by about 72% of the 4 million pregnant patients in the US by 2013 (Palomaki et al., 2013), and the commercialization of these screening tests has grown since more accurate cell-free DNA screening tests were introduced to the market in 2011-2012. Indeed, among parents of children with DS born between 2016-2021, about 71% reported undergoing cfDNA screening, and 26% reported serum screening (Meredith et al., 2023). This screening is broadly offered through coverage from private insurers, as well as public funds and public health departments, as demonstrated by the coverage of cell-free DNA (cfDNA) by the Louisiana Department of Health (Newsroom, 2019) and the California Prenatal Screening Program as part of the California Department of Public Health, 2023).

Prenatal screening tests, such as traditional maternal serum screening (like the "quad screen") and ultrasounds have been used for decades to detect whether a fetus has increased chances for various conditions such as DS and Spina Bifida (SB) (Parens & Asch, 2000), and more recent cell-free DNA tests were introduced over ten years ago and have greater sensitivity and specificity than traditional maternal serum screening at detecting aneuploidies such as DS and Trisomy 13 and 18, as well as sex chromosome conditions. However, false positives and false negatives can still occur; therefore, they are still considered screening tests and not diagnostic (Society of Maternal Fetal Medicine, n.d.). On the other hand, amniocentesis (available since

the 1960's) and chorionic villus sampling (CVS) (available since the 1980's) are considered diagnostic because they can provide results that are nearly 100% certainty for the broadest range of conditions (Parens & Asch, 2000). Consequently, the American College of Medical Genetic and Genomics and the Society of Maternal Fetal Medicine do not recommend providing information about disabilities or making irreversible pregnancy decisions such as termination until after confirmation with a diagnostic test (American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists' Committee on Practice Bulletins—Obstetrics et al., 2020; Society of Maternal Fetal Medicine, n.d.). However, this policy can be challenging when addressing the needs of expectant parents who choose to prepare for the birth of a baby with Down syndrome because even though 97% of parents of children with DS reported undergoing prenatal screening in a recent study, only 37% went on for confirmatory diagnostic testing (Meredith et al., 2023). Moreover, 86% indicated that the most important stage for receiving information about DS was after prenatal screening (Meredith et al., 2023). Therefore, based on these patient preferences, when referring to a prenatal "diagnosis experience" throughout this policy analysis, I am referring to the first point on the diagnostic journey when a pregnant patient learns about the potential disability of a fetus, whether following confirmatory diagnostic testing (an amniocentesis or chorionic villus sampling) or following prenatal screening that provides a high probability score.

Optional prenatal screening continues to offer patients increasingly more genetic information about their pregnancy, should they wish to pursue it. This information can be used for a range of reasons such as preparing for the birth of a baby with a disability, making pregnancy management decisions (termination, adoption, or continuing the pregnancy), and

pursuing more aggressive prenatal care such as increased non-stress tests and detailed ultrasounds. While genetic information can help some patients to feel empowered, it can influence others to feel distressed. While patients certainly experience significant unavoidable stress if they find out their baby has a life-threatening condition, most parents of children with non-life threatening conditions report that a major source of that distress is the way the diagnosis is delivered (Nelson Goff et al., 2013). Indeed, research shows that the way the diagnosis is delivered can cause distress for many expectant parents learning about a diagnosis of Down syndrome (May et al., 2020).

Skotko et al. outlined research-based recommendations for how best to deliver a diagnosis of Down syndrome in 2009, including the following (Skotko et al., 2009). While these recommendations focus on Down syndrome, parents of children with other prenatally diagnosed conditions, such as Spina Bifida, have expressed similar preferences (Meredith, Brackett, et al., 2022; Payne, 2013). Moreover, the recommendations have also been modified with input from representatives of the National Society of Genetic Counselors to include cell-free DNA and additional conditions (Meredith, 2016).

- Clearly outline the differences between prenatal screening and diagnostic tests.
   Importantly, patients need to understand that screening tests (including cfDNA) indicate a patient's chances for having a baby with various genetic conditions.
- 2. If a pregnant patient wants to undergo testing, ask her about why having a diagnosis prior to birth would be important to her. This question prenatally can help better guide any future conversations about a test result and to avoid repeated questions about termination after a patient has expressed a preference.

- 3. When possible, deliver the results in person or at a pre-established time by phone. Determine a standard way of handling all results and tell patients about that up front so that they do not get the impression that an appointment or phone call is only scheduled if results indicate a diagnosis.
- 4. Personally deliver the diagnosis as soon as possible following definitive prenatal testing. Use commonly understandable terms and convey information in a patient's native language when translation is available.
- 5. Each condition detected with prenatal testing has different outcomes, and each expectant parent reacts differently based on his or her background and experience, life circumstances, and perceptions about parenting. Assess the emotional reactions of the expectant parents and validate these feelings. Use active listening and empathetic responses to offer support (Sheets, Crissman, et al., 2011).
- 6. If a condition does not cause premature death, use neutral language such as,

  "The results indicate..." and not begin with, "I'm sorry," or "Unfortunately, I have
  some bad news..."
- 7. Provide accurate and up-to-date information about the genetic condition and contact information for local support organizations.

Because these recommendations are not being implemented by many/most clinical practices, below is the problem statement as outlined in Step 1 of the Bardach Framework method:

As prenatal screening expands, too **many expectant parents** experience emotional harm because they are not provided balanced, accurate, and up-to-date information about genetic

conditions, and they experience clinical bias that perpetuates discrimination against people with disabilities.

### 1.2. History of the Problem

#### 1.2.a. Patient experiences

Multiple research studies have found that the information needs of a majority of pregnant women were not met by clinicians delivering a prenatal diagnosis of Down syndrome even after nearly two decades of available recommendations and resources (Meredith et al., 2023; Nelson Goff et al., 2013; Skotko, 2005). Research similarly shows that parents of children with Trisomy 18, SB and hydrocephalus, and congenital heart defects have similarly indicated that they often do not receive sufficient information about those conditions following screening results. (Carlsson et al., 2016; Chaplin et al., 2005; Walker et al., 2008). DS is the chromosomal condition most commonly diagnosed during pregnancy; therefore, research about prenatal experiences is most prolific for this population. Therefore, DS can serve as a litmus test and model for other disabilities detected prenatally. One research study found that women were three times more likely to describe the way their positive results from prenatal screening or diagnosis are delivered as a negative experience than as a positive experience (Nelson Goff et al., 2013). Notably, these study participants did not indicate that the diagnosis itself was their reason for the negative experience but rather "the reasons for the negative perceptions included: the medical professionals' insistence on terminating the pregnancies, the perpetuation of negative stereotypes of individuals with DS, the lack of information about DS provided by the medical professionals, and the perceived lack of compassion exhibited by the medical professionals" (Nelson Goff et al., 2013, p. 453). Recent research further indicates that

a diagnosis experience can cause lasting emotional harm when the diagnosis experience is perceived as negative, and negative diagnosis experiences are largely caused by a perceived lack of compassion, pressure to terminate the pregnancy, pessimistic expectations about outcomes for their child and family, and the provision of limited or no additional resources or support systems (May et al., 2020).

### 1.2.b. Systemic Bias

Ableism is discrimination against people with disabilities, and systemic ableism is discrimination against people with disabilities built into structures such as health care or education (Lagu et al., 2022). Systemic ableism and bias against people with disabilities can be projected in various aspects of prenatal screening. As described in more detail below, these include: 1. the administration of prenatal screening through a biased social context where screening itself suggests a condition is negative in a society where people with disabilities regularly experience discrimination (Parens & Asch, 2000); 2. the bias conveyed in the marketing and administration of screening to produce "healthy babies" (Estreich, 2019) 3. the absence of people with disabilities—as those with lived experience—in the development of medical guidelines and medical training (Meredith, Brackett, et al., 2022), and 4. biases in the justifications for funding for prenatal screening (National Council on Disability, 2019a).

### 1.2.b.(1). Prenatal Screening Within the Context of Social Bias Against People with Disabilities

Notably, the development of prenatal testing and screening emerged in a society during the 1960's when people with disabilities were subject to substantial discrimination and continued remnants of eugenics policies: broad institutionalization through the 1970's; continued forced sterilization; before the enactment of Section 504 in 1973; before the passage

of the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act in 1975; and before the passage of the Americans with Disabilities Act in 1990 (Nielsen, 2012). In Parens and Asch's 2000 seminal work, Prenatal Testing and Disability Rights—the outcome of a two-year Hastings Center project they explain that the disability rights critique of prenatal testing posits that prenatal testing is often based on misinformation about what it means to live with disability, particularly in a society rife with discrimination against people with disabilities, and that the selective abortion of people with disabilities expresses a harmful attitude about disabilities given the discriminatory environment in which prenatal screening and reproductive options are offered (Parens & Asch, 2000). In the book and Hastings Center reports, Parens and Asch describe Allen Buchanan's "expressivist argument" that "prenatal tests to select against disabling traits express a hurtful attitude about and send a hurtful message to people who live with those same traits" (Parens & Asch, 1999, p. 13). Indeed, research confirms that the majority of clinicians convey implicit, and in some cases, explicit bias against disabilities in those prenatal conversations (Meredith et al., 2023), and some tend to focus on "empirically inaccurate and gloomy predictions" that unfairly catastrophize disability (Knight & Miller, 2021a, p. 98). The "expressivist critique" of prenatal screening is defined as "the social phenomenon of prenatal testing [that] has unfolded against a backdrop of the medicalization of pregnancy and of disabilities, and this context of medicalization enables the social phenomenon to convey a discernable negative message about disabilities (Kaposy, 2022, p. 59).

# 1.2.b.(2). Eugenic Marketing and Administration of Prenatal Screening

Bioethicist George Estreich argues that the marketing messaging about prenatal screening reinforces biased perceptions about disabilities (Estreich, 2019). Prenatal screening

laboratories have frequently used marketing language express the view that prenatal screening offers "peace of mind." Yet, prenatal screening does not inherently offer "peace of mind." Those who undergo prenatal screening and find out their baby likely has a genetic condition often report that the delivery of the news is distressing either because of their concern for their child or because of the negative way in which the information is presented. Those who find out their baby likely doesn't have a prenatally diagnosed condition may experience "peace of mind," but that reaction often reflects deeply embedded ableist perceptions about life with disability. In *Fables and Futures*, Estreich asserts that the original marketing of these tests employed images to sell the healthy and prosperous ideal family (Estreich, 2019). As Estreich explains, "This is why the pictures of ideal families are important: set beside them, disability is not merely an abstract risk, a percentage, but a risk *to* something, to the combination of ideal children, motherhood, and family, to the vision of a good life" (Estreich, 2019, p. 121). Hearkening back to eugenic ideals of fitter families in the early twentieth century, these images conjure the deeply ableist idea that families are better, happier, and more successful without people with disabilities.

During the eugenics era, scientists and other prominent members of society argued that society could genetically weed out those deemed as "undesirable" through better breeding and instituted programs such as discriminatory immigration policies and forced sterilization of those deemed mentally unfit (Lombardo, 2010; Rutherford, 2023). However, these eugenic ideals were widely discredited as racist, ableist, and abhorrent as they were used as inspiration by Hitler in his quest to cultivate a "superior race" during World War II by eliminating all those he deemed as unfit (Rutherford, 2023). Fundamentally, eugenics was developed by predominantly white, wealthy men in positions of power who were incorrectly attributing the bulk of societal

problems to genetic causes and applying their own biased perceptions of ideal and undesirable to the broader population (Rutherford, 2023). Yet, disability rights advocates and quality of life research studies of people with disabilities and their families demonstrate that people with disabilities, like Down syndrome, are largely happy with their lives (Skotko et al., 2011b, 2011a).

Scholars like Rosemarie Garland-Thomson, Gareth Thomas, and Tom Shakespeare—who all explicitly support a patient's right to choose whether or not to continue a pregnancy—contend that cfDNA screening itself can be viewed as a form of "contemporary eugenics" (Garland-Thomson & Larson, 2023; T. W. Shakespeare, 2011; Thomas & Rothman, 2016). They argue that even though force is not involved through policies, social pressure to undergo prenatal screening and social biases against people with disabilities are so dominant that individual reproductive choices are unduly influenced and can collectively amount to eugenic outcomes (Garland-Thomson & Larson, 2023; T. W. Shakespeare, 2011; Thomas & Rothman, 2016).

1.2.b.(3). Lack of Disability Representation in Obstetric and Genetic Guidelines, Education, and Training

A lack of representation of people with disabilities in the training of clinicians and the guideline development for genetics and medical organizations compounds the problems above. Indeed, only about half of U.S. medical schools report having any type of disability awareness program as part of their curriculum (Keller, 2022). Moreover, education that does cover disability in medical schools tends to focus on the medical model of disability, where disability is viewed as a problem to be fixed, rather than also incorporating the social model of disability that defines the challenges associated with disability as largely constructed by societal barriers or the identity model of disability that defines disability as a meaningful cultural identity (Keller,

2022). Examples of disability cultural competency training include the Brighter Tomorrow program through the University of Kentucky (Jackson et al., 2020) and the Competencies for Disability in Health Care Education, which were developed and vetted by an inclusive committee led by Susan Havercamp and are currently being shared with medical schools and continuing education programs: <a href="https://nisonger.osu.edu/wp-content/uploads/2019/08/post-consensus-">https://nisonger.osu.edu/wp-content/uploads/2019/08/post-consensus-</a> Core-Competencies-on-Disability 8.5.19.pdf. Interdisciplinary advocates have called for improved training in cultural competency about disability in genetic and obstetric education and the inclusion of people with disabilities in the development of that training in order to avoid the perpetuation of default societal biases against a historically marginalized population (Meredith, Brackett, et al., 2022). Disabled bioethicists and scholars specifically argue for the training of obstetricians and genetic counselors to intentionally include disabled leaders with lived experience, to focus on the counter-narratives of people with disabilities, and to facilitate antiableist training where professionals, according to Dietz and Reynolds, are "committed not just to informedness, but also to the idea that genetic counselors and their clients should acknowledge and combat how dominant epistemic frameworks shaping healthcare decisionmaking can perpetuate ableism" (Dietz & Reynolds, 2021, p. 1; Garland-Thomson & Larson, 2023; T. Shakespeare & Hull, 2018; Stramondo, 2020).

Further, people with disabilities have largely been excluded from the development of obstetric guidelines related to prenatal screening—a practice that implicitly reflects perspectives on quality of life for people with disabilities such that inclusion of people with disabilities is not perceived as critical. The American College of Medical Genetics and Genomics, the American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists, the Society for Maternal Fetal

Medicine (SMFM), and the National Society of Genetic Counselors (NSGC) all offer guidelines on the administration of prenatal screening and testing. However, the only guidelines that specifically document receiving input from the disability community as a stakeholder population are the "Practice guidelines for communicating a prenatal or postnatal diagnosis of Down syndrome: Recommendations of the NSGC." Therefore, interdisciplinary advocates have expressed the view that people with disabilities and their families need to be included as stakeholders in the development of guidelines to avoid the projection of bias against disabilities (Meredith, Brackett, et al., 2022).

#### 1.2.b.(4). Biases in Funding Justifications for Prenatal Screening

A final and fundamentally unethical bias in prenatal screening is the justification sometimes used for screening as a public health benefit, which rarely calculates the education of patients and providers as a cost of screening which is not negligible. These justifications are most egregious when they rely on an equation that factors in the population-wide cost of the tests weighed against termination rates and the lifetime costs of people with different genetic conditions. One highly cited publication analyzing the cost-effectiveness of Non-Invasive Prenatal Testing (NIPT) included a calculation of the lifetime cost of a person with a genetic condition that did not factor in the contributions made by those individuals, implicitly assuming that the healthcare costs they documented were not offset by either community contributions or economic contributions through paid work (Benn et al., 2015). Moreover, the calculation presumed a termination rate of 87%, which is both inaccurate and based on the current social climate where prenatal screening results are delivered with a bias against disability (Benn et al., 2015). The most recent termination rate estimate only among those who undergo diagnostic

testing is 67% (Natoli et al., 2012), and the overall reduction rate for the total number of babies with Down syndrome born each year is estimated at 30% (de Graaf et al., 2015). The study authors acknowledge that "decreasing termination rates was associated with a reduction in NIPT value" (Benn et al., 2015). Moreover, the cost calculations did not include any costs for an education and support infrastructure for patients and providers to address inherent societal biases about disabilities that typically color those prenatal screening conversations. Indeed, this particular omission is a regular problem with most cost effectiveness studies (National Council on Disability, 2019a). Therefore, cost-effectiveness justifications such as this one inherently rely upon bias against disabilities. The National Council on Disability (NCD) released a report in 2019 arguing that the use of measures like Quality-Adjusted Life Years by health economists inherently devalues the lives of people with disabilities by subjectively assigning scores to rate the severity of conditions in determining quality of life (National Council on Disability, 2019b). To create a more ethical prenatal screening model based on benefits for patients and the disability community, justifications must rely instead upon better mental and physical health outcomes for patients and/or their offspring with disabilities. For this result to be achieved, an education, training, and support structure must also be factored into the equation. However, NCD also presents a compelling argument that the entire enterprise of using this kind a costbenefit analysis that quantifies the lives of people at all is ethically problematic (National Council on Disability, 2019b).

### 1.2.c. Current Problem

A research study of 242 women who received prenatal screening results for Down syndrome between 2016-2021 found that only 29% of respondents from that study reported

receiving any information about supports and services, and only 22% reported receiving any information about national advocacy organizations (Meredith et al., 2023). Meanwhile, 64% of respondents received information about medical issues (Meredith et al., 2023). This is particularly problematic given that supports and social services are so instrumental in addressing social determinants of health for people with disabilities (Kennedy & Wood, 2020). Moreover, this information gap exemplifies the privileging of the medical model over the social model of disability where the medicalized assessment is valued more highly than the biomedical and social variables that give people with disabilities more control over their life choices and support from a social justice perspective (Knight & Miller, 2021a; Rubeis & Steger, 2019).

Furthermore, 61.3% of respondents indicated that their obstetric medical providers projected implicit bias about disabilities in prenatal conversations by saying, "I'm sorry" and conveying the information as bad news. Carroll, Schwartz, and Vellody explain that when clinicians use value-laden words like "burden" or "retarded" to describe disabilities or deliver news using presumptive language such as "I have bad news to share," they convey unconscious bias (Carroll et al., 2018; Schwartz & Vellody, 2016). Knight and Miller assert that the incongruence between the negative disability bias conveyed by some medical professionals and most parents' more positive descriptions of their lived experience raising children with disabilities like Down syndrome leads skeptics to assert that parents "sugarcoat" their experiences as an adaptive behavior. This dismissal of the lived experiences of parents and people with disabilities is described as "testimonial injustice" where the testimony of those with lived experience as parents is not perceived as credible (Knight & Miller, 2021a, p. 104; Reed &

Meredith, 2020) and can lead to this bias in prenatal screening discussions about disability because the perspectives of those with lived experience are excluded.

Despite significant work done by interdisciplinary teams of committed professionals (including myself) to create and disseminate patient education materials, engage in research on patient diagnosis experiences, offer presentations at conferences, publish articles drawing attention to their issues, and more, *most patients are still experiencing bias and not receiving the information they need to understand genetic conditions*. Because these efforts are largely being done in pockets by committed professionals without federal funding or policy requirements to prompt systemic change, the purpose of this policy analysis is to examine the problem in depth and determine what policy initiatives might be able to offer systemic solutions.

## 1.3. Purpose and Significance of Analysis

While many good-faith efforts have been implemented to improve prenatal screening experiences, research has shown that the impact of these interventions has been limited in improving patient experiences. Most patients in these studies have reported that their clinicians conveyed implicit bias against people with disabilities, and most patients also reported that they were not receiving accurate, up-to-date, and balanced information when receiving prenatal diagnostic results or screening results suggesting a diagnosis of Down syndrome. The level of distress this situation induces for patients and the societal impact on bias against the disability community constitutes a genetic information public health crisis for the following reasons:

 Negative prenatal screening experiences and outcomes have been found to occur throughout the US, and negative experiences are particularly damaging for people with

- intersectional marginalized identities such as disability and race or low socioeconomic status (Chung et al., 2023; Krell et al., 2023; Meredith & Wright, 2023).
- 2. Prenatal screening is the first point on the life course that has long-term impacts on patient and provider trust. Because this population already has a higher incidence of medical complications and lower life expectancy, trust between patients and providers from the first point on the life course onward is essential to improving those health outcomes, particularly for Hispanic parents of children with DS (Chung et al., 2023).
- 3. People with disabilities comprise a population that desperately needs to be connected with services and supports immediately, given inequities in social determinants of health in which people with disabilities are more likely to experience poverty, unemployment, and other forms of discrimination (lezzoni et al., 2021; Kennedy & Wood, 2020).
- People with disabilities describe discrimination based on perceptions about genetic screening in the US (Parens & Asch, 2000; Piepmeier et al., 2021).
- 5. Public health entities are involved in the funding and administration of prenatal screening programs, and substantial research suggests that patients do not receive adequate counseling about the testing or the conditions for which they are being tested and experience negative outcomes accordingly. Consequently, the provision of education, clinical training, and services are essential for justifying a public health benefit for prenatal screening given the current negative impact on patients (May et al., 2020; Nelson Goff et al., 2013; Skotko, 2005).

Therefore, the purpose of this policy analysis is to examine what policy solutions could systemically improve the experiences of pregnant patients learning about a possible diagnosis

and reduce disability bias among obstetric and genetic professionals. This policy analysis will focus on federal legislation and guidance, given that federal policies and organizational guidelines have the greatest capacity for systemic change that will impact the most clinicians and patients uniformly across the US. While many promising state-level solutions have been implemented, including over twenty state Down Syndrome/Genetic Conditions Information Acts (Center for Dignity in Healthcare for People with Disabilities, 2021), those are outside the scope of this analysis given their inconsistency in content/quality and in facilitating systemic change from state-to-state. Moreover, those state-level solutions have had limited effectiveness within the states themselves at improving diagnosis experiences (Lehman et al., 2021).

Using the Bardach Model for Policy Analysis, I will apply the eightfold path that includes: 1. defining the problem; 2. assembling evidence; 3. constructing the alternatives; 4. selecting the criteria; 5. projecting the outcomes; 6. confronting the trade-offs; 7. deciding; 8. and telling the story. A similar application of the Bardach method was used in health policy for the disability community in the "Policy analysis on power standing systems" by LaBerge, and Detterbeck in Preventative Medicine Reports (Masselink et al., 2021), which considered three viable options to address the lack of Medicare coverage for power standing systems on power wheelchairs and then evaluated these options against five criteria determined by using the Bardach framework. Correspondingly, Engelman et. al (2019) outline the practical, feasible, and powerful value of using the Bardach model to turn clinical ideas into action through health policy analysis.

The model enables me to address the complexity of a multidimensional problem that has already had much work done to address some of the issues with patient experiences. However, the stages of assembling evidence and constructing alternatives allow me to consult with

experts and review the literature to determine why the problem continues to persist and what alternative strategies could be used to address it.

The Bardach model further elaborates that the problem should be quantifiable. For this purpose, we rely on research demonstrating that over 60% of patients are not receiving adequate information about Down syndrome from their clinicians, and about 61% of pregnant patients experience disability bias in those conversations (Meredith et al., 2023). Moreover, we can quantify how many pregnancies are diagnosed with disabilities per year and the costs of providing adequate education and support for those expectant parents. This gives us a measure to determine whether policy interventions are achieving their goals by evaluating whether a higher percentage of patients indicate that they received resources and received unbiased counseling after an intervention has been implemented. These numbers can further be used in future cost analysis estimates.

Rhetoric on this issue, which often can be partisan or ideological (Bardach & Patashnik, 2020), revolves around abortion and selective termination for people with disabilities. Because the problem is entangled with this highly volatile issue rhetoric, movement forward to address challenges with prenatal screening has historically been stagnated in the political quagmire of abortion in our divided political system. However, by defining the problem as emotional harm as demonstrated in the research by May and Hennessy (May et al., 2020), and setting evaluation criteria that can be agreed upon by both pro-choice and pro-life advocates—patient education and ameliorating bias against people with disabilities—the issue rhetoric can be assuaged for a majority of political players. The possibility of cross-cutting cooperation on this issue has been demonstrated by the passage of the bi-partisan Kennedy-Brownback Act, the passage of pro-

information state laws, and criteria agreed upon by bi-partisan, interdisciplinary leaders at the Prenatal Disability Education Summit (M. W. Leach, 2016; Meredith, 2022).

### 1.4. Reflexivity Statement

Being the mother of a young adult with Down syndrome has profoundly shaped my identity as a disability rights advocate and as an academic. During the past two decades of experience with my son and the broader disability advocacy community, I have learned that the lives of people with disabilities are much more multi-dimensional, multi-layered, marginalized, and meaningful than the public often realizes. In my position as a mother and disability rights advocate, I'm immersed in the world of disability rights and disability, so I see the world through that lens—which could be perceived as a bias. However, I would posit that because we live in a society in which people with disabilities have experienced historic discrimination and stigma, the public typically has a bias against disability, including medical professionals. Therefore, the perspective of someone within the community is likely more balanced with real-life experience ... as we would expect from those with first-hand experience from different races, ethnicities, and socioeconomic backgrounds.

I had a positive diagnosis experience when I was 23 years old and learned about my son's diagnosis hours after he was born. The pediatrician neutrally explained the characteristics of Down syndrome, and the next day a parent support staff member at the Newborn Intensive Care Unit brought us a book about Down syndrome and showed us a photo of her son on a bike. This was a normalizing moment for us as first-time parents, and she connected us with supports and services right away. I was surprised when research showed this was not the experience for most new parents (Skotko, 2005) Therefore, I am motivated by empathy for these other new and

expectant parents to improve their diagnosis experiences so that they get the support and resources I received. I'm also deeply grateful for the medical providers who supported me, and I feel compassion for medical professionals who feel uncomfortable when delivering unexpected news. I want to provide them with the tools and resources they need to navigate that process as sensitively as possible.

As I conduct research about the families of people with disabilities, my first-hand experience parenting a person with a disability, advocating for disability rights, and supporting new and expectant parents for the past 20 years can be beneficial in knowing what research questions to frame about quality of life, diagnosis experiences, and supports and services. In addition, I have a unique advantage when seeking community-based participatory research partners and when interpreting data to discern how responses correspond to patterns of experiences and themes I've observed over the years while supporting hundreds of families. However, my experience can be a disadvantage among medical professionals who may perceive me as a biased advocate because I am genuinely skeptical of a strictly medical approach to disability. I do believe we must acknowledge any medical issues associated with disabilities and address them, but I also believe that presenting disability in a social context is essential for a more complete picture to meet the needs of patients and present disability with equity.

Because of my personal morality and my ideals as a feminist and disability rights advocate, my beliefs about abortion are complicated and don't fit a traditional framework.

Fundamentally, I feel empathy for all parties involved. I believe pregnant patients should have equitable access to prenatal screening technologies they want to utilize, and I did utilize prenatal screening for preparation in subsequent pregnancies. I also believe pregnant patients should

receive the full spectrum of support and resources to cope with those results. My primary concern is ensuring that patients have access to the support, resources, and healthcare they need so that they are not alone and so that disabilities are presented equitably. I feel profound empathy for them as someone who has gone through that experience myself. I have also personally witnessed and experienced discrimination in health care, systemic ableism, and low societal expectations for my son, and I worry that the information provided to pregnant patients may be tainted by those same biases so that the reproductive decisions they make are based on outdated perceptions of a historically marginalized population. I also feel it is not my place to make pregnancy decisions for other people; my primary goal is to give them the resources they need to understand disabilities and feel empowered to make decisions that reflect their own values. In many ways, the fragile internal compromises I've made about abortion put me in a unique position to understand the doctors whose priority is to serve patients, the feminist advocates who fear encroachment on women's rights, and the disability rights advocates whose main priority is to ensure pregnant women receive accurate, up-to-date, and balanced information about genetic conditions.

Toward that end, I have been involved in many efforts over the past two decades to address the lack of balanced, accurate, and up-to-date information provided about genetic conditions and the clinical bias that perpetuates discrimination against people with disabilities as an author of patient education materials, a conference presenter, an educator, and a researcher. Indeed, many people who are disability rights advocates have lived experience as individuals and family members and can contribute perspectives about life with disabilities that are essential to prenatal screening conversations, and no one approaches this issue objectively.

Therefore, all interested parties need to share their unique perspectives and be aware of potential bias whether they be disability rights advocates, medical professionals, scientists, or policy makers. See Appendix 1.

# Chapter 2: Literature Review

As described in the detailed discussion of the problem in Chapter 1, disability rights advocates have raised concerns for nearly four decades about the potential discriminatory impacts of prenatal screening on people with disabilities (Parens & Asch, 2000); the negative prenatal experiences of patients and the lack of provision of information about the conditions (May et al., 2020; Nelson Goff et al., 2013; Skotko, 2005); the lack of a properly trained medical and genetics workforce to discuss disabilities (Dietz & Reynolds, 2021; Keller, 2022); and the inequity between the funding of testing and the educational infrastructure to support patients following testing (Estreich, 2019). Correspondingly, dedicated advocates and professionals have developed programs and resources to address those concerns as also discussed in Chapter 1. However, recent research shows that these initiatives have not sufficiently or systemically addressed ableism or improved patient experiences given that the majority of parents in recent research indicated that they experienced bias and did not receive the information they needed to understand Down syndrome (Meredith et al., 2023). Because research shows that training interventions like "Brighter Tomorrows" are effective at improving the knowledge and empathy of medical students when discussing a diagnosis of Down syndrome (Jackson et al., 2020), and resources like the Lettercase "Understanding a Down Syndrome Diagnosis" booklet are identified as meeting the needs of expectant parents in focus groups (Levis et al., 2012), these instruments developed collaboratively by medical, genetics, and advocacy experts to improve patient diagnosis experiences and provider competency have demonstrated effectiveness. However, these validated resources have been grossly underutilized for the past 15 years despite being featured in published literature, disseminated in print and email through grant

initiatives, being featured on state department of public health and medical/genetics organization websites, distributed at conferences, and distributed through grassroots efforts with advocacy organizations. Therefore, the failure to enact systemic change appears to be primarily due to ineffective or non-existent organizational and public policies to facilitate and require dissemination and clinical training (Knight & Miller, 2021a). *Indeed, patients report that the majority of clinicians are conveying bias and not providing them with supports and service information about the condition in language they can understand (Meredith et al., 2023)* 

In the following literature section, I will review the federal and organizational policies currently in place to address the problem as outlined in Step 2 of the Bardach Policy Analysis Model so that we can subsequently examine outcomes in the policy analysis if we continue without change and the potential outcomes if we pursue different policy paths (Bardach & Patashnik, 2020).

State laws are the not the focus of this analysis. These issues are important, but this analysis is staying laser focused on the problem identified: the provision of condition-specific information and disability bias in prenatal diagnosis conversations. The focus is on the provision of information and training to support families whatever their decision across an ever-changing landscape of abortion rights. For the broadest systemic change, the emphasis of this analysis centers on federal not state policies. Moreover, even though about half the states have passed their own versions of Down Syndrome and Genetic Conditions Awareness Acts to fill this gap, research suggests that these laws have minimal impact toward improving patient diagnosis experiences and the provision of accurate, balanced, and up-to-date information about genetic conditions (Lehman et al., 2021).

## 2.1 Federal Policy

## 2.1.a. Prenatally and Postnatally Diagnosed Conditions Awareness Act (PPDCAA)

As disability right advocates raised concerns about discrimination against people with disabilities in prenatal screening in the late 1990's, and Dr. Brian Skotko provided research to codify the negative prenatal experiences of parents receiving a Down syndrome diagnosis in 2005, the disability community started demanding policy intervention to systemically address these issues. The first draft of the Prenatally and Postnatally Diagnosed Conditions Awareness Act was introduced in 2007 by Senators Ted Kennedy and Sam Brownback to require that clinicians provide information about "the range of outcomes for individuals living with the diagnosed condition, including physical, developmental, educational, and psychosocial outcomes" (Text of S. 1810 (110th), 2007). The bill was sponsored by pro-choice and disability rights advocate, Sen. Ted Kennedy (D-MA), and pro-life advocate, Sen. Sam Brownback (R-KS), to signal bipartisan support (M. W. Leach, 2016). Disability rights advocates knew that the bill needed to be a bipartisan measure that brought together legislators from both sides of the aisle with a focus on disability rights instead of becoming mired in highly contentious abortion rights territory, and hearings featured the findings of Dr. Skotko do highlight the need for accurate, upto-date, and balanced information about conditions for new and expectant parents. Indeed, both pro-life and pro-choice disability rights advocates unified to create a "pro-information movement" that focused on giving prospective parents "more balanced, up-to-date information and literature about the lived experience of conditions like Down syndrome, so that pregnant women have a fuller and more nuanced idea of what it might mean to give birth to and raise a child with a genetic impairment" (Knight & Miller, 2021a, p. 90). The original version of the bill

required the provision of this information and also a funding provision of \$5 million for each of 5 years (M. W. Leach, 2016).

These demands reached a climax when the American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists released Practice Bulletins 77 and 88 in 2007, which recommended that all women, regardless of age, be offered prenatal screening for an euploidy (an abnormality in the number of chromosomes, such as Trisomy 18 and Trisomy 21 or Down syndrome) ("ACOG Practice Bulletin No. 77," 2007; "ACOG Practice Bulletin No. 88," 2007). Prior to 2007, ACOG only recommended that women over 35 or considered "high risk" be tested. However, research data found that the calculus used by parents to determine whether or not to undergo screening could be applied to pregnant patients of all ages (Kuppermann & Norton, 2005). Moreover, the accuracy of the screening for Down syndrome was progressing so that the reduced false positives and negatives made screening a more appealing option. The revised recommendations caused alarm for the disability community given the negative diagnosis experiences of many parents that had yet to be addressed. They feared for both the exponential increase in negative prenatal diagnosis experiences as well as the potential eradication of the disability population based on the provision of biased and out-of-date information and counseling. Notably, for some pro-life disability rights advocates the motivation was to "save babies," but among the most vocal disability rights advocates like Adrienne Asch and Allison Piepmeier, who were equally vocal pro-choice advocates, the objective was to ensure that clinicians did not unduly influence reproductive decision-making—leading to de facto eugenics—by perpetuating discriminatory anti-disability bias in their prenatal care (Parens & Asch, 1999; Piepmeier et al., 2021). The solution both sides could rally behind—to promote disability rights without infringing on

reproductive rights—was that patients and providers needed support and accurate, up-to-date, and balanced information about disabilities.

with this increased and unified advocacy momentum, Congress passed the **Prenatally** and **Postnatally Diagnosed Conditions Awareness Act** in October 2008 to support new and expectant parents learning about their child's disability diagnosis. Policymakers passed this act in response to research and testimony recognizing that people with disabilities are a historically stigmatized population and that parents need accurate, up-to-date, and balanced information to truly understand these conditions. However, compromises were made to ensure the passage of the legislation, and "these compromises stripped the mandatory language from the bill and instead merely authorized the Secretary of Health & Human Services (HHS) to provide grants for the development of patient education resources (Pub. L. No. 110-374, 2008) (M. W. Leach, 2016, p. 85). Yet, Congress never appropriated the planned \$25 million to fulfill the promise of supporting these families to fully understand these conditions and the supports, services, and opportunities available to children and families receiving diagnoses. (M. W. Leach, 2016)

The first and most basic reason why this policy intervention didn't accomplish its purpose was that it was never funded. But why would a bill that passed with overwhelming support lack sufficient commitment for funding?

# 2.1.b. Political Wrangling Over Reproductive Rights

One theory is that Democratic legislators lost their motivation once the disability advocacy focus shifted to reproductive justice disputes upon celebration of the PPDCAA from pro-life advocates and reflexive criticism from pro-choice advocates. Initially, the law was lauded

as a bipartisan victory that could signal a truce in the culture wars by prioritizing a common interest in supporting pregnant women learning about disabilities and providing an opportunity for "customary adversaries to collaborate on other policies that manage to preserve choice and at the same time promote open-minded and nondiscriminatory perspectives on life with disability (p. 8) (Dresser, 2009, p. 8). However, almost immediately after the bill was passed, prolife advocates employed rhetoric about saving babies with Down syndrome with articles like the one in the Baptist Press indicating that, "Pro-life advocates hope Brownback's measure will reduce the abortion rate for children diagnosed with Down syndrome and other conditions" (Wood, 2008). Indeed, the provision of accurate, up-to-date, and balanced information about disabilities—in contrast with counseling and information biased against disabilities—may well create an environment where patients are more likely to make the choice to raise a child with a disability based on their own values when weighing current and unbiased information. However, the unified purpose of the legislation was to better meet patient needs by providing accurate and balanced information about genetic conditions. In fact, the same article quotes David Tolleson, the Executive Director of the National Down Syndrome Congress as saying, "As far as the termination rate, we never know what goes into a woman's decision related to that ... What we do know by studies is that doctors traditionally do a poor job delivering a diagnosis. Our point of view is mothers need to have all the information so that whatever decision they make will be an informed decision and not the doctor's prejudices" (Wood, 2008, para. 13).

Yet, funding was not appropriated for the PPDCAA and consequently did not accomplish the creation of an educational infrastructure to support new and expectant parents.

Subsequently, disillusioned advocates began advocating for the passage of state Down

syndrome Information Acts patterned after the PPDCAA in 2012 starting in Massachusetts to address the continued negative diagnosis experiences. Their objectives ranged from seeking state appropriations to using mandatory "shall" language that required doctors to disseminate information.

Reflexively, pro-choice advocates and medical professionals criticized state and federal Down Syndrome Information Acts, arguing they sought to indirectly limit patient autonomy by requiring that clinicians provide positive information about disabilities rather than using nondirective language, which is held up as the ideal standard of practice for patient counseling (Caplan, 2015; Giric, 2016). However, these criticisms were not particularly convincing given that research and disability rights advocates confirm that prenatal counseling about disabilities tends to be negatively biased as a baseline, so the requirement for balancing information can more effectively be argued to achieve neutrality (Meredith, Brackett, et al., 2022). Moreover, nowhere in the federal "Prenatally and Postnatally Diagnosed Awareness Act" (or in the corresponding state Down Syndrome Information acts) does the legislative statute say that "positive" information be given but rather "information on the range of outcomes for individuals living with the diagnosed condition, including physical, developmental, educational, and psychosocial outcomes" (Text of S. 1810 (110th), 2007). The reflexive response appeared to be substantively in reaction to media headlines from pro-life advocates about the laws rather than the actual text of the laws themselves, as well as concerns about mounting conscience clauses requiring ultrasounds and information about abortion to be provided to patients prior to electing termination. In Framing Disability, however, Emens argues that the PPDCAA was not the same as conscience clauses because the primary purpose was not to influence reproductive

decision-making but rather to influence perception of disability (Emens, 2012). Emens proposes that a possible solution could be to provide the information to all prospective parents following screening but before they receive screening results so that parents receiving screen "positives" would not be directly targeted (Emens, 2012). Interdisciplinary experts also recommend avoiding positive or negative bias by developing information about disabilities that is created collaboratively with input from medical providers and disability advocacy organizations, such as the Lettercase materials (Knight & Miller, 2021a; Meredith, Brackett, et al., 2022)

Nevertheless, the concerns of pro-choice advocates about the ultimate intention of the laws for some political actors have been validated over the past 15 years by statues passed in certain states. Down syndrome reason-based abortion bans have been enacted in states including Arkansas, Arizona, Indiana, Kentucky, Missouri, Ohio, North Dakota, South Dakota, and Utah (Crary & Samuels, 2021; Mizner, 2020; Roesner et al., 2022). Additionally, the Down Syndrome Information Acts in states such as Louisiana, Indiana, and Texas prohibited the mention of termination in materials provided by the state (M. W. Leach, 2016). The combination of reason-based abortion bans and restrictions on language about reproductive options in educational materials between 2008-2022 did validate the concerns of ethicists as the policies created an atmosphere where patients could be reticent to discuss the option of abortion of the fetus with DS with a medical provider because the abortion would be illegal if the provider knew DS was the reason. Interestingly, these new language provisions were largely driven by pro-life advocates such as the Bioethics Defense Fund in Louisiana, Texas Alliance for Life, Indiana Right to Life, and pro-life legislators rather than disability rights advocates (M. W. Leach, 2016). In fact, disability rights advocates spoke out against what they perceived as the politicization of a

disability rights agenda when the law restricting language was passed in Louisiana (lannone, 2014), and Texas had two competing Down Syndrome Information Act bills—one written by the Texas Down syndrome organizations without restrictive language about termination and one written by pro-life legislators that included the language restriction. However, even amidst all the political strife, an overlapping concern of both pro-life and pro-choice advocates remains the common goal to support new and expectant parents and people with disabilities (Meredith, 2022); therefore, laws could conceivably remain bipartisan and non-coercive if the target remains focused on disability rights and the provision of accurate, up-to-date, and balanced information—objectives that Democrats and Republicans agreed upon in the PPDCAA.

The media responses and the wrangling over different state laws attached controversial partisan labels to what had been a bipartisan compromise to support new and expectant parents and the broader disability community. These partisan labels could be one reason why legislators were reluctant to fully embrace the funding of the law. In fact, the pro-life Charlotte Lozier Institute indicated that the Kennedy-Brownback Prenatally and Postnatally Diagnosed Conditions Awareness Act of 2008 could be a helpful tool for "providing patients with information about outcomes for people with the diagnosed condition and contact information regarding support services including peer support" but claims the law was not funded because the "legislation failed to exclude abortion referral" (Donavan, 2023, para. 60). However, this reasoning does not withstand scrutiny, given that an administration can still govern the rules for how HHS administers the funding, and no resource currently recommended by any state actually provides an abortion referral (Center for Dignity in Healthcare for People with Disabilities, 2021). In addition, this assessment does not hold true for the time when the law

was passed and when appropriations would have been expected because Democrats controlled both the House and Senate during the 110<sup>th</sup> and 111<sup>th</sup> United States Congress between January 2007 to January 2011 (*Ballotpedia*, n.d.). No public explanation has been provided for the lack of appropriations by the Democrat-controlled Congress, particularly when "A joint response issued by the Disability Rights Education and Defense Fund, Generations Ahead, National Women's Health Network, Reproductive Health Technologies Project, and World Institute on Disability called the law "a positive step toward providing better information and support to pregnant women and new mothers whose fetus or newborn is diagnosed with a disability" (Disability Rights Education and Defense Fund et al., 2008, para. 1).

Consequently, overcoming this hurdle could involve a bipartisan commitment to disability rights and patient support over posturing about pro-life/pro-choice stances and a media campaign focusing on the disability rights angle of the bill and the poor experiences of patients—fundamentally creating a more compelling story to generate broad support than the reproductive rights angle that is so often the contentious center of discourse on this topic.

Strong support from both the disability advocacy and medical communities for the appropriations could also present a compelling case for neutrality. However, given the 2022 Dobbs v. Jackson Women's Health Organization decision reversing the Roe v. Wade decision and leaving reproductive legislation up to the states, the rancor over abortion politics is unlikely to abate to allow for the prioritization of disability rights for this issue. Moreover, given Republican efforts such as requiring pregnant patients to obtain ultrasounds or read materials about abortion procedures before terminating a pregnancy under the guise of informed decision-making, even the most neutrally intended efforts originating from the advocacy community to

influence the provision of prenatal information is likely to be suspect as a perceived biased source and attempt to coerce pregnant patients. Yet, these kinds of "forced" and partisan counseling statutes meant to cause mandatory friction that discourages abortion are quite different from the more neutral information statutes like the PPDCA which were prompted by bipartisan concerns about negative disability bias (Emens, 2012).

## 2.1.c. Loss of Leadership

Perhaps the death of Senator Ted Kennedy in 2009 as the champion of the bill in the controlling party was the most significant reason why the appropriations did not proceed. (U.S. Senate: Edward M. (Ted) Kennedy: A Featured Biography, n.d.) The original bill had been named the Kennedy-Brownback bill as it was introduced by Senator Edward M. "Ted" Kennedy, a prochoice and pro-disability Democrat, and Senator Sam Brownback, a pro-life Republican (Disability Rights Education and Defense Fund et al., 2008). Senator Kennedy had been urged to support the law by his sister Eunice Kennedy Shriver, founder of Special Olympics and long-time disability rights advocate (McNamara, 2018). With Senator Kennedy's death in 2009 while the Democrats controlled Congress and Sam Brownback's transition out of the Senate in 2011, perhaps the appropriations simply never materialized without the champions of the bill to advocate for it.

Overcoming this hurdle would involve recruiting strong advocates from both parties in both chambers of Congress who can squarely focus on disability rights without becoming mired in the abortion debate surrounding this issue. Potential allies could include the following based on their expressed commitment to disability rights and ability to reach across the aisle. See Appendix 3: Potential Legislative Champions.

# 2.1.d. Lack of Cohesive Advocacy

Researcher Note: I am the author of "Understanding a Down Syndrome Diagnosis" and am therefore an active and subjective participant in the events described below.

After ACOG released their practice guidelines in 2007 recommending that all women be offered prenatal screening for chromosomal aneuploidies, including Down syndrome, the Down

syndrome community and advocacy organizations were concerned given the negative diagnosis experiences reported by parents and the potential decrease of the population. Consequently, Madeleine Will, Dr. Richard Ferrante, and Janice Edwards organized a Down Syndrome Consensus Group meeting including representatives of the National Down Syndrome Society (NDSS), National Down Syndrome Congress (NDSC), American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists (ACOG), American College of Medical Genetics (ACMG), and National Society of Genetic Counselors (NSGC) on November 16 and 17, 2008, in Columbia, South Carolina with the purpose of fostering understanding between the groups, elucidating misperceptions, and identifying areas of consensus and possible collaborations (Edwards & Ferrante, 2009). Areas of consensus focused on the need for public education about the lives of Down syndrome; the need for up-to-date disability education for medical providers; and accurate and balanced information about Down syndrome and prenatal screening for patients (Edwards & Ferrante, 2009). Specifically, an area of collaboration identified was the development of a "gold standard" of information to be given parents about Down syndrome when receiving a potential diagnosis and a training manual for parent support for providers. Subsequently, the consensus group was presented "Understanding a Down Syndrome Diagnosis" to review after the booklet had been selected as the gold standard by the national Down syndrome organizations as part of the First Call grant funded by the Joseph P. Kennedy, Jr. Foundation, and the booklet was subsequently edited by representatives selected by each organization that participated in the Down Syndrome Consensus Group (M. Leach, 2021). Notably, the final document included extensive feedback and input from all organization representatives, and one area of compromise between the organizations was to add sections on both termination and adoption for parents who might

choose not to parent (*The Down Syndrome Community's Abortion Rift | Matthew Hennessey*, 2012a). (*I served as the author and editor incorporating this feedback*.)

The organizations were tentatively unified in their approach and advocacy until cell-free DNA was released in 2011, but there remained tension about the termination compromise and who should own the booklet (The Down Syndrome Community's Abortion Rift | Matthew Hennessey, 2012b). (My husband and I owned the copyright at the time and founded a nonprofit to house the booklet: Lettercase.) Yet, research funded by the Center for Disease Control and Prevention confirmed that the booklet's "clinical information about DS, information about families with a child with DS, the degree of medical complications, resources for parents", and "photographs of children with DS engaging in everyday activities" matched the needs identified by expectant parents and people planning to become pregnant who participated in focus groups (Levis et al., 2012, p. 9). However, the release of cell-free DNA in 2011 and the promise of an earlier and more accurate screening options prompted significant concern among some disability advocates that termination rates would rise, particularly in a climate where screening conversations were largely biased against people with disabilities (May et al., 2020; Szabo, 2013). Consequently, the National Down Syndrome Congress ultimately pulled out of the consensus group and removed their support from the booklet to join the recently formed Global Down Syndrome Foundation and released a separate booklet that did not mention termination (M. Leach, 2014). The reasoning at the time was that people with Down syndrome found the mention of termination offensive; however, neither of the Down syndrome advocacy organizations selected a person with Down syndrome to participate as a representative in the

Down Syndrome Consensus Group to provide input. NDSC and Global continue to support use of the separate booklet; NDSS supports both resources.

Separately, the copyright for "Understanding a Down Syndrome Diagnosis" was donated to the Joseph P. Kennedy, Jr. Foundation with the administration being run by the University of Kentucky's University Center for Excellence in Developmental Disabilities, the Human Development Institute (HDI) (AUCD - "Understanding a Down Syndrome Diagnosis" Booklet Available Through Kennedy Foundation and Kentucky's Human Development Institute, 2012). HDI created the Lettercase National Center for Prenatal and Postnatal Resources as a program at the university and is responsible for printing and disseminating the booklet as well as providing medical outreach training. In addition, the Down Syndrome Consensus Group transformed into the Genetic Conditions Consensus Group, and the medical and genetics organizations continued collaborating with the Lettercase National Center for Prenatal and Postnatal Resources in the creation of resources about Jacobsen syndrome, Prader-Willi syndrome, Turner syndrome, Klinefelter syndrome, and Spina Bifida (Lettercase – The National Center for Prenatal and Postnatal Resources, n.d.). Interestingly, the Genetic Conditions Consensus Group agreed in 2017 to change the termination section in "Understanding a Down Syndrome Diagnosis" to a general "Pregnancy Loss" section to also account for those who lose their pregnancies due to miscarriage, so termination is no longer specifically mentioned, but the recommended external resource cited in the booklet supports patients who lose a pregnancy for a range of reasons including miscarriage and termination (Meredith, 2017).

These divisions within the Down syndrome advocacy community, the complication of the abortion debates, and the lack of cohesive or cross-disability advocacy efforts on this topic

have also likely been factors in not sufficiently convincing legislators to prioritize funding for this issue. Therefore, one strategy to overcome this barrier could be addressed through a broadbased disability coalition to advocate for the funding of prenatal disability education with a focus on the distress and bias families are currently experiencing. Moreover, perhaps the broader coalition could support an understanding that there is no need to agree on one universal solution for patient education and provider training but rather to have HHS funding available for multiple competitive awards presenting a range of possible solutions that can evaluated by advocates and experts in the field can evaluate on their individual merits.

## 2.2 Organizational Policies About Prenatal Testing and Disabilities

## 2.2.a. Organizational Prenatal Testing Policies

The American College of Medical Genetics and Genomics (ACMG), the American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists (ACOG), the Society for Maternal Fetal Medicine (SMFM), and the National Society of Genetic Counselors (NSGC) all offer guidelines on how to administer prenatal screening and testing. However, the NSGC "Practice guidelines for communicating a prenatal or postnatal diagnosis of Down syndrome" are the only guidelines that specifically document receiving input from the disability community (Sheets, Crissman, et al., 2011). The authors of the recommendations included genetic counselors who were actively involved in the DS community, one parent of a child with DS, and a member of the NDSC board, and they published research the same year alongside leaders of national DS advocacy organizations to outline what information is most important to parents and providers at the moment of diagnosis (Sheets, Best, et al., 2011). This research meaningfully informed the guidelines, and, consequently, they are the only guidelines to specifically offer recommendations for how to

sensitively discuss a diagnosis, provide an overview of medical and social outcomes, and offer recommendations of resources about Down syndrome. In contrast, the other guidelines drafted exclusively by medical providers and scientists focus almost exclusively on prenatal screening technology and some medical outcomes.

People with disabilities have recently been federally recognized as a health disparity population that has been historically marginalized (*NIH Designates People with Disabilities as a Population with Health Disparities*, 2023); and *Health in All* policies outline that health equity measures need to include people from health disparity populations when determining policies about those populations (Rudolph et al., 2012). In addition, the GRADE "Guidance on how to assess and address health equity within the evidence to decision process," cited as a framework by ACMG in their most recent guidelines, indicates that "It is extremely important to collect input from key stakeholders from disadvantaged populations in considering acceptability since assumptions by panel members may be biased by their personal experience" (Pottie et al., 2017, para. 28). In the case of prenatal screening, this requirement can be complicated by the fact that the prenatal screening patient is the pregnant person and not directly a person with a disability. However, this recognition calls for the inclusion of representatives from key affected populations in the drafting of medical and genetics guidelines about prenatal screening:

1. Patients who continue a pregnancy following a diagnosis. These parents have reported distress following negative diagnosis experiences (May et al., 2020), and, particularly in the case of people with multiple marginalized identities, the experience may cause lasting mistrust of doctors among parents caring for medically vulnerable children (Chung et al., 2023; Krell et al., 2023).

- 2. Patients who terminate a pregnancy following a diagnosis. These patients are also particularly vulnerable given the ever-shifting landscape of reproductive rights in the US (Meredith, Ayers, et al., 2022).
- 3. People with disabilities. Prenatal screening can frame societal and medical perceptions about people with disabilities as a broad population; prenatal screening has the potential to impact the size of the population of people with disabilities; and clinical behavior following prenatal screening can impact the health of babies born with disabilities. Moreover, people with disabilities also get pregnant, and those with heritable conditions such as Down syndrome, Deafness, and achondroplasia are more likely to pass those conditions to their children. Therefore, this is also a key population to be consulted when drafting guidelines.

## 2.2.b. Organizational Disability Health Equity Efforts

The ACOG website section on "Diversity, Equity, and Inclusive Excellence at ACOG" makes no mention of ableism as a concept, and disability is not addressed in the Collective Action Plan or the Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion (DEI) curriculum roadmap (*Diversity, Equity, and Inclusive Excellence at ACOG*, 2024). Moreover, no policy or committee opinion specifically addresses disability as a topic (*Equity-Focused Clinical Guidance and Policies*, 2024). Among the 13 total documents on the DEI section of the ACOG website—8 clinical guidelines, 4 policy statements, and one resource, disability is mentioned 5 times. However, the mentions are extremely brief: two times in a list of intersectional identities, one time in a list of identities that experience discrimination, and one time regarding the need of captioning in telehealth for health equity for Deaf patients (ACOG Committee on Ethics, 2017; *Equity-Focused Clinical* 

Guidance and Policies, 2024). Moreover, even though the recently released "Permanent Contraception: Ethical Issues and Considerations" encourages clinicians to preserve reproductive autonomy for patients with limited cognition as much as possible, it still fails to identify the historic context of eugenics that informs this recommendation even though the same document does successfully provide the context for discrimination experienced by other marginalized populations—including the forced sterilization of incarcerated people ("Permanent Contraception," 2024).

In the ACOG professional training materials, none of the webinars address disability specifically (Education and Training, 2024). Yet, the Council on Resident Education in Obstetrics and Gynecology (CREOG) Health Equity Curriculum does include disability in slide decks discussing the history of health equity, social determinants of health, health disparities, and bias. Unfortunately, examples are not provided for how to address those disparities and what the manifestations of bias look like in obstetric care (Health Equity, n.d.). Additionally, no person on the current DEI committee states that they have a disability or represent the disability perspective (ACOG, 2024), and the ACOG DEI staff and Chair did not respond to my email requests asking: "Do you know if ACOG's DEI committee by any chance has a representative from the disability community, and do you know if any clinical guidance or policy/position statements specifically cover bias experienced by people with disabilities?" [personal correspondence] Finally, there are no sessions addressing disability as a minority underserved population on the upcoming 2024 ACOG Annual Meeting schedule while there are three sessions on racial health equity, one session on Asian American and Pacific Islander health equity, one session on transgender care, one session addressing inequities due to

socioeconomic status, and a keynote speaker addressing LGBTQ social justice issues (*ACOG Annual Clinical & Scientific Meeting*, 2024). The Society for Maternal Fetal Medicine similarly lacks disability representation or areas of focus in their health equity initiatives highlighted on the website and did not include ableism or disability bias as an area of focus at their 2024 annual meeting (SMFM, 2024a, 2024b).

In contrast, the National Society of Genetic Counselors does feature a position statement on disability on the Justice, Equity, Diversity and Inclusion (J.E.D.I.) section of their website and also featured parents and individuals with disabilities (Chromosome 18, skeletal dysplasia, and Down syndrome) at their 2023 Annual Meeting (*Disability*, n.d.; *NSGC > POLICY > Position*Statements, n.d.; National Society of Genetic Counselors, 2024). Additionally, the American College of Medical Genetics and Genomics is featuring a session on "The Genetics of Disability Rights & Ethics - *A DEI Committee Sponsored Session*" at their 2024 Annual Clinical Genetics Meeting and includes professionals with disabilities as part of their Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion committee (ACMG, n.d.; *ACMG Committee*, 2024).

#### 2.3. Current Proposed Policy Solutions

The primary texts offering practical solutions to patient and disability population harms caused by prenatal screening include: 1. the National Council on Disability (NCD) Report, "Prenatal Testing and the Rush to Perfection" (National Council on Disability, 2019a); 2. the Prenatal Disability Education Summit Report representing the convening of leaders from medical, genetic, bioethics, and advocacy leaders nationwide in May 2022 (Meredith, 2022); 3. the collaborative journal article by Meredith et al. as a product of the Administration on Community Living funded Center for Dignity in Healthcare for People with Disabilities,

"Recommendations to improve the patient experience and avoid bias when prenatal screening/testing" (Meredith, Brackett, et al., 2022); and 4. the book, "Prenatal genetic testing, abortion, and disability justice" by Amber Knight and Joshua Miller (Knight & Miller, 2021a). The proposed nationwide policy and organization solutions have been identified in one or all of those publications as strategies to improve patient diagnosis experiences and, correspondingly, the provision of information about prenatally diagnosed conditions and avoiding negative disability bias.

## 2.3.a. Fund the Kennedy-Brownback Act/PPDCAA

The NCD report, the Prenatal Disability Education Summit Report, the Meredith et al. article, and the Knight and Miller book all recommend the full funding of the PPDCAA (Knight & Miller, 2023; Meredith, 2022; Meredith, Brackett, et al., 2022; National Council on Disability, 2019a). Miller and Knight write:

"In order to standardize medical practice across states and uphold the integrity of information related to prenatal testing for the sake of women's autonomy, we recommend that the federal government adequately fund the Kennedy-Brownback Act. This funding will enable the Department of Health to collect and disseminate accurate, up-to-date, comprehensive information about test results and the range of outcomes associated with the diagnosed condition. Additional information should include patient support networks, including information about how expectant parents of fetuses diagnosed with DS can connect with other parents who have had the same experience through First Call programs. In turn, medical providers should then be required to make this information accessible to patients via written materials" (Knight & Miller, 2021a, p. 111).

# 2.3.b. Fund disability cultural competency training for clinicians.

All texts recommend incentivizing "the development of educational units on disability experience and exposure" in genetic and obstetric education (National Council on Disability, 2019a). The reasoning described by Knight and Miller outlines the following (Knight & Miller, 2021b):

To begin, the current education system is not producing physicians with the requisite disability cultural competencies, so structural reform in the medical education system is warranted. According to survey data, medical professionals have reported feeling unprepared to treat patients with disabilities or patients pregnant with disabled fetuses in a manner informed by the lived experience of disability and its cultural components (Santoro et al., 2017). Studies have also shown that nearly a third of genetic counselors have been dissatisfied with the disability training they obtained in their graduate programs (Sanborn & Patterson, 2014).

Therefore Knight and Miller recommend that medical schools include disability training in their standard curricula as a possible solution (Knight & Miller, 2021a).

## 2.3.c. Incentivize disability equity in the creation of guidelines.

The NCD report, the Prenatal Summit report, and the Center for Dignity recommendations all recommend incentivizing disability equity and representation in the creation of obstetric and genetic organizational guidelines to better meet patient education needs.

The development of prenatal guidelines, recommendations, and practice bulletins should include representation from leaders in the disability community as stakeholders to achieve health equity. Leadership in the disability community available to consult

include: CDHPD, National Organization for Rare Disorders (NORD), Association of
University Centers on Disability, American Academy of Developmental Medicine &
Dentistry (AADMD), Genetic Alliance, NIH condition groups, Self-Advocates Becoming
Empowered (SABE), or condition-specific advocacy groups if guidelines are specific
(Meredith, Brackett, et al., 2022, p. 5).

Disability Prenatal Education Summit participants identified the following as top priorities for evaluating disability education and representation in organization policies/guidelines:

- 1. We need increased disability representation that is meaningful and effective. Inclusion must be real not tokenism. Effective representation at the outset of the process will lead to better questions and solutions.
- 2. Difficulty of collaboration among organizations. Need to increase communication among professional organization and patient advocacy groups in guideline development to ensure guidelines are developed to meet needs of community being served not just certain interests such as the laboratories offering the testing. (Meredith, 2022, p. 18)

#### 2.3.d. Create sustainable patient education funding models

Recommendations for sustainable patient education funding models about prenatally diagnosed conditions largely revolved around creating sustainable funding mechanisms such as an excise tax on testing labs or a parity requirement for insurance companies that pay for prenatal screening to correspondingly pay for patient education and counseling. Then, those funds would be used for the perpetual funding of educational and support initiatives for patients or an organization that provides an educational infrastructure.

- 1. Prenatal Disability Education Summit participants discussed the creation of an organization to provide sustainable federal grant funding for prenatal patient education and provider training efforts derived from an excise tax on prenatal screening tests. This structure would be like the funding of the Patient-Centered Outcomes Research Institute (PCORI), derived from an excise tax on Affordable Care Act health insurance policies. See more below.
- In a 2022 collected volume, Born Well: Prenatal Genetics and the Future of Having
   Children, Summit participant Mark W. Leach proposes a parity requirement for insurance companies that pay for prenatal screening to correspondingly pay for patient education and counseling.

Instead of funding just the testing to prevent lives with a genetic condition, funding should be provided, and only provided, when the patient has access to proper genetic counseling and accurate, balanced, up-to-date written resources about the condition with contact information for area support organizations. If this funding change were to happen, then prenatal genetic testing could be said to not be in pursuit or based on eugenics, but instead be based on maternal and child health (M. Leach, 2021, p. 44)

#### 2.4. Models:

## 2.4.a. PCORI: Grant funding model

PCORI was created as part of the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act of 2010 and is funded through the Patient-Centered Outcomes Research Trust Fund (PCOR Trust Fund.

"Under the 2019 amendment to the authorizing law, the PCOR Trust Fund receives income from two funding streams: statutory appropriations from the general fund of the Treasury and a fee

assessed on private insurance and self-insured health plans (the PCOR Trust Fund Fee) ... PCORI receives 80 percent of the monies collected by the PCOR Trust Fund to support its research and programmatic funding and operations. The Department of Health and Human Services (HHS) receives the other 20 percent of Trust Fund monies to support dissemination and research capacity-building efforts (the majority of HHS's share goes to the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality)" (PCORI, 2014, para. 1). Basically, the PCOR Trust Fund Fee has amounted to between \$1.00-\$2.79 charged per ACA health insurance policy since 2012 and has generated an amount ranging from \$275,500,000 in FY 2020 to \$399 million in FY 2029 (IRS, 2023).

If the PCORI model were replicated to provide funding for a patient and provider education infrastructure about prenatally diagnosed conditions supported by an excise tax on prenatal screening at \$2 per test, this model would generate \$6 million per year based on the estimated 3 million women per year who undergo prenatal screening. With tests costing between \$695-\$1,349 (Kliff & Bhatia, 2022), this amounts to .3%-.1% of the cost of the test. Moreover, this model would place the cost of the public health responsibility squarely on the industry creating the public health problem. Importantly, prenatal screening places a significant financial and human resources burden on advocacy organizations, who are left to provide support for patients who have undergone prenatal screening and have increased education and support needs. However, the prenatal screening industry—composed of competitive for-profit companies receiving significant financial profits from prenatal screening tests—has failed to provide information and support for expectant parents by offering a standardized and sustainable educational infrastructure. Moreover, commercial funding may create ethically problematic conflicts of interest for patient advocacy groups, who would prefer to be perceived

as patient- and family-centered sources of information. Financial power imbalances and a desire to remain independent make it challenging for PAGs to negotiate with testing laboratories for financial support to respond to the growing demands on advocacy groups caused by cfDNA screening" (Meredith et al., 2016; Skotko et al., 2019). A PCORI model would democratize this process by requiring commercial labs to provide funding for education, and a neutral entity would be able to disseminate the funds to eliminate the power imbalance.

#### 2.4.b. Folic Acid

A model for increasing awareness about an issue impacting people with disabilities in the prenatal period could be the folic acid campaign run between mid 1990s-early 2000s. This campaign consisted of a National Folic Acid Clearinghouse (operated by CDC)—similar to the clearinghouse proposed in the PPDCAA—as well as a Public Awareness campaign with media ads and printed posters and support; a working coalition of the Spina Bifida Association, national medical organizations, the March of Dimes, maternal and Hispanic health organizations, and applicable US agencies; and federal funding for program evaluation (CDC, USDA) (CDC, 2000). The campaign significantly increased awareness of the need for women to take the recommended amount of folic acid during pregnancy through public service announcements, leaflets, and information kits. "[The] Folic Acid Campaign launched in 1999 in collaboration with the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), the American College of Obstetricians, the American Academy of Pediatrics, and the Spina Bifida Association of America. Providing education for women, health care providers and the public to urge compliance with folic acid consumption guidelines for reducing risk of NTDs was the main focus of the campaign" (Walani & Biermann, 2017, p. 4). Ultimately, this collaborative campaign

demonstrated substantial societal change by increasing awareness of the importance of folic acid consumption before and during pregnancy where only 4% of women reported knowing that folic acid can prevent birth defects in 1995 as compared to 24% of women in 2004 (Walani & Biermann, 2017).

One major component was the March of Dimes Think Ahead campaign in 1995, "designed to promote folic acid awareness through multiple channels (e.g., professional and public education, media campaigns, advertisements), and its efforts were supplemented by state initiatives designed to promote awareness and consumption of foods containing or fortified with folic acid" (Ahluwalia & Daniel, 2001, para. 14). In addition, the National Council on Folic Acid (NCFA) was established in 1997 to provide support for patients in child-bearing years and health professionals by working in partnership with local and state coalitions as led by professional associations, maternal and child health advocacy groups, and community-based health organizations with experience in education and folic acid awareness campaigns (Ahluwalia & Daniel, 2001). Following this campaign, "The March of Dimes reported that folic acid awareness increased from 52% in 1995 to 66% in 1997 to 68% in 1998 and to 75% in 2000 --- an overall increase of 44%. At the same time, consumption of vitamins containing folic acid increased from 28% in 1995 to 34% in 2000, a 22% increase" (Ahluwalia & Daniel, 2001, para. 15). These interdisciplinary collaborative efforts reflect the broad and focused support needed for prenatal education efforts to be successful.

Strategies found to be successful to increase folate awareness were a paid media campaign targeting prospective Hispanic parents through Spanish-language media and a community education campaign conducted in 2002 (Flores et al., 2007); the provision of printed

educational material for patients of child-bearing age (Watson et al., 1999); and a comprehensive, long-term and ongoing health promotion campaign with specific instructions on how to engage the media (Watson et al., 1999).

## 2.5. Limitations

Some limitations of the above analysis, and this general field of study, include a lack of research and data collection. Indeed, there is a dearth of research about the impact of diagnosis experiences on people with prenatally diagnosed conditions beyond Down syndrome. However, anecdotal media and social media reports highlight similarly negative experiences that reflect the Down syndrome research (Kliff & Bhatia, 2022). In addition, many of the studies lack of information about the impact of these negative diagnosis experiences on people from diverse racial backgrounds given the overexpression of White respondents in research (Meredith et al., 2023; Skotko, 2005). However, recent PCORI-funded projects by Skotko and Meredith are exploring the impacts of health disparities on Black and Hispanic parents of children with DS and parent informational preferences at the moment of diagnosis (Krell et al., 2023).

Furthermore, there is an overall lack of data collected about the impact of training programs to reduce ableism.

# Chapter 3: Methods

## 3.1. Introduction

The purpose of this analysis is to apply principles of policy research to examine federal and organizational policies aimed at supporting new and expectant parents and providers discussing prenatal screening results; to assess these policies based on current evidence and expert opinions; and to provide policy proposals to address identified gaps and encourage systemic change. This dissertation aims to elucidate the following research questions as they relate to improving patient diagnosis experiences and addressing disability bias in obstetrics/gynecology:

- 1. What federal and organizational policies can be implemented, expanded, or funded to improve patient prenatal screening experiences in terms of the provision of information about social outcomes and supports and services?
- 2. What federal and organizational policies can be implemented, expanded, or funded to address disability bias in genetics/obstetrics?

The answers to these questions can offer alternatives and solid recommendations for policies that improve prenatal screening experiences for patients, as well as provide guidance to policymakers, public health practitioners, and medical professionals on the implementation of policies to address disability bias in obstetrics and genetics.

## 3.2. Methodological Perspective

This policy analysis relied on the philosophy of *interpretive constructionism* to determine how individuals and groups actively interpret their experiences and realities while constructing the world and being constructed by the world (Koch, 1995). This strategy was vital given that

this policy analysis required consulting with political experts and patient advocates with a range of perspectives that needed to be interpreted and then constructed—by both the participants and me as the researcher—into potential policy solutions. Interpretive constructivism includes elements of Heidegger's interpretive phenomenology (with its focus on the value of different individual experiences and perceptions of reality, including the researcher) within the constructivist paradigm (with its emphasis on the value of determining themes and patterns in social research through data analysis) (Burns et al., 2022). Interpretive constructivism weaves these approaches to provide a more comprehensive view of the research topic (Burns et al., 2022; Y. Lincoln et al., 2018). Therefore, interpretive constructivism allows me to adapt the methods and theoretical frameworks to address this specific research question and context.

Advantages of interpretive constructivism for this analysis include the following:

- 1. The emphasis on researcher positionality is central to acknowledging existing biases. Heidegger shares that an unbiased perspective is not truly a realistic expectation for any researcher given that all individuals invariably bring personal histories and biases that can subjectively influence their position and framing of a subject (Burns et al., 2022). This philosophy is central in this policy analysis since I have been involved as a researcher, creator, and advocate for the past 15 years and offer both an informed and subjective perspective, and I am relying upon research participants to also contribute their very different perspectives based on deep personal histories.
- Interpretive constructivism is a combination of interpretivist, constructivist, and
  participatory phenomenology. Lincoln and Guba posit that constructivist and
  participatory phenomenological models can take a step beyond interpretation and

understanding toward social action to attract champions for equity and justice (Charmaz et al., 2018). This social action is the ultimate objective of this policy analysis that results in concrete recommendations.

# 3.3. Research Design

#### 3.3.a.Rationale

## 3.3.a.(1) Policy Analysis

Eugene Bardach's (2020) Eightfold Path model of policy analysis was relevant for the analysis because it allowed for an examination of key factors in broadly complex systems to construct practical and actionable solutions and evaluate the pros and cons of the alternatives presented (Masselink et al., 2021). This has been exemplified in disability policy through Masselink et al.'s policy analysis on how to expand wheelchair coverage options through Medicare. This method allowed for the examination of a complex problem in the disability community, which involved public and private insurers, and the construction of possible policy alternatives to address the problem as determined by an interdisciplinary team consisting of non-profit leaders, medical professionals, and legal experts (Masselink et al., 2021). Similarly, prenatal screening involves broadly complex systems in healthcare between public and private insurers, curricula and guidelines determined by national medical and genetics organizations, and existing state and federal policies. Additionally, the proposed policy solutions included an interdisciplinary team of patient advocacy groups, medical and genetics professionals, and policy experts. Moreover, the Bardach Model assumes the exercise of considerable judgment by the analyst as a non-neutral instrument, which allows for an analyst with substantial experience to make informed determinations about the nature of the problem and the feasibility of

solutions and to tell the story (Bardach & Patashnik, 2020). This was a particular strength given my 20 years of experience as a leader in the field and personal experience as the parent of a person with Down syndrome.

## 3.3.a. (2). Responsive Interviewing Rationale

Semi-structured interviews provided flexibility while ensuring that key topics were covered, allowing for in-depth exploration of key informants' recommendations for policy solutions to improve prenatal screening experiences and promote equity. In another policy analysis using the Bardach method, Owen described choosing the Rubin and Rubin responsive interviewing technique as a compass and not as a guide because of the flexibility of the process in determining the unique perspective of the interviewee (Owen, 2014). According to the interpretive constructionist researcher, the goal of an interview is to find out how people perceive an issue (Owen, 2014). Given that we were seeking the input of interdisciplinary experts on their perspectives about policy, we did not anticipate determining a definitive truth. Instead, we were seeking practical policy solutions that weighed the potential strengths and benefits of various alternatives as informed by the key informants (Bardach & Patashnik, 2020). The conversational approach of responsive interviewing and the prioritization of social partnerships were a benefit given the existing relationship I already had as a researcher with many of the subjects as colleagues in the field.

# 3.3.a.(3). Framework Method Rationale

The Framework Method is commonly used for the analysis of qualitative data in multidisciplinary health research and policy analysis. (Gale et al., 2013). I employed the Framework Method, developed by Ritchie and Spencer (1994), to systematically analyze the qualitative data collected during the semi-structured interviews. The Framework Method was particularly helpful for organizing and analyzing the interviews, allowing for the development of summaries, clear themes, and patterns (Ritchie & Spencer, 2002). The Framework Method allowed for a combination of the inductive and deductive approaches to qualitative research where I could deductively begin with categories derived from the fundamental research questions and the Bardach Model as a theoretical framework to establish the categories for data coding and to guide the organization and interpretation of the data based on established criteria (Ritchie & Spencer, 2002). Correspondingly, I determined global themes and emergent themes within categories using inductive data coding. This method uses a systemic and flexible approach to construct a framework matrix from the input provided by the interviewees (Gale et al., 2013), which supports the categorization of possible solutions to be used in the policy analysis for constructing and weighing alternatives.

#### 3.3.b Description of Methods

#### 3.4.b.(1). Policy Analysis Methods

Table 1 below, and the following outline of the Bardach model for policy analysis, shows how the model was applied for this dissertation.

Table 1: Bardach Model Step Directory

Bardach Steps	Chapter	Page Number
Step 1: Defining the Problem	Chapter 1:	13
	Introduction and	
	Statement of	
	Purpose	
Step 2: Assemble Some Evidence: Literature Review of	Chapter 2:	34
Policy	Literature Review	
Step 2: Assemble Some Evidence: Interviews	4.1. Assemble	82
	Some Evidence—	
	Interviews: Step 2	

Step 3: Construct the Alternatives	4.2. Construct the	91
	Alternatives: Step	
	3	
Step 4: Select the Criteria	4.3. Select the	103
	Criteria: Step 4	
Step 5: Project the Outcomes	4.4. Project the	106
	Outcomes: Step 5	
Step 6: Confront the Trade-offs	4.5. Confront the	121
	Trade-offs: Step 6	
Step 7: Decide!	5.1. Deciding: Step	125
	7	
Step 8: Tell Your Story	Appendix 6:	186
	Telling Your Story:	
	Step 8	

## 1. Defining the Problem

The "problem" as defined by the Bardach model is positioned by thinking in terms of deficit and excess. Therefore, I defined the problem in Chapter 1 in terms of excess in stating:

As prenatal screening expands, too **many expectant parents** experience emotional harm because they are not provided balanced, accurate, and up-to-date information about genetic conditions, and they experience clinical bias that perpetuates discrimination against people with disabilities.

Additionally, I specified the conditions that cause the problems and corresponding evaluative criteria as 1. the lack of provision of balanced, accurate, and up-to-date information provided about genetic conditions and 2. bias against people with disabilities. Bardach explains that the evaluative criteria must be defined to determine whether policy interventions are achieving their goals. For more details about the

context of the problem and an iterative discussion as described in the Bardach framework, see Chapter 1: Introduction and Statement of Purpose.

#### 2. Assemble Some Evidence

The Bardach model does not require an exhaustive search of all data related to a topic, as would normally be expected in a comprehensive literature review. Rather, an efficient approach to data collection is suggested so that the policy analyst can find information that can be transformed into evidence to assess the problem, find similar policies, and identify promising solutions (Bardach & Patashnik, 2020).

#### Literature Review

The Literature Review featured in Chapter 2: Literature Review focuses on the policy interventions for this issue since the articulation of the problem and surrounding context are discussed in Chapter 1: Introduction and Statement of Purpose. The Literature Review was performed by searching the PubMed and Google Scholar databases for the following specific keywords: "Prenatally and Postnatally Diagnosed Conditions

Awareness Act;" "Kennedy-Brownback Act;" and "prenatal diagnosis" AND "disability rights critique" OR "disability bias."

The Bardach model further explains that certain information sources provide more highly valued evidence, particularly existing policy analyses by advocacy organizations and surveys of best practices (Bardach & Patashnik, 2020). Therefore, key sources of information about prenatal screening, disability, and public policy included the following: *Genetic Testing and the Rush to Perfection* by the National Council on Disability; *Prenatal Genetic Testing, Abortion, and Disability Justice* by Amber Knight and

Joshua Miller; Prenatal Laws: Down Syndrome Information Acts by The Center for Dignity in Healthcare for People with Disabilities (CDHPD); Prenatal Disability Education Summit Report by Stephanie Meredith et al.; and Recommendations to Improve the Patient Experience and Avoid Bias When Prenatal Screening/Testing by Stephanie Meredith et al.

## **Policy Interviews**

A second form of evidence assembled was interviews with noted experts and policy leaders in the field. Because this method involved interviewing key informants, I used Rubin and Rubin's "responsive interviewing" as a model to pose iterative questions and probes as I engaged in semi-structured interviews with participants (Rubin & Rubin, 2005). Specific details about policy interview methods, including participant selection, data collection, and data analysis—aligned with the traditional five-chapter dissertation structure—are described in the next section of this proposal.

## 3. Constructing the Alternatives

The next step recommended by Bardach involved constructing alternatives that started comprehensive and ended focused. These needed to be actionable and feasible alternatives that were relevant to resources and that modeled the system in which the problem was located (Bardach & Patashnik, 2020). I completed this step by proposing and describing five alternatives or possible policy solutions informed by the framework matrix from the key informant interviews and policy recommendations found in the literature.

## 4. Selecting the Criteria

The subsequent step defined by Bardach involved selecting criteria to measure the alternatives against each other including measurable and quantifiable, efficacy/effectiveness/usefulness, equity, efficiency, cost, administrative robustness, political sustainability, sustainability, fairness, freedom (free markets, economic freedom, reproductive freedom), legality, political acceptability, and robustness and improvability. I assigned the weight for the criteria based on what was identified as important by the key informants, by experts in the literature, and based on my experience as a professional in the field.

#### 5. Project the Outcomes

The next step of the Bardach model involved putting the five alternatives into an outcome matrix to assess the criteria for each alternative and to compare them against each other. Fundamentally, this step involved projecting all the outcomes for each alternative that I or other interested parties might reasonably care about (Bardach & Patashnik, 2020, p. 49). The base case involved doing nothing and continuing with a minimal privately funded educational infrastructure to support patients and providers. Additionally, I determined the break-even estimate by estimating the percentage of reduction in inadequate information about disabilities and disability bias that would be worth the expenditure given the variables that could influence the perceived cost and value of an intervention.

## 6. Confronting the Trade-offs

Determining policy "trade-offs" involved comparing the costs and benefits and positives and negatives of the projected outcomes for each of the five alternatives (Step 3) after projecting the outcomes (Step 5) (Bardach & Patashnik, 2020). Subsequently, this step required revisiting the break-even analysis to determine whether each alternative provided a quantifiable return on investment or was even feasible. This was done by determining the number of pregnant patients who would benefit from each projected outcome at the first point on the life course. Other criteria to examine would be the total annual costs and expenditure of time as constructed in a matrix and considering the likelihood of success for each alternative.

#### 7. Deciding

After examining the outcomes and confronting the trade-offs, the next step was to decide on the recommended solution or solutions. Bardach indicates that at least one of the alternatives should be selected or more than one, if possible, based on an iterative process of examining the projected outcomes for each alternative and the most politically feasible and sustainable options (Bardach & Patashnik, 2020). Arguments to defend the decision included the rational analytical model, representative examples and counter examples; analogies; arguments by authority with informed and impartial triangulated sources; and arguments about causes and leverage that could be used to motivate the adoption of the selected alternatives (Bardach & Patashnik, 2020).

#### 8. Telling the Story

Because my intent with this policy analysis was to prompt policy change to address the issue, I created a collaborative advocacy letter to encourage professional obstetric and genetic organizations to adopt organizational health equity measures for people with disabilities. Moreover, I created an email introducing the letter to the advocacy organizations to encourage them to support the letter, which includes my personal story as parent who received a diagnosis and the stories of other parents cited in my research who have experienced bias during prenatal testing conversations as well as a broader advocacy strategy and logical explanation for how the strategy can be implemented successfully. The purpose of the email is to explain why the medical organization actions to improve health equity toward people with disabilities are vital using the pathos (emotional plea argument) of traditional rhetoric. I also provided a comprehensive list and advocacy plan to apply the lever for change.

#### 3.3.b.(2). Policy Interview Methods

This section outlines the study design using the Framework Method and Responsive Interviewing. In this section, I provide a comprehensive overview of how Responsive Interviewing and the Framework Method were applied in the dissertation study as part of the "Assembling Evidence" step of the Bardach Model. Table 2 shows the different methods used for policy interviews.

Table 2: Assembling Evidence Methods

	Method	Procedure	
Interviewing	Responsive Interviewing	Data Collection	
Qualitative Data	Framework Method	Data Analysis	
Analysis			

I conducted semi-structured interviews with 10 policy and organizational experts from various relevant disciplines and political persuasions. Interviewees were selected using purposive sampling with maximum variability to identify different perspectives and commonalities between them in policy solutions. I posed iterative questions and follow ups as I engaged in semi-structured interviews with participants (Rubin & Rubin, 2005).

The Framework Method will be employed for the systematic analysis of qualitative data by "sifting, charting and sorting material according to key issues and themes" (Ritchie & Spencer, 2002, p. 177). This method consists of the following steps:

- Familiarization: Familiarization involves immersion in the data such as audio recordings
  and transcripts while taking notes on key ideas and recurring themes (Ritchie & Spencer,
  2002).
- 2. Identifying a thematic framework: Initial codes are organized into a thematic framework, including major themes and subthemes relevant to the research questions. This thematic framework is determined by themes in the literature, emergent themes raised by research participants, and analytical themes that arise when coding (Ritchie & Spencer, 2002).
- 3. **Indexing:** In this stage, all the data in the dataset is indexed according to the thematic framework using a numerical system, which is documented in the margins of the interview text and which links back to the index (p. 182) (Ritchie & Spencer, 2002).
- 4. **Charting:** Data is systematically organized into charts or matrices, with rows and columns representing participants and themes and subthemes. Charting relies on the

- summary of data rather than copying and pasting text; however, the original text from the transcript should be referenced with page numbers (Ritchie & Spencer, 2002).
- 5. **Mapping and interpretation:** In the final stage, patterns and relationships within the data are identified and interpreted, leading to the definition of concepts, the mapping of the range and nature of phenomena, the creation of typologies, the discovery of associations, and the development of explanations and strategies (Ritchie & Spencer, 2002).

#### 3.4 Data Collection

## 3.4.a. Interview guide.

An interview guide was developed and utilized to gather the information used to complete the proposed policy analysis, including the development of alternatives and criteria, the projection of outcomes, the confrontation of tradeoffs, and the selection of a politically feasible solution. Questions included policy and organizational questions such as:

- Recent research we conducted also found that most expectant parents described that
  their obstetricians conveyed implicit or explicit bias against people with disabilities when
  receiving prenatal screening results suggesting a possible diagnosis of a genetic
  condition.
  - a. What policy solutions do you think could help address that bias?
  - b. What national medical or advocacy organizational solutions do you think could help address that issue?

## 3.4.b. Participant Selection

The participants for this study were selected using purposive sampling. This method was chosen to ensure that individuals with the most relevant experiences and insights related to prenatal disability education policy are included in the study, as well as those with the highest capacity to influence prenatal disability education. Interviews were conducted with 10 of the following key experts to gather input from a range of thought leaders in the field, including representatives from the disability community (Down syndrome and Spina bifida), medical and genetics organizations, and the federal government.

Table 3: Participant Selection Characteristics

Position	Organization	Expertise	Party Affiliation	Race	Sex	Disability Connection
Prenatal Disability Policy		Legal; disability issues; lived experience	Democrat	W	M	Self
Expert Prenatal Disability Policy Expert		Lobbying; disability issues; lived experience or parent	Republican	W	F	Parent
Staffer	US Senate	Disability Issues	Republican	W	F	N/A
Staffer	US Senate	Disability Issues	Democrat	W	M	Parent
Staffer	US Senate	Disability Issues	N/A	W	F	Sibling
Staffer	US House	Disability Issues	Republican	W	M	Parent
Executive Director	Black Down Syndrome Association	Disability Advocacy	N/A	В	F	Parent
Policy Director	National Down Syndrome Congress	Disability Advocacy	N/A	W	F	Parent
Policy Director	Spina Bifida Association	Disability Advocacy	N/A	W	F	Parent
Policy Director	National Society of Genetic Counselors	Medical/Genetics	N/A	W	M	N/A

#### 3.4.c. Procedures and setting

I conducted interviews with participants across the country in a private setting via Zoom to encourage convenient, open, and honest discussion. The range for interviews was 30-67 minutes with the average interview lasting 52 minutes. Each interview was recorded via Zoom with the participant's consent and later transcribed verbatim by scrupulously comparing the transcription feature in Zoom against the audio recording. Field notes were also taken during and after the interviews to capture contextual information.

## 3.5. Data Analysis

Inductive coding was used to assemble themes and subthemes identified by the interviewees to allow for the discovery of new insights and criteria as well as deductive coding within the categories of the Bardach model. (Ritchie & Spencer, 2002). The process involved recording and transcribing the interviews, listening to the interviews again, constructing an analytical memo, and performing open coding of the transcripts. Next, I developed a working analytical framework in the analytical memo and then coded the data to enter the data in a framework matrix to be used in interpreting the data, constructing alternatives, selecting criteria, projecting the outcomes, confronting the trade-offs, and deciding on a solution as outlined in the Bardach Model.

Below is a description of Ritchie and Spencer's steps for the Framework Method as I applied them:

- 1. Familiarization: I recorded the 10 semi-structured interviews via Zoom and generated a transcript with closed captioning. I then immersed myself in the data by listening to the audio recording to meticulously verify and edit the transcript. Then, I reread the interviews while taking notes on key ideas and recurrent themes.
- 2. **Identifying a thematic framework:** In this stage, I created themes and subthemes based on themes identified in literature, emergent themes in the interviews, and recurrent themes in the interviews in response to the following research questions:
  - What federal and organizational policies can be implemented, expanded, or funded to improve patient prenatal screening experiences in terms of the provision of information about social outcomes, supports and services?
  - What federal and organizational policies can be implemented, expanded, or funded to address disability bias in genetics/obstetrics?

Specifically, I looked for themes and subthemes applicable to the steps outlined in the Bardach model, particularly potential alternatives, criteria for determining the effectiveness of different alternatives, and projections for outcomes and trade-offs for different alternatives. I also looked for emergent themes about the effect of party politics on policy approaches to addressing inequities toward people with disabilities in prenatal screening and care. Subsequently, I created an alpha-numeric system to categorize each theme and sub-theme to be assigned during indexing.

3. Indexing and applying the analytical framework: I indexed the data by assigning numbered themes and sub-themes to the passages from the interviews. I printed all the interviews and wrote my indexed content into the margins. In addition, I iteratively

- revised the themes and sub-themes as needed to inductively reflect the content of the qualitative data.
- 4. Charting the data into the framework matrix: I systematically organized the indexed qualitative data from the interviews into charts or matrices, with rows representing themes and subthemes and columns representing participants. I also cited the original transcript using page numbers and bolded pages in red where I highlighted key quotes.
- 5. **Mapping and interpretation:** In the final stage, I identified and interpreted patterns and relationships within the data to define concepts that might be used for selecting alternatives and selecting criteria for policy solutions; create typologies and determine how different types of participants might have characteristics that influence their selection of alternatives for policy solutions; map the range and nature of phenomena, including attitudes and political nuances that might influence outcomes for different policy solutions; discover associations and how the implicit and explicit characteristics of different types of participants might influence their perception of trade-offs for the different alternatives; and develop explanations and strategies to address peoples' attitudes, experiences, and behavior when discussing projected outcomes and trade-offs for the Bardach Model.

These were presented as *Results* for presenting alternatives and selecting criteria in the Bardach Model as well as projecting outcomes and considering trade-offs.

## 3.6. Ethical Considerations

This research adhered to ethical guidelines, including informed consent, confidentiality, and participant anonymity where requested. Ethical approval was obtained from the Georgia State University Institutional Review Board (IRB Number: H24198).

## 3.7. Validity and Reliability

To enhance the rigor and trustworthiness of the data collection and analysis, I utilized recommended practices as outlined in Lincoln and Guba's "four criteria of trustworthiness" for a range of qualitative paradigms in *Naturalistic Inquiry*—namely credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability (Y. S. Lincoln & Guba, 1985).

- To establish credibility and confirm the validity of the research findings, I outlined the
  credentials of all participants, gave participants the opportunity to review and validate
  findings to allow for member checking, outlined my own prolonged engagement in the
  field in a positionality statement, and used multiple sources to triangulate the data (Y. S.
  Lincoln & Guba, 1985).
- Transferability (the ability to replicate the context) was achieved by providing rich
  descriptions of the research context, participants, and methods in an analytical memo (Y.
  S. Lincoln & Guba, 1985).
- Likewise, the analytical memo included detailed documentation about the research
  process and decisions to establish dependability based on the stability and consistency
  of the research findings over time and with different researchers (Y. S. Lincoln & Guba,
  1985).

4. Finally, **confirmability** or the degree to which the research findings are shaped by the participants and the context rather than my biases and values were validated through peer debriefing with my dissertation chair; the use of quotations and thick descriptions in the text to highlight key points and allow readers to confirm the validity of the findings; and a transparent audit trail and documentation for how codes and themes were determined in a codebook that documents each theme and sub-theme to be assigned during indexing (Y. S. Lincoln & Guba, 1985). Moreover, I shared my reflexivity statement and acknowledged my own biases throughout the analysis as not only a researcher but an active participant in the field.

The qualitative data analysis approach practically maintained rigor during the qualitative process as outlined by Johnny Saldaña, and informed by Lincoln and Guba, through systematic coding with an audit trail (using the indexing and framework matrix of the Framework Method) (Y. S. Lincoln & Guba, 1985; Saldaña, 2021). I created well-defined code categories and themes documented in a codebook and implemented constant comparative analysis by iteratively evaluating the themes. Furthermore, I created transparent documentation of coding, themes, and interpretation in an analytical memo; engaged in peer debriefing with Dr. Vinoski-Thomas; reached data saturation by interviewing a representative sample of participants; and clearly reported of results (Saldaña, 2021).

## Chapter 4: Results

While literature is typically not presented in the Results section, the Bardach model requires a triangulation of evidence from both the interviews and literature from Step 2 when selecting criteria, projecting the outcomes, and confronting the trade-offs to make the most informed policy decisions. Therefore, data from the literature and interview results necessarily weave together to generate the most informed policy analysis in this Results section.

## 4.1. Assemble Some Evidence—Interviews: Step 2

## 4.1.a. Participant Characteristics

The interviews included ten experts who were either medical organization leaders, community leaders, federal policy experts, or representatives of national advocacy organizations. Of the ten participants, three were current Senate staff, one was a former House of Representatives Chief of Staff and disability community leader, one was a policy expert from a national genetics organization, three were national disability advocacy leaders, and two were leaders in the disability community. 40% were Male, and 60% were female, and 90% were White and 10% were Black/African American. All participants had some level of higher education with representation across the US. Additionally, one participant identified as a person with a disability, seven identified as immediate family members of a person with a disability (six parents and one sibling), and two did not have an immediate personal connection to the disability community.

See Table 3: Participant Selection Characteristics.

## 4.1.b. Themes and Subthemes

Seven major themes were inductively derived from the interviews—and subsequently triangulated with the literature review to place the data in the context of existing literature. The major themes primarily articulate the problems that need to be solved and why the issue is important.

Table 4: Major Inductive Themes

Theme	Subthemes	Percent Respondents
1. First point on the life course		60%
2. People with disabilities as		10% (100% including
minority population		subthemes)
	a. Bias again PWD	100%
	b. Exacerbated	30%
	intersectional bias	
3. Parent emotional harm		50%
4. Lack of services and support		60%
5. Lack of funding		40%
6. Med orgs/doctors devalue		60%
disability		
7. Bad diagnosis experiences		30%

Theme 1: The first point on life course is critical for health equity for people with disabilities and caregivers (access to supports and services).

Six participants described the moment a patient received prenatal screening results as a critical first point on the life course related to access to supports and services, which are also essential social determinants of health for people with disabilities. Participants indicated that the information provided during this first moment of learning about a potential disability would ideally help to establish trust with providers, empower them with information to make decisions about treatment, and improve access to supports and services that can address social determinants of health like financial stability and social infrastructure. However, failure to meet these needs at the moment of diagnosis erodes patient trust in their providers, weakens their

ability to make treatment decisions, causes emotional harm, and hinders access to social services and supports.

"Pro-information gives both camps a really compelling reason to advocate for more information..., and everyone who has to go through the decision-making progress will feel more empowered with that decision, and that ripples throughout the child's life, their whole life, because parents who are forced into one way or the other have all this trauma. They feel like they are not in control of this life. And that comes across in the way that they parent and usually not in good ways... And with Spina Bifida, prenatal testing and diagnosis is more important than a lot of different disabilities diagnosed early because there are options for you to do earlier that may reduce disability and improve quality of life. So, parents have to know all this information, and it's not the ideal situation to give them all of this information along with a side of trauma and being just completely terrified because then you can't make good treatment decisions."

—Colleen Payne, Staff at the Spina Bifida Association and Mother of a Person with Spina Bifida (speaking in personal capacity)

"So, I come to this work with that perspective and understanding the prenatal diagnosis experience via my parents and how that shaped their pregnancy and then the birth of my sister and services and supports thereafter."

—Senate Staff 1

And then, them not feeling like they got the support and things that they needed ... They were told they were sorry, and this is not going to be a good thing for you and your family, and just kind of deal. And so they come with lots of questions, lots of worry, lots of anxiety. And we do our best to, one, welcome them but then, two, reassure them that 'hey you're not alone in this' and this is not at all a bad thing and trying to guide them to and give them the resources they need so they can make just more informed decisions."

—Crystal Lotterberry, Director of the national Black Down Syndrome
Association, Mother of Person with Down Syndrome

Theme 2: Recognize people with disabilities are a minority population subject to discrimination.

Subtheme 2.1: Strong bias against people with disabilities is conveyed by providers during prenatal screening. Every participant interviewed indicated that providers often convey

bias about people with disabilities during prenatal screening experiences which challenges the morality and ethics of the entire enterprise. Parent participants described experiences ranging from implicit bias where doctors automatically framed disability as bad news and said, "I'm sorry" to explicit bias where parents were advised about institutionalization, where terminations were scheduled before patients were offered the procedure or provided consent, and where patients received materials using offensive racist and ableist terms such as "Mongoloid" in 2005.

And so because [Down syndrome is] scary to [the doctor] [They're] automatically biased and think it's bad. So then when [they] deliver news to parents, [they're] like, "oh, sorry, sucks for you" as opposed to just "okay." I don't know that's so simplistic, right? —Crystal Lotterberry

"I'm focused on getting better information to parents. I'm not focused on trying to prevent them from doing something with that information. But the fact that they're not getting good information to me is a failure of the system. And it's a challenge to the morality and ethics of the system. We have this powerful scientific technology that we're deploying without being really thoughtful about how we're deploying it. And that's the part that feels immoral because it reinforces bias. Some would say it creates bias." —Andy Imparato, Former Chief of Staff for Democratic Senator, Former President of the American Association of People with Disabilities, Former Director of the Association of University Centers on Disability, Executive Director at Disability Rights California, and person who identifies as having a person with a disability (speaking in personal capacity)

Subtheme 2.2: Inequities can be exacerbated by race, ethnicity, and other intersectional identities. 30% of participants further expressed that inequities can be exponentially influenced by other identities like race, ethnicity, socioeconomic status, and other intersectional identities.

"I think there is definitely still lots of work to do, especially in the Black and Brown communities. Just as an organizational leader, we meet so many families who are just being diagnosed, they're joining the group, and they're like, 'Oh, I didn't even know there were Black people with Down syndrome.' Okay, well, we're here." — Crystal Lotterberry

# Theme 3: Parents of children with disabilities are experiencing emotional harm during prenatal screening.

The theme that parents of children with disabilities are experiencing emotional harm during prenatal screening was indicated by 50% of the participants.

"Many people who had a very bad experience, it stays with them for the rest of their lives. You never, never forget it, and it's not like you never think about it again after the child is home, and you're going about your lives. No, it's always there, that memory. Because it's something so important in life. And to get a false perspective is just shattering." —Madeleine Will, Former Policy Director of the National Down Syndrome Congress, Former Directors of OSERS, Organizer of Down Syndrome Consensus Group, and Mother of a person with Down syndrome (speaking in personal capacity)

1. "Everyone's diagnosis story, especially if it's negative like so many of ours, those are permanent wounds. I will never get back my daughter's birthday—how it should have been a happy day, and it was the worst day of my life." —Heather Sachs, National Down Syndrome Congress Policy Director, Mother of a Person with Down Syndrome) (speaking in personal capacity)

"I do remember every nurse and doctor who encountered me that day looking at me like with tears in their eyes and with fear and telling me they were so sorry. I was like, 'oh crap, this must be bad.' That is what that conveyed to me. If they are upset about this, I don't know anything about it, but if they're upset about it, it must be really, really bad. And then just the fear of the unknown and so the more information you get upfront about what this is and what supports and services there are for it the more you know but if you are having to navigate this in the dark, knowing nothing except what's swirling around in your head, that's traumatic." —Colleen Payne

Indeed, every advocacy leader interviewed who was a mother described emotional harm from the way in which the diagnosis was delivered and used emotive terms such as "shattering,"

"never, never forget," "permanent wounds," and "traumatic." This was true for both Spina Bifida and Down syndrome.

Theme 4: Parents of children with disabilities not receiving critical information about social outcomes, support, and services during prenatal screening.

Six participants expressed the view that parents are not provided critical information they need about services and supports during the diagnosis experience which limits their ability to make treatment decisions, make social connections within the disability community, address social determinants of health, and get the help they need.

"Oh, and in addition to 'I'm sorry,' I was not given any information about local Down syndrome organizations or the national organizations. So, after we took our baby home, and after I was able to get myself together, and luckily, I have a very research and business-oriented husband, he started doing some research, and he connected us with [our local Down syndrome group]. So that's how I became active in the local organization, meeting people, and joined a mom's group for babies around the same age and started to hear that everyone had a similar diagnosis story, and it didn't matter what hospital we delivered in, it didn't matter if it was a prenatal or postnatal diagnosis."

—Heather Sachs

And I also think just a lack of options about something and feeling forced into one road or the other is it can lead to trauma for parents. —Colleen Payne

The next step after the study that was funded by the Kennedy Foundation which is very interesting because one of the findings was that when parents received this news, there were lots of failings. They didn't like what they were told, how they were told, they didn't get the supports they needed.

—Madeleine Will

## Theme 5: Lack of funding for work to address problems with diagnosis experiences.

The theme about the lack of funding was indicated by 40% of the participants interviewed, including lack of funding for the development of educational resources for providers, the lack of funding for the dissemination of patient and provider education resources about disabilities,

and the lack of funding for advocacy organizations to dedicate human resources to the increased needs of prenatally diagnosed patients.

I think practitioners are not educating practitioners on developmental disabilities in general, let alone you know, Down syndrome or other genetic conditions at that prenatal stage. And I think that there are resources that have been developed for families that are excellent, but families don't know how to access them, and our families don't know that those resources exist or where to go. They don't know that there are family to family health information centers ... It is a dissemination problem in many ways. —Senate Staff 1

# Theme 6: Professional medical organizations need to value disability perspective and people with disabilities.

60% of participants said that professional medical organizations like ACOG need to better demonstrate that they value the disability perspective and people with disabilities.

It's always the central problem in disability world. ... How is the person valued? —Madeleine Will

When are we going to learn our lesson that if we just rely on our medical scientific training and we don't take the time to get to know people as people and respect and value people as people, then we're never going to be good scientists? —Andy Imparato

"The biggest thing in getting over the initial hurdle is that ACOG ought to recognize a disability group internally and show that ACOG, as an organization, cares about people with disabilities and families with children with disabilities." —David Hoppe, Former Chief of Staff for Republican Members of the House and Senate and Father of a Person with Down Syndrome (speaking in personal capacity)

#### Theme 7: Much work has been done, but bad diagnosis experiences are still the norm.

40% of the participants indicated that even though much work has been done to improve diagnosis experiences through state and federal legislation, collaborative

meetings with leaders of advocacy and medical organizations, research, professional publications, and the development of patient and provider education materials, bad diagnosis experiences are still the norm and need to be addressed as a problem. All the respondents expressing these concerns were also parents.

"So, when my daughter was born, I had an awful, awful diagnosis experience that I've testified before the [state] legislature about. I was given, at a major hospital in a metropolitan area, resources that were so outdated that they actually still used the word Mongoloid in them. And was just basically every way that it could be handled badly. They told me the news when my husband was out of the room, and they sent in a junior social worker who looked like she was about 20 years old who was crying when she gave me the diagnosis. As I said, we got information about, 'You've had a Mongoloid, now what?' I was also told by the nurses there that there was a farm ... where the owners have adopted some kids with Down syndrome, and if we didn't want to keep the baby then you know that might be an option. This was in 2005."

—Heather Sachs

If we could get the medical groups to adopt this as something they do regularly at their conferences, it would help what is found to be still clearly a lack of knowledge about many families who find out they might have a child with a disability. That's how [to improve] the percentage numbers of people who are handled very badly just because everything is seen in the negative.

We ought to be able to overcome that. We certainly haven't done that.

—David Hoppe

Additionally, three inductively derived categories aligned with the research questions (1. What federal and organizational policies can be implemented, expanded, or funded to improve patient prenatal screening experiences in terms of the provision of information about social outcomes, supports and services? 2. What federal and organizational policies can be implemented, expanded, or funded to address disability bias in genetics/obstetrics?). The categories included Medical Organization Actions, Disability Advocacy Actions, and Policy Actions. The Medical Organization Action themes revolved around what organizations such as ACOG and SMFM could do to improve diagnosis experiences and reduce bias against disabilities;

the Advocacy Organization Action Items focused on advocacy initiatives that disability organizations could engage in to improve prenatal experiences for families; and the Policy Actions focus specifically on what federal government actions at the congressional or agency level can prompt improved diagnosis experiences. Three medical organization action themes were identified, seven disability advocacy action themes, and ten policy action themes.

Further, seven deductive categories were derived from the Bardach model for policy analysis, including funding options, measures of effectiveness, perceived costs, challenges/barriers, benefits, positives, and negatives. 78 themes and additional subthemes were inductively identified for each of these categories. Separately, four political themes and additional subthemes were found to inform more nuanced approaches for navigating policy issues, specifically political motivations and strategies for approaching policy solutions.

Moreover, the values and most effective solutions that were summarily identified by each participant were used to inform the top policy alternatives and criteria for determining the effectiveness of different alternatives discussed below.

See Appendix 5: Analytical Memo.

#### 4.1.c. Indexing and applying the analytical framework

While indexing the data by assigning themes and sub-themes with alpha-numeric codes to the passages from the interviews, the themes and sub-themes were iteratively revised to reflect the content of the qualitative data. For example, eight political themes were originally identified; however, four of the themes—"Laws Don't work at changing behavior," "Prenatal screening and information about disabilities gets mired in reproductive rights debates," "Down Syndrome Information Acts have limited effectiveness," and "Dysfunction in the disability

community"— were so prevalently identified as political barriers that they were merged into the deductively defined "Challenges" category from the Bardach model. The remaining political themes focused on political motivations and strategies. Moreover, potential solutions/alternatives were divided into policy strategies, medical organization strategies, and advocacy organization strategies to define which entities more clearly would be responsible for executing those alternatives. The benefit was that solutions introduced, which did not emerge as top alternatives/solutions, could be used as strategy levers to encourage the adoption of the final recommendation. For example, one participant identified that a strategy for advocacy organizations could be contacting federal agencies to encourage the inclusion of prenatal screening issues as a priority for health disparities funding initiatives. Thus, the advocacy strategy could be used as a lever to encourage the policy solution.

4.1.d. Charting the data into the framework matrix

The framework index features data from the interviews sorted into a table matrix with rows representing themes and subthemes and columns representing participants. Each cell of the table includes page numbers from the original transcript where the representative statements could be found, and the page numbers with powerful quotes pertaining to each theme were bolded in red.

See Appendix 4: Index.

4.2. Construct the Alternatives: Step 3

4.2.a. Mapping and interpretation

4.2.a.(1) Concepts for Selecting Alternatives

The concepts used for selecting alternatives revolved around three major concepts based on which entity would be executing the actions: 1. national medical and genetics professional organizations, 2. national disability advocacy organizations, or 3. federal agency or congressional policy actions. While there are many activities national disability advocacy organizations can do to support new and expectant parents—develop resources, collaborate with medical organizations, and advocate to medical organizations, legislators, and agencies—they are fundamentally dependent on medical organizations to influence the broad population of clinicians delivering diagnoses. Therefore, any meaningful alternative must involve an action executed by health professionals and national medical and genetics organizations who have the greatest influence on the clinical practice through guidelines and practice bulletins (ACOG, 2019).

Research about patient experiences and the effectiveness of state laws, as well as the insight from our interviewees, corroborated that actions by advocacy organizations and departments of public health have little to no impact on the way clinicians deliver diagnoses (Lehman et al., 2021; Meredith et al., 2023). Clinicians rarely proactively look to advocacy organizations or departments of public health for what resources to provide, and the clinicians who do are already biased to use those resources. Primarily, obstetricians and other medical professionals rely on practice guidance from the protocols and checklists issued by their professional organizations, training during residency or through continuing medical education, and professional protocols and guidelines that appear in electronic clinical support systems such as Up-to-Date and Dynamed (ACOG, 2019; Sanford et al., 2021).

I think that, in terms of provider education. In my mind, it's more effective when it's organizational versus the government. I think organizations, particularly in this space where it's so innovative and fast moving. I think the organizations flex much quicker than the government can. —John Richardson, NSGC Policy Director

Consequently, any meaningful attempt to influence clinical behavior must involve the professional organizations that issue those guidelines for clinical practice and the training requirements. Further, there were a plethora of advocacy and policy strategies suggested by the interviewees to prompt medical organizations to create guidelines and training that are more equitable to people with disabilities, such as direct advocacy from patient advocacy organizations to the medical organizations, grant and reimbursement incentives, and federal funding restrictions.

## 4.2.a.(2) Characteristics of participants

The characteristics of the interviewees did manifest in some of the preferences they expressed for alternatives and their criteria for policy solutions. For example, organizational representatives were more likely to promote solutions that benefitted their organization members such as the National Society of Genetic Counselors Policy Director advocating for expanded insurance coverage for genetic counselors and the National Down Syndrome Congress Policy Director advocating for increased funding to advocacy organizations. Therefore, it was important to examine whether their inherently subjective recommendations were supported by other respondents or the literature. For instance, even though NCD's "Prenatal Testing and Rush to Perfection," the 2022 Prenatal Disability Education Summit, the Meredith et al. "Recommendations to improve the patient experience and avoid bias when prenatal screening/testing", and Knight and Miller's "Prenatal Genetic Screening, Epistemic Justice, and

Reproductive Autonomy further corroborate the value of expanding insurance coverage for genetic counseling, only one other interviewee also shared that recommendation as a solution. While this suggestion did not rise to the top among solutions recommended by the most participants, this does not necessarily indicate that the proposal is not promising but could suggest a need for NSGC to engage in greater advocacy with the disability community to promote the Access to Genetic Counselor Services Act about the potential for genetic counselors to aid in addressing the inequities experienced by patients during prenatal screening.

In addition, family members were more likely to understand the discrimination experienced by people with disabilities and their families in clinical care. Even though all the participants identified this clinical bias against people with disabilities as a problem, family members used stronger, more emotionally evocative language, and they were more willing to suggest alternatives that would be either a policy reward or penalty for how medical organizations and clinicians treat individual patients.

#### 4.2.a.(3) Attitudes and Political Nuances for Policy Solutions

To get a better understanding of the attitudes and policy nuances for this issue, particularly potential partisan differences, the interviewees included three Republican policy experts and three Democrat policy experts. During the interviews, Democrats were less likely to be prescriptive about patient/provider relationships and expressed significant reticence for any measures—including funding initiatives—that could be perceived as dictating what providers should do, particularly following the Dobbs Supreme Court decision. One policy concern repeated by Democrats was the ability of one Senator to thwart balanced approaches by

preventing legislation from proceeding or watering it down with amendments such as Senator Tuberville's blocking of military confirmations over paid leave and cost reimbursements for service members who travel to get an abortion. Overall, Democrats opposed any policy solutions that could be perceived as pro-life or prescriptive about patient/provider relationships. The more convincing approaches for Democrats tended to revolve around establishing health equity measures to benefit people with disabilities and their families and addressing bias against people with disabilities.

On the other hand, the Republican participants were likely to be pro-life and select more authoritarian policy approaches such as statutes requiring the provision of accurate, balanced, and up-to-date information for patients learning about disabilities and federal funding regulations for medical organizations. However, all the Republicans indicated that these authoritative measures were the least likely to pass and would encounter significant opposition. The two Republican participants firmly entrenched in the disability community correspondingly emphasized the importance of a moderate, centrist approach to maintain bipartisan support and support from the medical community. Both Democrats and Republicans, emphasized the importance of congressional champions if any legislative action needs to move forward and emphasized that change is slow on this issue.

Interestingly, federal funding requirements were mentioned by both Republicans and Democrats as possible alternatives. In addition, a broad spectrum of participants agreed that medical providers are a product of an ableist society and that they are not singularly the source of the problem. Andy Imparato stated, "I think we need to recognize what we're up against. You know the ableism that exists in society at large. And then the medical profession has grown up

over generations. And it's not something that can easily be legislated away. So, I don't think there's a simple or linear policy solution." However, some participants indicated that because of the level of intellectual achievement required to be a scientist or doctor, they can sometimes be even more resistant to change and have an even greater negative view of intellectual disability than the general population. Therefore, all participants agreed that alternatives aligned with the credibility of their own medical organizations carry the greatest weight for medical providers over actions by advocacy organizations and federal policy.

## 4.2.a.(4) Associations and Perceptions of Trade-Offs

All participants collectively expressed concern about and agreed upon the emotional harm to families caused by negative diagnosis experiences and the value of people with disabilities as a population that should be included as a health disparity population in broader health equity initiatives. However, 70% of the interviewees across parties expressed doubt that federal policy can change attitudes and bias while all agreed on the importance of ACOG and other professional medical and genetics organizations improving disability health equity with better training and collaboration between the medical and genetics organizations and disability community. Although most participants agreed that cost was an important factor to consider, they were divided on whether the cost would be perceived as low or high. This makes the construction of a break-even estimate in the Projected Outcomes particularly important so that leaders can make informed decisions about the cost of preventing emotional harm for pregnant patients and bias against people with disabilities.

## 4.2.a.(5) Explanations and Strategies

Due to the dysfunction of the federal government described by interviewees, the rancor over reproductive rights, the inability of the laws to change attitudes, and the absence of a sufficient number of legislative champions, federal policies requiring legislative action are not likely to pass or even be brought to a vote. Therefore, I dismissed legislative alternatives such as the Insurance Parity Bill already proposed to the House of Representatives or a statute requiring the provision of information suggested by a few interviewees. The Insurance Parity Bill requires that any insurer providing prenatal screening must also provide educational information about the conditions. This bill is beneficial in being bipartisan with Rep. Marc Molinaro (R-NY) and Rep. Nikki Budzinski (D-IL) as legislative champions. However, it not currently written with enough specificity about what constitutes information that benefits new and expectant parents, and it has the same problem as the PPDCAA where no funds are currently appropriated. A separate statute requiring the provision of accurate, up-to-date, and balanced information would also need appropriations, the quality of resources would be variable, and the proposed law is likely to be perceived by progressives as pro-life in the post-Dobbs era—making it unlikely to pass.

The participants offered differing opinions on the policy carrots and sticks that would motivate national medical and genetics organizations to better engage the disability community and offer better training for clinicians about disabilities. Some proposed carrots included funding incentives and collaborative grants (which could be possible with the new health disparities population designation of people with disabilities) while others proposed sticks such as statutes and funding requirements. Sometimes these advocacy and political actions do not need to be the alternatives per se but can be used as levers to promote the truly intended

alternatives such as prompting medical organizations to improve their collaboration with the disability community. Indeed, proposing legislation can still bring people to the table and be used as a lever even if it never passes.

"It's wonderful when we pass the Kennedy-Brownback Bill. But we're not always going to be able to pass every piece of legislation that's proposed. But don't ignore the good that comes from just the introduction of it and the discussion of it across the communities. And then they table it. It doesn't matter. People were talking about it, there were some good things, and it emphasizes this idea that you're alluding to that these individuals have to be treated equitably and their families too. And when we're pointing out occasions when that's not happening, it takes a while, but it changes opinion over time." —Madeleine Will

Even though no congressional action is likely, the threat can be used to generate action and media attention to be used as motivators.

#### 4.2.b Alternatives

Fundamentally, the most promising alternatives that drew consensus from the highest percentage of interviewees and scholarship revolve around actions by medical organizations to address bias and federal agency funding to address a range of issues. Based on the alternatives identified in the literature and the alternatives identified as the most promising by the interviewees, the following alternatives will be compared in the Bardach policy analysis:

#### 1. Alternative 1: No action.

With research showing that emotional and informational harm continues to occur for 61-70% of patients learning about a prenatal diagnosis of Down syndrome (Meredith et al., 2023) after over two decades of the issue being identified as a problem (Parens & Asch, 1999; Skotko, 2005), we can anticipate that these outcomes will not improve without an

intervention measure such as a national organization or federal policy action.

## 2. Alternative 2: Fund the Prenatally and Postnatally Diagnosed Conditions Awareness Act.

Funding PPDCAA is repeatedly cited as a potential solution for the provision of accurate, up-to-date, and balanced information by experts in the field, including from NCD's "Prenatal Testing and Rush to Perfection," the 2022 Prenatal Disability Education Summit, the Meredith et al. "Recommendations to improve the patient experience and avoid bias when prenatal screening/testing", and Knight and Miller's "Prenatal Genetic Screening, Epistemic Justice, and Reproductive Autonomy." In addition, the law has already been passed and only requires right-sized funding to be enacted.

In order to standardize medical practice across states and uphold the integrity of information related to prenatal testing for the sake of women's autonomy, we recommend that the federal government adequately fund the Kennedy-Brownback Act. This funding will enable the Department of Health to collect and disseminate accurate, up-to-date, comprehensive information about test results and the range of outcomes associated with the diagnosed condition. Additional information should include patient support networks, including information about how expectant parents of fetuses diagnosed with DS can connect with other parents who have had the same experience through First Call programs. In turn, medical providers should then be required to make this information accessible to patients via written materials (Knight & Miller, 2021a).

3. Alternative 3: ACOG, SMFM, and genetic organizations include people with disabilities in health equity measures, the development of

guidelines and clinical practices, and the training of residents and fellows on how to sensitively discuss disabilities.

All the interviewees agreed that professional organizations like ACOG need to prioritize people with disabilities as a health equity population and provide better training for practicing clinicians and students, and this solution is further corroborated by NCD's "Prenatal Testing and Rush to Perfection," the 2022 Prenatal Disability Education Summit, the Meredith et al. "Recommendations to improve the patient experience and avoid bias when prenatal screening/testing", and Knight and Miller's "Prenatal Genetic Screening, Epistemic Justice, and Reproductive Autonomy."

Organizational Inclusion: So, I think that would be a real collaboration among the advocacy groups. The medical community that specializes in those different conditions and then the medical organizations like the ACOG and genetic societies and that sort of thing. We really need a lot more collaboration than we have right now. That's the only way to make everybody happy but also to get everybody's buy-in and to get the best product. You have to have all of those perspectives on board.

—Colleen Payne

Better Training: I think better training of doctors because oftentimes you never know how long it's been since a person's been a medical school or what beliefs they may have about Down syndrome, if anything, right? And they may have never actually seen a person with Down syndrome in practice or in anything. So just to have better knowledge of what's currently going on, and maybe what's in your medical books is not truly an accurate depiction of what real life is with a person with Down syndrome. —Crystal Lotterberry

**Disability Representation:** And so every single thing they do including their health guidelines for the care of people with Spina Bifida always include adults, and usually include parents and of course medical providers and others, but the people with a

4. Alternative 4: Federal funding agencies, including NIH and CDC, which are now funding health equity initiatives that include people with disabilities as a health disparities population, prioritize funding toward research, career development, and resource dissemination to improve prenatal diagnosis experiences as the first point on the life course. People with disabilities were only recently designated as a health disparities population by NIH in September 2023 with access to funding for research and dissemination initiatives to benefit minority underserved populations who experience discrimination in healthcare (NIH Designates People with Disabilities as a Population with Health Disparities, 2023). 80% of interviewees agreed that this could be an important federal agency action that could improve diagnosis experiences among patients and reduce bias against disabilities among clinicians. Specifically, they indicated that the funds could be used for the following: research about diagnosis experiences and the competency of clinicians in discussing disabilities; grants to diversify the medical workforce to include more people with disabilities in leadership positions; grants to medical organizations for improved training and resource development; funding for patient education resource development that includes the social model of disability, dissemination, and implementation; grants for

collaborative meetings between the medical organizations and the disability community to develop interdisciplinary guidelines; funding for advocacy organizations to host First Call programs that support patients contacting them after receiving prenatal screening results; and funding to update resources about disabilities on federal websites.

Especially these days we're doing a lot of studies on the health disparities, whether it's rural or race, and we could put in individuals with disabilities in that grouping too so we're making sure that they are getting the attention they need and deserve.

—Senate Staff 2

I feel like having strings attached to funding is a good way to try to drive behavior change. So, if there's federal funding going into certain types of education, making sure that some of that funding is supporting this kind of education [lack of information provided to pregnant patients about disabilities]. There's funding going into research. Maybe take some percentage of it to make sure that this kind of information is disseminated along with the fruits of the medical research. —Andy Imparato

 Alternative 5: Congressional funding used as a reward or penalty for medical organizations and providers to address disabilities more equitably.

60% of participants proposed that federal funding driven by Congress could be used as a reward or penalty for medical organizations to include people with disabilities in health equity measures and to improve clinical counseling about disabilities. 30% proposed the restriction of funds if organizations do not comply with requirements to include people with disabilities in health equity measures. This intervention was proposed by participants with demographic identities as *policy leaders* who were also

either family members or a self-identified PWD across political affiliations: 2 Democrats and 1 Republican.

One of the things you could do is say that no federal funds will go to any group that does not include training on people with disabilities. You know, the [medical organizations] I'm sure get a lot of federal funds doing different things. Well, if they aren't willing to teach about how to deal with and work with people with disabilities, why should they be getting federal government funds? Why should I give them my taxes? And that's one way to do is not to start a new program with extra money, but to say, you aren't going to get any of the money you're getting right now unless you include people with disabilities. Figure it out, boys. I'll guarantee you they'll figure it out in less than 6 months.

—David Hoppe

30% of the participants recommended incentives for providers to discuss disabilities more equitably during prenatal screening—such as tax incentives or higher reimbursement rates for clinicians who obtain disability certifications. This intervention was proposed by participants with demographic identities as *advocacy leaders* and parents across political affiliations: one Democrat, one Republican, and one undefined.

Maybe there's some type of financial incentive. Or some other incentive that can be found through a simple certification ... Here we have a green certified business if they do certain things to protect the environment. So maybe there's some type of certification that they can hang their hat on as a way to show that they're a better practice than one that doesn't have a certification ... or maybe some sort of tax incentive. I mean, money talks, right? —Heather Sachs

#### 4.3. Select the Criteria: Step 4

The most important criteria identified by the participants were whether the solutions were **politically feasible** (90%) and whether the solutions promoted **equity** for people with

disabilities (90%). Most participants agreed that any federal policy initiative involving Congress—ranging from bipartisan initiatives like funding PPDCAA to more partisan statutes requiring the provision of information during prenatal screening— would be either the most difficult to enact or impossible. Indeed, even Senate Staff who are personally and professionally sympathetic to this issue, indicated significant reluctance to prescribe any component of the patient and obstetrician relationship, particularly in the post Dobbs era of rancor over reproductive rights (Meredith, Ayers, et al., 2022). Further, a Senate staffer indicated, "So I think it's politically very challenging to maneuver. I think it was politically challenging to maneuver 12-13 years ago when Kennedy Brownback was passed, but if we were to do something similar or right-size that in funding, it would continue to be challenging." Even Republican counterparts in the Senate and the House who were more willing to pursue prescriptive statutes and funding acknowledged that those measures would be difficult and face significant opposition. Moreover, when identifying challenges, 70% of the participants indicated that laws do not change behavior, 60% identified the politics of abortion as a significant barrier when addressing inequities in prenatal screening, and 30% said the federal government was fundamentally broken for this issue. Therefore, the vast majority of participants said that advocacy directly to the medical organizations and federal agencies would be most politically feasible for finding solutions, particularly since the recent designation of people with disabilities as a health disparities population by NIH (NIH Designates People with Disabilities as a Population with Health Disparities, 2023).

Because 90% of the participants expressed the view that health providers convey bias against people with disabilities during prenatal screening, health equity toward people with

disabilities was also a top priority for 90% of the interviewees. Specifically, they defined health equity as including people with disabilities in medical organizations, avoiding bias during prenatal screening conversations, and providing accurate, balanced, and up-to-date resources about disabilities to new and expectant parents, as well as available supports and services. Participants indicated that the best measures of the effectiveness in achieving equity and improving patient experiences would be to assess patient experiences, provider perceptions of competence in discussing disabilities, and the engagement of the medical organizations with the disability community in the development of prenatal screening guidelines.

Additionally, **cost** was identified by 70% of the participants as an important criterion to measure—both financial cost and time cost. However, participants were divided between whether they perceived the financial costs as low or high. Because funding for these types of initiatives have typically been calculated in annual grant dollars, that metric will be used as the criteria in this policy analysis matrix. The time cost specifically related to the time spent by clinicians and medical organizations to implement training and health equity initiatives for people with disabilities.

Therefore, the criteria to be evaluated in the matrix will be the following:

- Promotes equity for PWD/Possible number of patients experiencing emotional harm
   (Y/N)
- Improves provision of resources to address health disparities (Y/N)/Possible number of patients to benefit
- Reduces bias among clinicians (Y/N)/Possible number of clinicians with improved competence

- The time cost of an organization to include people with disabilities in the development of guidelines and training
- The time cost of training per resident or practicing clinician
- The total dollars spent on the program annually
- Politically feasible (Y/N)

## 4.4. Project the Outcomes: Step 5

#### 4.4.a. Alternative 1: No action.

Even though there is no financial cost associated with this alternative, there are substantial consequences and costs in the emotional harm and mental anguish experienced by patients who have a negative diagnosis experience, the lack of supports and services provided to the parents of medically-vulnerable children, the harm to patient/provider relationships, the impact of the emotional harm on parenting, and the ultimate impact on the health and treatment of people with disabilities. While one can argue that receiving positive prenatal screening results alone can cause parents distress, the research and the participants in this study repeatedly demonstrate that the way in which those results are delivered by health professionals can profoundly exacerbate or ameliorate those impacts (May et al., 2020; Meredith et al., 2023; Nelson Goff et al., 2013). Andy Imparato explains, "There's a cost associated with bias and discrimination. That affects the parents, affects the child as the child grows up, affects the family as a whole. And those costs are often not considered when we do cost benefit analysis. So basically, if you're going to evaluate the cost of a solution, I would encourage you to also evaluate the cost of doing nothing."

The baseline for what is currently occurring is that no action or intervention will be implemented, so at least 61% of patients will continue to experience bias and subsequent emotional harm when receiving a diagnosis based on the experiences of parents with Down syndrome (Meredith et al., 2023). While there is no quantitative data about the bias and emotional distress experienced by the parents of children with other conditions, the qualitative literature shows that parents of children with Spina Bifida, Klinefelter syndrome, achondroplasia, and Turner syndrome experience similar harms (Bourke et al., 2014; Hill et al., 2003; Payne, 2013; Starke et al., 2002). Additionally, quantitative research by lezzoni et al. shows that 82.4% of clinicians reported that disabled people have a worse quality of life than non-disabled people (lezzoni et al., 2021). Therefore, 61% would be a conservative estimate of patients who experience bias and subsequent emotional harm from a negative diagnosis experience.

Both the literature and our interviewees indicated that the cost of these negative diagnosis experiences impacts the mental and emotional health of the parent, patient/provider relationships, and the individual with disabilities.

Negative Diagnosis Impact on Parenting and Individual with Disabilities:

Traumatized parents parent differently than parents who are not traumatized and so I think my impression, my experience that I've had is parents who have less trauma or have dealt with their trauma raise more independent self-determined people than the parents who are scared and pessimistic about their child's life. So, in my opinion, it's better for people with disabilities in general if we deal with this prenatal diagnosis, cause that's the start of the parenting. And I think if we want to raise independent self-determined adults, it starts with the diagnosis. —Colleen Payne

**Negative Diagnosis Impact on Patient/Provider Relationships:** I also think it trickles down to if you realize that the provider who gave you the diagnosis was wrong, that may be the first time that you really think about how

providers don't always know what they're talking about. I had blind trust in the medical community before this. If a doctor said it, I believed it. I think this really harms the trust between parents and providers and then those people with disabilities and their providers because they're learning what they know from their parents. There's a lack of trust there because, "Remember that time you told me that my child would be a vegetable. Look at her now, she's amazing. You didn't know what you're talking about." And it feeds into later on, "Well, the urologist said that we need to start cathing, but I don't think that we do. Parents know better than the doctors anyway." It just starts this adversarial relationship that's unhealthy both mentally and especially physically ...

You have to have a good trusting relationship with those providers to give the child the best outcome, and so this botching of the diagnosis sabotages that future relationship. —Colleen Payne

Both the adversarial relationship with medical providers and the lack of provision of resources about supports can potentially impact the long-term health of people with disabilities that can increase societal cost for healthcare (May et al., 2020; Meredith et al., 2023). Research quantitatively shows that 70% of pregnant patients did not receive accurate, up-to-date, and balanced information about Down syndrome in language they can understand (Meredith et al., 2023), and 71% did not receive information about supports and services. Given similar qualitative findings for Klinefelter syndrome, Turner syndrome, achondroplasia, and Spina Bifida, that same metric is applied to people with the range of prenatally detectable conditions for this policy analysis.

The current number of the impacted population is relatively small compared with the larger population of about 3.7 million pregnancies per year (*FastStats*, 2023). About 120,000 babies are estimated to be born with birth defects each year (CDC, 2023a), and the prenatal screening panel is constantly expanding to include additional conditions; however, for the purposes of this assessment, we will conservatively evaluate numbers for the most common

conditions currently included in prenatal screening technology where most people born with the condition live to adulthood: Down syndrome, Spina Bifida, Turner syndrome, Klinefelter syndrome, XYY, and achondroplasia. The total for those populations amounts to 13,445 babies born with the prenatally detectable conditions outlined below. If 61% experience bias and subsequent emotional harm, that amounts to 8,202 babies. If 71% do not know about resources for supports and services, that amounts to 9,546 babies.

- Down syndrome: 6,000 (CDC, 2023b)
- Spina Bifida: 1,500 (CDC, 2020)
- Turner syndrome: ~925 given that 1:2000 females are born with Turner syndrome (37000000/2/2000) (Turner Syndrome Symptoms, Causes, Treatment / NORD, n.d.).
- Klinefelter syndrome (XXY): 3,000 (Samango-Sprouse & National Organization for Rare Disorders (NORD), 2020)
- XYY: ~1,850 given that 1:1000 males are born with XYY (3600000/2/1000)
   (MedlinePlus [Internet], 2022).
- Achondroplasia: 170 given that 4.6/100,000 are born with achondroplasia
   ((3600000/100,000)\*4.6) (Foreman et al., 2020)

Finally, disability rights advocates have long asserted that the information conveyed during prenatal screening experiences likely raises termination rates because parents are left to make pregnancy decisions in a setting that is often clouded by negative bias and without sufficient information to understand the condition (Piepmeier et al., 2021). This perspective was further confirmed by the participants in this study. While we do not calculate his

variable into the matrix, this can be a substantial concern if parents are making reproductive decisions that are based more on bias and lack of information rather than choices that reflect their own values based on accurate, up-to-date, and balanced information delivered without coercion or influence.

I wasn't given any information other than, "Your child has 90% chance of having Down syndrome and do you want to?" And I stopped her before she said what I assumed would be, "Do you wanna have a conversation about alternative options?" But because I had Google, I was able you know to get the information that I needed and find the national organizations that supported prenatal diagnoses such as DSDN and a couple of other organizations where I got information from. —Crystal Lotterberry

The uninformed choice is more likely to be terminating because there's fear in just inaccurate information there. Most of these terminations are due to fear and love. Parents love their babies. They don't want them to suffer, and it certainly sounds like they're gonna suffer from the person who told them about this and so they are willing to take on this grief for the rest of their lives so that their child does not have to when that may not be the case at all.

—Colleen Payne

4.4.b. Alternative 2: Fund the Prenatally and Postnatally Diagnosed Conditions Awareness Act.

The PPDCAA originally proposed the appropriation of 5 million per year for five years for the HHS Secretary, acting through the Director of the National Institutes of Health, the Director of the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the Administrator of the Health Resources and Services Administration, to "authorize and oversee certain activities, including the awarding of grants, contracts or cooperative agreements to eligible entities" to build a library of resources about prenatally and postnatally diagnosed conditions (M. W. Leach, 2016; *Text of S. 1810 (110th)*, 2007) With \$25 million, this alternative would provide ample funding for resource development and dissemination dedicated to this issue and could improve the provision of resources to address health disparities.

However, notably the PPDCA does not address training medical professionals or impacting medical guidelines, so it's impact on the biases of clinicians would likely be minimal, particularly with the insight from most interviewees that non-mandatory public policy rarely changes attitudes or biases. Additionally, if the materials developed are not recommended by the national medical and genetics organizations, then the dissemination, implementation, and adoption are likely to be limited.

Moreover, given the insight from the participants about the dysfunction in the federal government, the reticence to propose or pass any bills related to reproductive health, and the lack of legislative champions, any alternatives that require congressional actions—including right-sizing funding— are not politically feasible. Further, participants reported that the dysfunction of advocacy orgs competing over dollars and influence make both advocacy and the execution of passing legislation on this issue challenging.

4.4.c. Alternative 3: ACOG, SMFM, and genetic organizations include people with disabilities in health equity measures, the development of guidelines and clinical practices, and the training of residents and fellows on how to sensitively discuss disabilities training.

The inclusion of people with disabilities by the national obstetrics and genetics organizations was agreed upon by all participants as an effective intervention and would be relatively inexpensive in cost and time. Several models are available to use for time and cost estimates.

The Prenatal Disability Education Summit hosted by the National Center for Prenatal and Postnatal Resources in 2022 and funded by the Joseph P. Kennedy, Jr. Foundation and other sponsors cost approximately \$30,000, and it took one 8-hour day of community conversations to determine an action plan to improve diagnosis experiences for families (Meredith, 2022). David Hoppe also suggested two days of meetings, which would amount to 16 hours. Other

options for gathering input from the disability community are giving speaker slots or covering meeting participation at existing guideline development meetings to about three disability rights advocates, which costs about \$3,000 maximum per person for per diem costs and reimbursement at \$150/hour for 8 hours. Therefore, the financial estimate to be more inclusive of people with disabilities at organizational planning and education meetings would be about \$39,000 and 16 hours of organizational time each year, so the conservative estimate for the policy analysis will be \$50,000 and 20 organizational hours for the inclusion of people with disabilities at organizational planning and education meetings.

In addition, ACOG has models of equity-focused clinical guidance and policies with racial health equity, and CREOG has a Health Equity Curriculum. Amending these guidelines to be more inclusive of people with disabilities and an ethical and moral disability framework would likely be similar to the cost of updating the Brighter Tomorrows curriculum, which cost about \$20,000. Given the level of coordination involved and compensation of additional consultants, the cost estimate for creating a more inclusive training curriculum would be about \$50,000—bringing the total organizational costs up to \$100,000 when adding the inclusion of people with disabilities at meetings previously estimated at \$50,000. Additionally, the amount of time for individual clinicians to undergo disability health equity training would be approximately 2 hours, which would be the amount of time required to complete the Brighter Tomorrows training on how to deliver a diagnosis and understand the history of disability rights. The training has demonstrated effectiveness in significantly improving provider competence in delivering prenatal screening results and discussing disabilities more knowledgably and equitably (Campbell et al., 2009; Jackson et al., 2020; Kleinert et al., 2009).

Because this alternative would be shared by the major professional organizations for obstetricians and genetic counselors, these solutions would have the greatest likelihood for adoption and would promote improved competence, improved equity toward people with disabilities, and the increased provision of resources for patients learning about disabilities. However, external funding would be necessary to make this option politically feasible and influence clinical behavior because the likelihood of the medical professional organizations spending \$100,000 is extremely unlikely—even with the proposed benefits. Any solution involving the medical and genetics professionals' organizations would need to be paired with a funding alternative for the development and dissemination of resources, resident and clinical training, guideline development, and collaborative meetings.

Other challenges associated with this alternative largely stem from the reticence of clinicians to change practice, concerns about time and financial cost, and deeply embedded societal ableism exacerbated by exceptionally high value placed upon intelligence and health among medical professionals. However, these professional medical and genetics organizations are likely to be very responsive to public pressure—as demonstrated by their response to public pressure about racial health equity. Some strengths to this approach are that the advocacy would likely be successful even if minimal from at least 20 advocates collaboratively contacting the organizations through peer-reviewed publication commentaries, advocacy letters, emails, calls, and social media campaigns. These advocacy campaigns would be most effective if led by a broader disability advocacy organization with support from condition-specific groups. The most effective approach would be a health equity focus using data from Meredith et al. and lezzoni et al. (2021; 2023) to support the claims. Additional important partners would be

organizations such as the Disabled Parenting Project which supports pregnant patients with disabilities who have experienced discrimination in gynecological/obstetric care. Another key benefit would be improving their experiences with obstetric care.

So, the struggle with professional organizations is they need to feel some pressure to move some way because they typically are—and you know this so well because you've spent 20 years doing this—they're conservative, and they're slow to change ,and they need a reason to actually change standards and guidelines. So, they need external push to do that. If a bunch of disabled people come to them and tell them that, that's a pretty good motivation. Like you said, it's hierarchically. It's probably the strongest. The family members are probably the next strongest, but there needs to be some organization and push in that area. —Senate Staff 3

4.4.d. Alternative 4: Federal funding agencies, including NIH and CDC, which are now funding health equity initiatives that include people with disabilities as a health disparities population, can prioritize funding toward research and resource dissemination to improve prenatal diagnosis experiences as the first point on the life course.

I think your strategy around either writing for an R1, which is great. And in some cases, the R26 would be a good target as well. Or you might look at something from **NIDILRR** or from OSERS possibly in terms of training materials. So, I think that's partly where you can find those types of things. And particularly if you can do it in partnership with some of these professional organizations, that's where there's a way to talk about the creation of those resources. —Senate Staff 3

Because people with disabilities were recently designated a health disparities population in September 2023 with funding already allocated to address health discrimination issues faced by people with disabilities, the discrimination faced by people with disabilities and their families during prenatal screening at the first point on the life course could be a focus of the agencies like NIH distributing these grants. For example, two R1 research grants at 2.5 million over 5 years and three R25 dissemination grants at 310,000 over 5 years would amount to a total of \$1.2 million per year and could fund the development and dissemination of resources, resident and clinical training, guideline development, and collaborative meetings. These grants can be

used as positive motivation to bring both disability and medical organizations to the table to work together because organizations are most likely to obtain funding from these federal agencies if they are working collaboratively and engaging in community-based participatory research. The involvement of researchers and academics could also bridge the political gap between advocacy organizations and professional medical and genetics societies.

I think that you probably have a better chance of being more effective at an agency level. Even with changes in administration I think that there are still a lot of policy impacts that an agency can make with the authorities that they already have ...

I think that there is public or political pressure that can be placed on these organizations to do that. I do not think that they would feel that necessarily unless there is a grant program that they are receiving from the federal government to do certain activities where they would be required to include people with lived experience. If they are self-generating these standards on their own, they are not beholden to anyone but the community calling them out for not including people with disabilities. —Senate Staff 1

One of the challenges identified by the interviewees is that sometimes different minoritized populations can get competitive over what initiatives to prioritize and perceive competition over claiming pieces of a pie. Therefore, one advocacy strategy is collaboratively working together among various advocacy groups that represent minority-underserved population to advocate to Congress for an increase the amount of funding allocated for all groups. This will also benefit people with intersectional identities. Agencies can also make decisions and can be targets of advocacy by patient advocacy groups who may want increased prioritization on issues across the lifespan, including prenatal screening. This option is less costly than PPDCAA and can provide funding for resources and dissemination, clinical training, and research that demonstrates the effectiveness of different approaches for improving prenatal diagnosis experiences and the competence of clinicians delivering diagnoses.

4.4.e. Alternative 5: Congressional funding used as a reward or penalty for medical organizations and providers to address disabilities more equitably.

60% of participants proposed the use of congressional federal funding (as compared to agency funding) to motivate medical organizations to improve diagnosis experiences as well as be inclusive of people with disabilities and avoid bias. 30% wanted to restrict federal funds from being disseminated to medical organizations that discriminate against people with disabilities by not including them in equity measures like collaborative guideline development. The demographics of those who proposed funding restrictions were largely policy leaders who were also family members or people with disabilities (2 Democrat and 1 Republican). On the other hand, the other 30% proposed incentives or special tax benefits for medical organizations who were inclusive of people with disabilities and clinicians who sensitively counseled patients learning about prenatally screened disabilities or who obtained certifications on how to discuss disabilities. Those who made this suggestion were all advocacy leaders who were also parents (1 Republican, 1 Democrat, and 1 Undefined).

Both funding restrictions and incentives are clearly opposite ends of the spectrum in cost in that the restriction of federal funding costs \$0 while incentives provided at just \$150/hour for an estimated 2 hours of training and 1 hours of patient counseling for 33,624 ACOG Fellows nationwide would be about 15.1 million per year, plus the potential costs of administering a program like this which could be considerable (Rayburn et al., 2012). Given the congressional political limitations already mentioned, neither of these options is politically feasible. Funding restrictions would face stiff opposition from the medical community, and funding incentives would be too costly. However, with legislative champions who understand the true vision of uniting all parties to work together toward solutions rather than accomplishing the passage of

legislation, the bipartisan and zero cost nature of funding restrictions could be a powerful lever to bring medical professionals to the table and convince them of the seriousness of the issue.

And that was really what opened the door to the OB/GYNs agreeing to sit down with us because we had tried for about 2 years before that to get them to meet with us to no avail. They would answer the phone calls, but it was clearly not something they had any interest in doing. But once we got a Brownback-Kennedy bill passed, they suddenly realized that maybe this was something they had to talk to us about. And that was part of. getting the first meeting held at the University of South Carolina. —David Hoppe

### 4.4.f. Policy Analysis Criteria Matrix

Table 5: Policy Analysis Criteria Matrix compares the different alternatives identified in Step 5 in a matrix with the criteria identified in Step 4 to clearly weigh the pros and cons of each proposed solution.

Table 5: Policy Analysis Criteria Matrix

	Equity for PWD	Improves provision of resources to address health disparities	Improved competence of clinicians delivering a screening results	Time Cost: Org Inclusion of PWD	Time Cost: Training per resident	Total dollars spent on program annually	Political Feasible (Y/N)
No action	N	N	N	0	0	0	Υ
Kennedy- Brownback Funding	N	Υ	N	0	0	\$5 million	N
Med Org Disability Health Equity Inclusion and Training	Y	Υ	Υ	20 hours	2 hours	\$100,000	Υ
Agencies Including Prenatal Disability Population in Health Equity	Y	Y	Y	20 hours	2 hours	\$1.2 million	Υ
Federal funding used as incentive or penalty for medical organizations	Y	Υ	Υ	20 hours	3 hours	0-\$15.1 million	N

#### 4.4.g. Break-even estimates

Various interests between families, society, professionals, disability advocacy groups determine the cost value of investing in a solution to improve prenatal screening and diagnosis experiences and avoiding emotional harm. For families and society, the priorities in determining the cost would be emotional harm, distress, and mental anguish for the pregnant patient and family. The other cost to consider would be the family's reduced access to supports and services that can address social determinants of health and health ramifications for families who receive poor medical advice about issues as vital as prenatal surgical repair in children with Spina Bifida. For society, a consideration would be increased medical costs for patients who do not trust clinicians or make poorly advised medical decisions. For medical providers, potential costs to consider would be the risk of lawsuit for medical malpractice because of negligence caused by a breach of duty, particularly where Down Syndrome Information Acts have established a statute that clinicians "shall " provide information in 11 states and where states allow claims for emotional distress or mental anguish (Center for Dignity in Healthcare for People with Disabilities, 2021; lannone, 2015). According to John Richardson, another risk to consider for clinicians would be lower patient satisfaction scores that can impact Medicare reimbursement rates. A lawsuit grounded in the Americans with Disabilities Act could also be a cost concern for professional medical societies who do not include people with disabilities in their health equity measures, which could be argued as a civil rights violation.

David Hoppe indicated that a 2.5% improvement in diagnosis experiences each year—or 25% reduction in negative diagnosis experiences over 10 years—would demonstrate acceptable progress as a worthwhile investment of funding. This number also hearkens back to the

successful measure of improvement for the Spina Bifida folic acid campaign, which amounted to 2% improvement each year for 10 years where a public awareness campaign led to a 20% increase over ten years in the number of women who reported knowing that folic acid can prevent birth defects (Walani & Biermann, 2017). Therefore, the number of people calculated for acceptable improvement each year for harm-reduction and resource provision during prenatal screening—based on the occurrence of prenatally detectable conditions (with life expectancies into adulthood) and 2.5% improvement each year—would be an annual incremental improvement of 336 individuals per year over a 10-year period or 18,480 total over 10 years.

Well, the once again the benefits are an improvement, and we won't have 60% of the people saying they basically were treated in a negative manner when they got their test results back. That number will go down. Ultimately you would hope it would go to 0, but it's unlikely you'll ever be that successful. Having said that, you do something, and you're able to prove in 10 years from now that number is 35% [instead of 60%], I think that's been or maybe not all the progress you want, but demonstrable progress, and that's the sort of thing you want to look at it is setting goals for making sure that people are treated well and don't feel like their doctor is telling him the world's going to end tomorrow because they are going to have a baby with Down syndrome. — David Hoppe

# 4.5. Confront the Trade-offs: Step 6

The Trade-Off step of the Bardach Policy Analysis Model requires examining and comparing the quantifiable returns between the different proposed alternatives.

# 4.5.a. Policy Analysis Trade-Off Matrix

The Table 6: Policy Analysis Trade-Off Matrix provides a visual representation of the comparisons between the difference alternatives and the estimated number of people impacted.

Table 6: Policy Analysis Trade-Off Matrix

	Promotes equity for PWD (# of patients harmed/yr)	Improves provision of resources to address health disparities (# of additional patients receiving resources/yr)	Improved competenc e of clinicians delivering screening results (# of clinicians with improved competenc e/yr)	Time Cost: Org Inclusion of PWD	Time Cost: Training per resident and counseling	Total dollars spent on program annually	Politi- cally Feas- ible (Y/N)
No action	N (8,202)	N (0)	N (0)	0	0	0	Υ
Kennedy- Brownback Funding	Unknown	Y (336)	N (0)	0	0	\$5 million	N
Med Org Disability Health Equity Inclusion and Training	Y (unknown)	Y (unknown)	Y (unknown)	20 hours	2 hours	\$100,000	Y
Agencies Including Prenatal Disability Population in Health Equity	Y (336 fewer people/year)	Y (336 more people per year)	Y (1,681 more clinicians per year)	20 hours	2 hours	\$1.2 million	Y
Federal funding used as incentive or penalty for medical organizations	Y (336 fewer people/year)	Y (336 more people per year)	Y (1,681 more clinicians per year)	20 hours	3.5 hours	0-\$15.1 million	N

Because the participants defined political feasibility as the most important criteria for alternatives, we can immediately dismiss "Funding the PPCAA" and "Congressional funding used

as a reward or penalty for medical organizations and providers to more equitably address disabilities" as politically infeasible given the current dysfunction in the federal legislature and the profoundly sensitive politics following the Dobbs decision. These are also the options with the highest potential financial costs, which further makes them more politically untenable. However, those proposals can still be used as political levers to prompt movement on other alternatives.

In addition, because the participants likewise determined equity toward people with disabilities to be the other highest priority, "No action" is also not an acceptable alternative. Indeed, both the literature and interviewees demonstrate that the current delivery of information to pregnant patients learning about disabilities is both emotionally harmful to patients and biased against people with disabilities.

The most politically feasible options that would also promote equity for people with disabilities, improve the provision of resources for expectant parents, and improve the competence of clinicians delivering a diagnosis would be the alternatives: "ACOG, SMFM, and genetic organizations include people with disabilities in health equity measures, the development of guidelines and clinical practices, and the training of residents and fellows on how to sensitively discuss disabilities training" combined with "Federal funding agencies, including NIH and CDC, which are now funding health equity initiatives that include people with disabilities as a health disparities population, can prioritize funding toward research and resource dissemination to improve prenatal diagnosis experiences as the first point on the life course." The first alternative where the medical organizations include people with disabilities in health equity measures is essential for any initiative to work because the medical practice

guidelines are the authoritative source where clinicians seek guidance on how to deliver a diagnosis and what resources to provide. Professional medical and genetics societies are also the entities that primarily influence the curriculum taught to students in training and the information included in electronic clinical support systems. This alternative is essential for the adoption of improved practices and training. However, this alternative lacks the necessary funds to accomplish the development and dissemination of resources, the development of training, the hosting of collaborative meetings, and the drafting of guidelines.

The alternative involving the health disparities grants lacks the authoritative influence of the national medical organizations; however, it provides the most quantifiable benefits for the highest number of people at the lowest cost. As estimated, this alternative could decrease negatively biased diagnosis experiences by 2.5% each year (25% over 10 years) and increase the number of parents receiving information about supports and services by the same amount, so 336 parents of children with disabilities would benefit each year. The cost of grants to accomplish this task each year would be an estimated \$1.2 million, which amounts to \$3,571 per person. Additionally, a conservatively estimated 5% of obstetric medical providers (1,681) could improve their competence in discussing disabilities each year amounting to an improvement of 50% over 10 years. Indeed, the Brighter Tomorrows learning modules significantly improved the competence of medical residents who utilized that tool in a study of effectiveness (Jackson et al., 2020). Therefore, this solution could further benefit an estimated 1,681 clinicians per year and decrease their anxiety during prenatal screening conversations and improve their competence and knowledge of disability (Campbell et al., 2009; Jackson et al., 2020; Kleinert et al., 2009).

# Chapter 5: Conclusions

## 5.1. Deciding: Step 7

Ultimately, the most promising alternatives identified by the literature and study participants are a combination of the medical organization actions to improve health equity for people with disabilities and health disparity funding from federal agencies to address discrimination during prenatal diagnosis experiences. This recommendation also most closely aligns with the approach of the successful 1999 Folic Acid campaign which involved a collaborative approach with the CDC, ACOG, AAP, and SBA and funds allocated through federal agencies to accomplish that purpose through research and dissemination grants (Walani & Biermann, 2017). These two alternatives are the most politically feasible with the greatest potential for adoption by clinicians, as well as funding for resource development and dissemination, clinical training, and collaborative guidelines development. Moreover, the funding would lead to a 2.5% improvement each year for patient and a 5% improvement for clinicians so that 336 parents of children with disabilities would benefit each year, which amounts to \$3,869 per pregnant patient (\$1.3 million/336), as well as benefitting 1,681 medical providers through training efforts.

For medical organizations to fully embrace people with disabilities in health equity measures, we would expect that they would develop better organizational practices toward people with disabilities, develop better organizational disability standards/guidelines, and develop better medical education/clinical training about disability. Some better organizational practices suggested by participants include collaborating with and including people with disabilities—and other disciplines such as genetic counseling—on guideline development,

conferences, and research as also recommended in the "Recommendations to improve the patient experience and avoid bias when prenatal screening/testing" (Meredith, Brackett, et al., 2022). Another improved organizational practices would be to build the medical workforce development of people with disabilities so that ACOG is receiving input from experts within who have lived experience with disability. Additional organizational practices to improve health equity for people with disabilities would be to collaboratively establish a moral and ethical framework for addressing disability and to determine strategies for disseminating patient education resources about disabilities to providers and funding mechanisms.

Interviewees stated that medical organizations can further work toward developing better organizational disability standards/guidelines by offering timely referrals to specialists like genetic counselors and tertiary care centers, providing information about advocacy organizations, providing guidance to clinicians on how to avoid disability bias, and providing information about supports and services and the social model of disability. All of these suggestions are further corroborated in NCD's "Genetic Testing and the Rush to Perfection" and ""Recommendations to improve the patient experience and avoid bias when prenatal screening/testing" (Meredith, Brackett, et al., 2022; National Council on Disability, 2019a).

Finally, participants offered that organizations could develop better medical education/clinical training about disability by incorporating the value of people with disabilities as a historically marginalized population and providing the context of disability rights—particularly when inequities have specifically been fostered by that field and expressing cultural humility regarding disability and recognizing bias. All of these concepts are further reinforced by the Health in All Policies public health framework (Rudolph et al., 2012). Some resources to help

in the administration of training would be CREOG, DEI programs in hospital systems and ACOG, and genetic counselors who can offer training to clinicians in practice.

To support this effort, health disparity funding from federal agencies can provide the research, education, and dissemination grants to undergird these health equity initiatives by medical organizations, as well as the advocacy organizations and researchers working toward improving diagnosis experiences for families. Grants can be used to research diagnosis experiences and the knowledge and competence of clinicians in discussing disabilities; diversify the workforce; build disability cultural competence in clinicians through training that can be administered by medical schools and the national accreditation body (Liaison Committee on Medical Education), and technical assistance; develop and disseminate resources for families that include the social model of disability; form an interdisciplinary coalition that can develop guidelines, make dissemination and implementation plans, and develop resources; and provide First Call technical assistance for advocacy organizations. These funds could meaningfully support organizations that serve families and providers while also assessing the efficacy of these interventions.

We further discovered levers that can be utilized to motivate medical organizations and the federal agencies. While the two alternatives identified carry significant potential to improve diagnosis experiences for pregnant patients and reduce bias against people with disabilities in those conversations even by the most conservative estimates, the participants and literature identified the following political levers as essential for motivating all the actors to move forward:

- ACOG and other medical and genetics organizations need to become more inclusive of disability in health equity measures, including guideline development, training, and advocacy efforts.
  - a. Levers: National disability organizations can advocate directly to ACOG and other medical and genetics organizations. Congressional policy expert participants said that 20 contacts generally raise the priority level of an issue for an organization, and there is also a model based on the successful advocacy efforts to raise the COVID-19 vaccine prioritization level of people with disabilities based on health equity arguments and patient harm in a number of states (Meredith, 2021)
    - i. Organizational letters; open letters
      - Write a collaborative letter to ACOG and other professional medical organizations as needed from national disability advocacy organizations, condition-specific organizations, genetic counselor organizations, prominent bioethicists and disability scholars in the field, and disability social justice activists advocating for medical organization practices that are more equitable toward people with disabilities, including in the administration of prenatal screening, disability representation in the workforce and organizational conferences, professional training, and the development of practice guidelines. *Our organization also used this approach in addressing prenatal screening program concerns with the California Department of Public Health, and we were successful in having the modify their website and provide training to reflect those concerns.*

Share stories in the letter to also frame prenatal screening issues in the context of emotional harm to parents caused by bias against people with disabilities and as the source of health disparities for people with disabilities based on the lack of provision of resources, supports, and services that help families and individuals address social determinants of health. See Appendix 6: Telling Your Story: Step 8.

#### ii. Carrots:

Carrots are positive motivation to encourage ACOG and other medical and genetics organizations to include people with disabilities at the table. The motivation can range from collaboration on funding initiatives to mutual support for strengthening the workforce to include genetic counselors who are trained to provide more comprehensive information about disabilities during the diagnosis experience.

Agency Funding: Advocacy organizations, researchers, and
disability-informed bioethicists can solicit medical organizations to
be grant partners in initiatives to fund meetings, collaborative
guideline development, workforce development, and training
programs. Agencies can issue requests for proposals that prioritize
community-based participatory research and projects that include
people with disabilities who have lived experience and their
families.

Legislation: Advocates can join the National Society of Genetic
 Counselors in advocating for reimbursements for genetic
 counseling services such as H.R.3876 - Access to Genetic
 Counselor Services Act of 2023 so that clinicians have more
 support in the workforce when discussing disabilities (Rep. Smith, 2023).

#### iii. Sticks:

While sticks are risky in that they can jeopardize relationships, the interviewees and literature indicate that the following options can be effective to force ACOG to include people with disabilities at the table if carrots do not provide sufficient motivation:

- 1. From Congress: Threaten the restriction of funding if ACOG and other medical and genetics organizations do not include people with disabilities as a health equity population. For this to be effective, the disability community needs legislative champions who are willing to move forward on this initiative and stay on message about health equity for people with disabilities—not prolife or pro-choice—while also understanding that the bill can be successful in bringing organizations together even if it never passes or gets brought to the floor.
- From advocates: Work with organizations like the National Council on Disability and American Association of Developmental

Medicine and Dentistry to invite ACOG and other medical and genetics organization representatives to attend conferences and summits to answer questions about health equity for people with disabilities during prenatal screening as was done with the American Medical Association and American Dental Association (NCD Announces Discussions on Disability Health Issues and Public Comment Opportunity at Upcoming Meeting, 2023).

- 3. From advocates: Advocates can also engage in a grassroots initiatives with local disability advocacy organizations to encourage patients who have negative diagnosis experiences to reflect those experiences accurately in their patient satisfaction scores because patient satisfaction scores help determine Medicare reimbursement rates. If medical professionals and organizations recognize that advocacy organizations understand this point, that can be a bargaining chip for advocacy organizations to encourage medical organizations to be more inclusive of people with disabilities to improve prenatal diagnosis experiences for patients.
- 4. From advocates: Media blitz

If the letter is ineffective at prompting a response, engage in a media campaign sharing patient stories of emotional trauma during diagnosis experiences. Remain laser-focused on health

inequities and bias against people with disabilities without being forced into the abortion debate. Social media is, however, a riskier approach because it can easily skew the messaging and generate online backlash.

- 2. Funding agencies—prioritize funding for health disparities starting at prenatal screening.
  - a. Levers
    - i. Letters: Similarly, advocates can write a collaborative letters to leaders at federal funding agencies from national disability advocacy organizations, condition-specific organizations, genetic counselor organizations, prominent bioethicists and disability scholars in the field, and disability social justice activists advocating for medical organization practices that are more equitable toward people with disabilities, including in the administration of prenatal screening. Priorities would include disability representation in the obstetric and genetics workforce and organizational conferences, professional training that values people with disabilities and social justice, and the development of more equitable practice guidelines. Share stories in the letter to also frame prenatal screening issues in the context of emotional harm to parents caused by bias against people with disabilities and as the source of health disparities for people with disabilities based on the lack of provision of resources, supports, and services that help families and individuals address social determinants of health.

- ii. Personal advocacy: Advocates can also personally meet with agency representatives at NIH, CDC, ACL, the Office of Special Education and Rehabilitative Services, The National Institute on Disability, Independent Living, and Rehabilitation Research, and other agencies with the funding authority to prioritize this issue.
- iii. Work through organizations like the National Council on Disability, the

  American Association of Health and Disability, and the American

  Association of Developmental Medicine and Dentistry which are located and working in Washington DC, and in the medical community on disability issues to raise the profile of addressing health equity for people with disabilities in prenatal screening at the agency level. This goal can be accomplished during their regular organizational meetings and forums, publications, and private meetings with agency leaders (Meredith & Weiss, 2023).

#### 5.2. Limitations and Future Research

A major limitation is that people in decision-making and leadership positions tended to be White; therefore, a majority of the interviewees were White. This is both a limitation of this project and a systemic limitation. Fortunately, the Black Down Syndrome Association was founded in the past two years, thereby increasing leadership among Black parents of children with Down syndrome. An additional limitation for this study was the lack of representation of policy leaders who have lived experience individually or as family members with sex chromosome conditions, achondroplasia, or other prenatally diagnosed conditions. This study

demonstrated an overexpression of representation for Down syndrome given the personal connections of the researcher; however, DS occurs more frequently, and DS and Spina Bifida have been prenatally detectable longer than the other conditions. Another limitation was the lack of representation by members of the Disability Caucus in the House of Representatives. I reached out to several members in leadership positions, but they were either non-responsive or unable to meet. I contacted staff members for four members of the House of Representatives involved in the Down syndrome and Disability Caucus; however, three did not respond to three requests for appointments, and one responded that she was unable to meet. Part of the challenge was the dysfunction of Congress, and part was the reluctance to meet with someone who is not from their own district. To accommodate for this limitation, I interviewed David Hoppe, the father of a person with Down syndrome who also served as Chief of Staff for the Speaker of the House to provide the Representative perspective.

### 5.3. Conclusion

#### Reflexivity Statement

This policy analysis did not lead to the results I anticipated even after working on this issue for over 15 years. I anticipated that the participants would conclude that we needed to fund the PPDCAA or implement an excise tax on prenatal screening to fund an educational infrastructure, but what I found was much more illuminating than I expected. As I was interviewing the participants, their suggestions seemed disjointed, but as I began to assign codes and overlay them, I found recurring messages that the linchpin was motivating the medical organizations, specifically ACOG, to be more inclusive of people with disabilities. This ranges from the development of their guidelines to the diversification of their workforce and the

implementation of their training, etc. For so many across the political spectrum, this issue is reduced to a popular volley in abortion wars, but for families, it is our first moment where disability is framed for us, the first glimpse of our child, the first interaction with how the world sees them, and the first birthday. Unfortunately for too many of us, the shock of that moment is influenced by a deep societal bias that everyone carries that is then magnified and distorted further by the biases of the person we trust most in the room. Many of us have no interest in influencing the reproductive choices of others—even though we have a nagging suspicion that the bias we experienced may have unduly influenced other—but most of us are deeply and profoundly interested in reducing the emotional harm other parents of children with disabilities endure, we are deeply and profoundly interested in the subsequent health and emotional impacts on people with disabilities, and mostly we are deeply and profoundly interested in ensuring that people with disabilities are valued by a medical establishment that has historically discriminated against them from the era of Eugenics, forced sterilization, and beyond.

We're no longer in a world where medical providers need to tell us what to do.

We just need the information and support in making the decision that's right for us, and people will do that. People will make the decision that's right for them. I don't think we have to worry about what that decision is.

### —Colleen Payne

What I also realized is that the skills developed in the past 10 years in the fight by disability rights advocates to save Medicaid in 2016-2017 and to raise concerns about health inequities for people with disabilities during COVID—specifically my own experience in crafting a book of Georgia Medicaid stories to influence policymakers, my own work with Heidi Moore to raise the vaccine prioritization of people with disabilities in Georgia during COVID, and my later

extrapolation of those lessons learned to successfully advocate for the California Prenatal

Screening Program to modify their approach toward people with disabilities—have given us the skills to tackle this issue as the participants suggested in the interviews. Even if Congress is not the best vehicle for us to use right now, we as the broader disability community—and I as a professional and advocate—have the skills and influence now to approach the medical and genetics organizations and federal agencies directly to advocate for change and make a strong case for the allocation of research dollars.

## References

ACMG Committee. (2024).

- ACMG. (n.d.). *Annual Clinical Genetics Meeting 2024 Schedule*. Annual Clinical Genetics Meeting 2024. Retrieved February 3, 2024, from https://www.acmgmeeting.net/program
- https://www.acmg.net/ACMG/ACMG/About\_ACMG/Committee\_Roster/CommitteeRost er.aspx?CommCode=DIVERSITY
- ACOG. (2019, October). Clinical Guidelines and Standardization of Practice to Improve

  Outcomes. https://www.acog.org/clinical/clinical-guidance/committee
  opinion/articles/2019/10/clinical-guidelines-and-standardization-of-practice-to-improveoutcomes
- ACOG. (2024). *Meet Our Team*. Diversity, Equity, and Inclusive Excellence at ACOG: Meet Our

  Team. https://www.acog.org/about/diversity-equity-and-inclusive-excellence/meet-our-team
- ACOG Annual Clinical & Scientific Meeting. (2024). ACOG Annual Clinical & Scientific Meeting. https://annualmeeting.acog.org/
- ACOG Committee on Ethics. (2017, April). Sterilization of Women: Ethical Issues and

  Considerations. https://www.acog.org/clinical/clinical-guidance/committeeopinion/articles/2017/04/sterilization-of-women-ethical-issues-and-considerations
- ACOG Practice Bulletin No. 77: Screening for Fetal Chromosomal Abnormalities: (2007).

  \*Obstetrics & Gynecology, 109(1), 217–228. https://doi.org/10.1097/00006250-200701000-00054

- ACOG Practice Bulletin No. 88: Invasive Prenatal Testing for Aneuploidy. (2007). *Obstetrics & Gynecology*, 110(6), 1459–1467. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.AOG.0000291570.63450.44
- Ahluwalia, I., & Daniel, K. L. (2001, May 11). Are Women with Recent Live Births Aware of the Benefits of Folic Acid? MMWR.

https://www.cdc.gov/MMWR/preview/mmwrhtml/rr5006a1.htm

- American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists' Committee on Practice Bulletins—

  Obstetrics, Committee on Genetics, & Society for Maternal-Fetal Medicine. (2020).

  Screening for Fetal Chromosomal Abnormalities: ACOG Practice Bulletin, Number 226.

  Obstetrics & Gynecology, 136(4), e48–e69.

  https://doi.org/10.1097/AOG.00000000000004084
- AUCD "Understanding a Down Syndrome Diagnosis" Booklet Available Through Kennedy

  Foundation and Kentucky's Human Development Institute. (2012, September 18).

  https://www.aucd.org/template/news.cfm?news\_id=8199&id=17
- Ballotpedia. (n.d.). Retrieved October 6, 2023, from https://ballotpedia.org/Main\_Page
- Bardach, E., & Patashnik, E. M. (2020). A practical guide for policy analysis: The eightfold path to more effective problem solving (Sixth edition, International student edition). Sage | CQ Press.
- Benn, P., Curnow, K. J., Chapman, S., Michalopoulos, S. N., Hornberger, J., & Rabinowitz, M.
  (2015). An Economic Analysis of Cell-Free DNA Non-Invasive Prenatal Testing in the US
  General Pregnancy Population. *PLOS ONE*, 10(7), e0132313.
  https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0132313

- Bourke, E., Snow, P., Herlihy, A., Amor, D., & Metcalfe, S. (2014). A qualitative exploration of mothers' and fathers' experiences of having a child with Klinefelter syndrome and the process of reaching this diagnosis. *European Journal of Human Genetics*, 22(1), 18–24. https://doi.org/10.1038/ejhg.2013.102
- Burns, M., Bally, J., Burles, M., Holtslander, L., & Peacock, S. (2022). Constructivist Grounded

  Theory or Interpretive Phenomenology? Methodological Choices Within Specific Study

  Contexts. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, *21*, 160940692210777.

  https://doi.org/10.1177/16094069221077758
- California Department of Public Health. (2023, November 13). *California Prenatal Screening Program*. https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CFH/DGDS/Pages/pns/default.aspx
- Campbell, L. R., Kleinert, H. L., Lunney, C. A., & Ferguson, J. E. (2009). 1. Training in Delivering an Unexpected Diagnosis. *Academic Pediatrics*, *9*(4), e6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.acap.2009.05.007
- Caplan, A. L. (2015). Chloe's Law: A Powerful Legislative Movement Challenging a Core Ethical Norm of Genetic Testing. *PLOS Biology*, *13*(8), e1002219. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.1002219
- Carlsson, T., Bergman, G., Wadensten, B., & Mattsson, E. (2016). Experiences of informational needs and received information following a prenatal diagnosis of congenital heart defect: Experiences following a prenatal diagnosis of congenital heart defect. *Prenatal Diagnosis*, 36(6), 515–522. https://doi.org/10.1002/pd.4815

- Carroll, C., Carroll, C., Goloff, N., & Pitt, M. B. (2018). When Bad News Isn't Necessarily Bad:

  Recognizing Provider Bias When Sharing Unexpected News. *Pediatrics*, *142*(1),

  e20180503. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2018-0503
- CDC. (2000, September 11). National Folic Acid Campaign Evaluation.

  https://www.orau.gov/hsc/cdcynergy30/ba/Content/activeinformation/resources/Eval\_

  Proposal.pdf
- CDC. (2020, August 31). *Spina Bifida Data and Statistics | CDC*. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. https://www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/spinabifida/data.html
- CDC. (2023a, June 28). *Birth Defects are Common, Costly, and Critical | CDC*. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. https://www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/birthdefects/infographic.html
- CDC. (2023b, June 28). *Data and Statistics on Down Syndrome | CDC*. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.
  - https://www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/birthdefects/downsyndrome/data.html
- Center for Dignity in Healthcare for People with Disabilities. (2021). PRENATAL LAWS: Down

  Syndrome Information Acts. https://thinkequitable.com/wp
  content/uploads/2021/07/Prenatal-Laws-Down-Syndrome-Information-Acts.pdf
- Chaplin, J., Schweitzer, R., & Perkoulidis, S. (2005). Experiences of Prenatal Diagnosis of Spina

  Bifida or Hydrocephalus in Parents Who Decide to Continue with Their Pregnancy.

  Journal of Genetic Counseling, 14(2), 151–162. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10897-005-0488-9

- Charmaz, K., Thornberg, R., & Keane, E. (2018). Evolving grounded theory and social justice inquiry. In N. K. Denzin, Y. S. Lincoln, M. D. Giardina, & G. S. Cannella (Eds.), *The SAGE handbook of qualitative research* (Fifth edition, pp. 108–150). SAGE.
- Chung, J., Krell, K., Pless, A., Michael, C., Torres, A., Baker, S., Blake, J. M., Caughman, K., Cullen, S., Gallagher, M., Hoke-Chandler, R., Maina, J., McLuckie, D., O'Neill, K., Peña, A., Royal, D., Slape, M., Spinazzi, N. A., Torres, C. G., & Skotko, B. G. (2023). Healthcare experiences of patients with Down syndrome from primarily Spanish-speaking households. *American Journal of Medical Genetics Part A*, 191(8), 2132–2141.
  https://doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.a.63250
- Crary, D., & Samuels, I. (2021, May 19). *Down syndrome abortion bans gain traction after court ruling*. PBS NewsHour. https://www.pbs.org/newshour/nation/down-syndrome-abortion-bans-gain-traction-after-court-ruling
- de Graaf, G., Buckley, F., & Skotko, B. G. (2015). Estimates of the live births, natural losses, and elective terminations with Down syndrome in the United States. *American Journal of Medical Genetics Part A*, *167*(4), 756–767. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.a.37001
- Dietz, E., & Reynolds, J. M. (2021). REFORMING INFORMED CONSENT: ON DISABILITY AND GENETIC COUNSELING. In *The Oxford Handbook of Genetic Counseling*.
- Disability. (n.d.). NSGC. Retrieved February 3, 2024, from

  https://www.nsgc.org/POLICY/Position-Statements/Position-Statements/Post/disability
- Disability Rights Education and Defense Fund, Generations Ahead, National Women's Health Network, Reproductive Health Technologies Project, & World Institute on Disability.

  (2008). The Prenatally and Postnatally Diagnosed Conditions Awareness Act.

- https://static1.squarespace.com/static/6101ab3e656c8d073d3f0f31/t/611ea14ee61214 6b6d165e2f/1629397327047/InfoSheetBrownbackKennedyLegislation\_final.pdf
- Diversity, Equity, and Inclusive Excellence at ACOG. (2024). Diversity, Equity, and Inclusive Excellence at ACOG. https://www.acog.org/about/diversity-equity-and-inclusive-excellence
- Donavan, C. A. (2023, May 31). Expanding State and Federal Support for Decisions for Life.

  \*Lozier Institute.\* https://lozierinstitute.org/expanding-state-and-federal-support-for-decisions-for-life-2/
- Dresser, R. (2009). Prenatal Testing and Disability: A Truce in the Culture Wars? *Hastings Center Report*, *39*(3), 7–8. https://doi.org/10.1353/hcr.0.0137
- Education and Training. (2024). Diversity, Equity, and Inclusive Excellence at ACOG: Education and Training. https://www.acog.org/about/diversity-equity-and-inclusive-excellence/education-and-training
- Edwards, J., & Ferrante, R. (2009). *Toward Concurrence: Toward Concurrence: Understanding*Prenatal Screening and Diagnosis of Down Syndrome from the Health Professional and

  Advocacy Community Perspectives. University of South Carolina.
- Emens, E. F. (2012). Framing Disability. *University of Illinois Law Review, 2012*(5), 1382–1442.

  https://heinonline.org/HOL/LandingPage?handle=hein.journals/unilllr2012&div=48&id=&page=
- Engelman, A., Case, B., Meeks, L., & Fetters, M. D. (2019). Conducting health policy analysis in primary care research: Turning clinical ideas into action. *Family Medicine and Community Health*, 7(2), e000076. https://doi.org/10.1136/fmch-2018-000076

- Equity-Focused Clinical Guidance and Policies. (2024). [Diversity, Equity, and Inclusive Excellence at ACOG: Equity-Focused Clinical Guidance and Policies].

  https://www.acog.org/about/diversity-equity-and-inclusive-excellence/clinical-guidance-and-policies
- Estreich, G. (2019). Fables and futures: Biotechnology, disability, and the stories we tell ourselves. The MIT Press.
- FastStats. (2023, December 16). https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/fastats/births.htm
- Flores, A. L., Prue, C. E., & Daniel, K. L. (2007). Broadcasting Behavior Change: A Comparison of the Effectiveness of Paid and Unpaid Media to Increase Folic Acid Awareness,

  Knowledge, and Consumption Among Hispanic Women of Childbearing Age. *Health*Promotion Practice, 8(2), 145–153. https://doi.org/10.1177/1524839906289167
- Foreman, P. K., Van Kessel, F., Van Hoorn, R., Van Den Bosch, J., Shediac, R., & Landis, S. (2020).

  Birth prevalence of achondroplasia: A systematic literature review and meta-analysis.

  American Journal of Medical Genetics Part A, 182(10), 2297–2316.

  https://doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.a.61787
- Gale, N. K., Heath, G., Cameron, E., Rashid, S., & Redwood, S. (2013). Using the framework method for the analysis of qualitative data in multi-disciplinary health research. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, *13*(1), 117. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2288-13-117
- Garland-Thomson, R., & Larson, S. A. (2023). Narrative Equity in Genomic Screening at the Population Level. *The American Journal of Bioethics*, *23*(7), 121–123. https://doi.org/10.1080/15265161.2023.2207548

- Giric, S. (2016). Strange bedfellows: Anti-abortion and disability rights advocacy. *Journal of Law* and the Biosciences, 3(3), 736–742. https://doi.org/10.1093/jlb/lsw056
- Gleason, J. L., Grewal, J., Chen, Z., Cernich, A. N., & Grantz, K. L. (2021). Risk of Adverse

  Maternal Outcomes in Pregnant Women With Disabilities. *JAMA Network Open*, 4(12),
  e2138414. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.38414
- Hill, V., Sahhar, M., Aitken, M., Savarirayan, R., & Metcalfe, S. (2003). Experiences at the time of diagnosis of parents who have a child with a bone dysplasia resulting in short stature.
   American Journal of Medical Genetics Part A, 122A(2), 100–107.
   https://doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.a.20201
- Iannone, N. (2014). GUEST POST Keep Abortion Politics Out of the Pro-Information Movement

   This is David M. Perry. https://www.davidmperry.com/keep-abortion-politics-out-of-pro/
- Iannone, N. (2015, October). Roe V Wade, Kennedy-Brownback and beyond: The legal landscape of reproductive rights and prenatal testing. National Society of Genetic Counselor's Annual Education Conference, Pittsburgh, PA.
- lezzoni, L. I., Rao, S. R., Ressalam, J., Bolcic-Jankovic, D., Agaronnik, N. D., Donelan, K., Lagu, T., & Campbell, E. G. (2021). Physicians' Perceptions Of People With Disability And Their Health Care: Study reports the results of a survey of physicians' perceptions of people with disability. *Health Affairs*, *40*(2), 297–306. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2020.01452

- IRS. (2023, December 5). Patient-Centered Outreach Research Institute Filing Due Dates and

  Applicable Rates | Internal Revenue Service. https://www.irs.gov/affordable-care-act/patient-centered-outreach-research-institute-filing-due-dates-and-applicable-rates
- Jackson, L., Cichon, M., Kleinert, H., & Trepanier, A. (2020). Teaching medical students how to deliver diagnoses of Down syndrome: Utility of an educational tool. *Patient Education* and Counseling, 103(3), 617–625. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2019.10.011
- Kaposy, C. (2022). An Expressivist Disability Critique of the Expansion of Prenatal Genomics. In
  M. A. Allyse & M. Michie (Eds.), Born Well: Prenatal Genetics and the Future of Having
  Children (Vol. 88, pp. 57–77). Springer International Publishing.
  https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-82536-2\_5
- Keller, M. A. (2022). Doctors and Disability: Improving Inclusion in Medical Education. *HCA Healthcare Journal of Medicine*, *3*(3). https://doi.org/10.36518/2689-0216.1393
- Kennedy, J., & Wood, E. G. (2020). DISABILITY-BASED DISPARITIES IN SOCIAL DETERMINANTS OF

  HEALTH AMONG WORKING-AGE ADULTS: EVIDENCE FROM THE 2018 NATIONAL HEALTH

  INTERVIEW SURVEYS. The Collaborative on Health Reform and Independent Living

  (CHRIL).
- Kleinert, H. L., Lunney, C. A., Campbell, L., & Ferguson, J. E. (2009). Improving residents' understanding of issues, comfort levels, and patient needs regarding screening for and diagnosing Down syndrome. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 201(3), 328.e1-328.e6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajog.2009.05.051

- Kliff, S., & Bhatia, A. (2022, January 1). When They Warn of Rare Disorders, These Prenatal Tests

  Are Usually Wrong. *The New York Times*.
  - https://www.nytimes.com/2022/01/01/upshot/pregnancy-birth-genetic-testing.html
- Knight, A., & Miller, J. (2021a). Prenatal Genetic Screening, Epistemic Justice, and Reproductive Autonomy. *Hypatia*, *36*(1), 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1017/hyp.2020.50
- Knight, A., & Miller, J. (2021b). Prenatal Genetic Screening, Epistemic Justice, and Reproductive Autonomy. *Hypatia*, *36*(1), 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1017/hyp.2020.50
- Knight, A., & Miller, J. R. (2023). *Prenatal genetic testing, abortion, and disability justice*. Oxford University Press.
- Koch, T. (1995). Interpretive approaches in nursing research: The influence of Husserl and Heidegger. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, *21*(5), 827–836. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2648.1995.21050827.x
- Krell, K., Pless, A., Michael, C., Torres, A., Chung, J., Baker, S., Blake, J. M., Caughman, K., Cullen, S., Gallagher, M., Hoke-Chandler, R., Maina, J., McLuckie, D., O'Neill, K., Peña, A., Royal, D., Slape, M., Spinazzi, N. A., Torres, C. G., & Skotko, B. G. (2023). Healthcare experiences of patients with Down syndrome who are Black, African American, of African descent, or of mixed race. *American Journal of Medical Genetics Part A*, 191(3), 742–752. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.a.63069
- Kuppermann, M., & Norton, M. E. (2005). Prenatal Testing Guidelines: *Gynecologic and Obstetric Investigation*, 60(1), 6–10. https://doi.org/10.1159/000083479
- Lagu, T., Haywood, C., Reimold, K., DeJong, C., Walker Sterling, R., & Iezzoni, L. I. (2022). 'I Am

  Not The Doctor For You': Physicians' Attitudes About Caring For People With Disabilities:

- Study examines physician attitudes about caring for people with disabilities. *Health Affairs*, *41*(10), 1387–1395. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2022.00475
- Leach, M. (2014, July 22). NDSC, GDSF, prenatal testing, and abortion—Down Syndrome

  Prenatal Testing. https://www.downsyndromeprenataltesting.com/ndsc-gdsf-prenataltesting-and-abortion/
- Leach, M. (2021, May 25). *Ch. 5, Part 2: Accurate, balanced, up-to-date information about Down syndrome—Down Syndrome Prenatal Testing*.

  https://www.downsyndromeprenataltesting.com/ch-5-part-2-accurate-balanced-up-to-date-information-about-down-syndrome/
- Leach, M. W. (2016). The Down Syndrome Information Act: Balancing the Advances of Prenatal Testing Through Public Policy. *Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities*, *54*(2), 84–93. https://doi.org/10.1352/1934-9556-54.2.84
- Lehman, A., Leach, M., & Santoro, S. L. (2021). Delivering a new diagnosis of Down syndrome:

  Parent experience. *American Journal of Medical Genetics Part A*, 185(12), 3615–3622.

  https://doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.a.62408
- Lettercase The National Center for Prenatal and Postnatal Resources. (n.d.). Retrieved February 10, 2023, from https://www.lettercase.org/
- Levis, D. M., Harris, S., Whitehead, N., Moultrie, R., Duwe, K., & Rasmussen, S. A. (2012).

  Women's knowledge, attitudes, and beliefs about Down syndrome: A qualitative research study. *American Journal of Medical Genetics Part A*, 158A(6), 1355–1362. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.a.35340

- Lincoln, Y., Lynham, S., & Guba, E. G. (2018). Paradigmatic controversies, contradictions, and emerging confluences, revisited. In N. K. Denzin, Y. S. Lincoln, M. D. Giardina, & G. S. Cannella (Eds.), *The SAGE handbook of qualitative research* (Fifth edition, pp. 108–150). SAGE.
- Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. G. (1985). *Naturalistic inquiry*. Sage Publications.
- Lombardo, P. A. (2010). *Three generations, no imbeciles: Eugenics, the Supreme Court and Buck v. Bell.* Baltimore.
- Masselink, C. E., LaBerge, N., & Detterbeck, A. (2021). Policy analysis on power standing systems. *Preventive Medicine Reports*, *24*, 101601. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pmedr.2021.101601
- May, C. P., Dein, A., & Ford, J. (2020). New insights into the formation and duration of flashbulb memories: Evidence from medical diagnosis memories. *Applied Cognitive Psychology*, 34(5), 1154–1165. https://doi.org/10.1002/acp.3704
- McNamara, E. (2018). *Eunice: The Kennedy who changed the world* (First Simon&Schuster hardcover edition). Simon & Schuster.
- MedlinePlus [Internet]. (2022, March 2). 47,XYY syndrome: MedlinePlus Genetics. National Library of Medicine. https://medlineplus.gov/genetics/condition/47xyy-syndrome/
- Meredith, S. (2016). *Delivering a Prenatal or Postnatal Diagnosis*. University of Kentucky. https://www.lettercase.org/delivering-a-prenatal-diagnosis/
- Meredith, S. (2017). *Understanding a Down Syndrome Diagnosis* (2nd ed.). Human Development Institute. https://resources.lettercase.org

- Meredith, S. (2021, January 17). Steps to Develop a Disability Advocacy Response to Vaccine

  Roll-Out Plans. *The National Center for Disability, Equity, and Intersectionality*.

  https://thinkequitable.com/state-vaccine-plan-advocacy/
- Meredith, S. (2022, August 15). *Prenatal Disability Education Summit Full Report The Prenatal Disability Education Summit.* Prenatal Disability Education Summit, Baltimore, MD. https://www.lettercase.org/summit-report/
- Meredith, S., Ayers, K., Michie, M., Leach, M., & Dinerstein, R. (2022). Impact of Dobbs Decision on Prenatal Disability Education and Support. *Helen: The Journal of Human Exceptionality*, *December*, 26–29. https://helenjournal.org/december-2022
- Meredith, S., Brackett, S., Diaz, K. M., Freeman, K. G., Huggins, E., Khan, H., Leach, M. W., Levitz, M., Michie, M., Onufer, J., Skotko, B. G., Smith, L., Nicole White, A., Waller, T., & Ayers, K. (2022). Recommendations to improve the patient experience and avoid bias when prenatal screening/testing. *Disability and Health Journal*, 101401.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dhjo.2022.101401
- Meredith, S., Kaposy, C., Miller, V. J., Allyse, M., Chandrasekharan, S., Michie, M., & on behalf of the Prenatal Testing PAG Coalition. (2016). Impact of the increased adoption of prenatal cfDNA screening on non-profit patient advocacy organizations in the United States:
   Impact of prenatal cfDNA screening on non-profit patient organizations. *Prenatal Diagnosis*, 36(8), 714–719. https://doi.org/10.1002/pd.4849
- Meredith, S., & Weiss, S. (2023, November 17). *Improving Trauma & Disability Bias in Prenatal Screening*. Helen: The Journal of Human Exceptionality.

- https://helenjournal.org/november-2023/trauma-and-disability-bias-in-prenatal-screening-how-do-we-improve-it
- Meredith, S., Weiss, S., Kleinert, H. L., & Tyrrell, C. A. (2023). The impact of implicit and explicit bias about disabilities on parent experiences and information provided during prenatal screening and testing. *Disability and Health Journal*, 101514.

  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dhjo.2023.101514
- Meredith, S., & Wright, N. D. (2023). Disseminating Patient-Centered Outcomes Research Results about Disabilities to Black and Hispanic New and Expectant Parents. University of Kentucky.
  - https://docs.google.com/viewerng/viewer?url=https://www.lettercase.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/12/PCORIWhitePaper\_Medical\_11.30.2023.pdf&hl=en
- Mitra, M., Clements, K. M., Zhang, J., Iezzoni, L. I., Smeltzer, S. C., & Long-Bellil, L. M. (2015).
   Maternal Characteristics, Pregnancy Complications, and Adverse Birth Outcomes Among
   Women With Disabilities. *Medical Care*, 53(12), 1027–1032.
   https://doi.org/10.1097/MLR.000000000000000427
- Mizner, A. K.-M., Susan. (2020, January 14). The Offensive Hypocrisy of Banning Abortion for a Down Syndrome Diagnosis | ACLU. *American Civil Liberties Union*.

  https://www.aclu.org/news/disability-rights/the-offensive-hypocrisy-of-banning-abortion-for-a-down-syndrome-diagnosis
- Mwachofi, A. K. (2017). A comparative analysis of pregnancy outcomes for women with and without disabilities. *Journal of Health Disparities Research and Practice*, *10*(1), 28–48. https://digitalscholarship.unlv.edu/jhdrp/vol10/iss1/3

- National Council on Disability. (2019a). *Genetic Testing and the Rush to Perfection* (Bioethics and Disability Series). https://www.ncd.gov/report/genetic-testing-and-the-rush-to-perfection/
- National Council on Disability. (2019b). *Quality-Adjusted Life Years and the Devaluation of Life*with Disability: Part of the Bioethics and Disability Series (Bioethics and Disability Series).
- National Society of Genetic Counselors. (2024). *43rd Annual Conference Schedule*. NSGC. https://www.nsgc.org/AnnualConferenceSchedule
- Natoli, J. L., Ackerman, D. L., McDermott, S., & Edwards, J. G. (2012). Prenatal diagnosis of Down syndrome: A systematic review of termination rates (1995–2011). *Prenatal Diagnosis*, 32(2), 142–153. https://doi.org/10.1002/pd.2910
- NCD announces discussions on disability health issues and public comment opportunity at upcoming meeting. (2023, June 30). https://ncd.gov/
- Nelson Goff, B. S., Springer, N., Foote, L. C., Frantz, C., Peak, M., Tracy, C., Veh, T., Bentley, G. E., & Cross, K. A. (2013). Receiving the Initial Down Syndrome Diagnosis: A Comparison of Prenatal and Postnatal Parent Group Experiences. *Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities*, 51(6), 446–457. https://doi.org/10.1352/1934-9556-51.6.446
- Newsroom. (2019, January 2). 2019-01: Non-Invasive Prenatal Testing Covered By Medicaid

  Beginning Feb. 1, 2019. Louisiana Healthcare Connections.

  https://www.louisianahealthconnect.com/newsroom/2019-01--non-invasive-prenatal-testing-covered-by-medicaid-begin.html
- Nielsen, K. E. (2012). A disability history of the United States (Paperback edition). Beacon Press.

- NIH designates people with disabilities as a population with health disparities. (2023,

  September 25). National Institutes of Health (NIH). https://www.nih.gov/news-events/news-releases/nih-designates-people-disabilities-population-health-disparities
- NSGC > POLICY > Position Statements. (n.d.). Retrieved February 3, 2024, from https://www.nsgc.org/POLICY/Position-Statements
- Online Survey Software | Qualtrics Survey Solutions. (n.d.). Retrieved January 15, 2024, from https://nihodoercomm.az1.qualtrics.com/jfe/form/SV\_eypqaXlx2j1lY9T?Q\_CHL=si&Q\_C anScreenCapture=1.
- Owen, G. (2014). Qualitative Methods in Higher Education Policy Analysis: Using Interviews and Document Analysis. *The Qualitative Report*. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2014.1211
- Palomaki, G. E., Knight, G. J., Ashwood, E. R., Best, R. G., & Haddow, J. E. (2013). Screening for

  Down Syndrome in the United States: Results of Surveys in 2011 and 2012. *Archives of Pathology & Laboratory Medicine*, *137*(7), 921–926. https://doi.org/10.5858/arpa.2012-0319-CP
- Parens, E., & Asch, A. (1999). The disability rights critique of prenatal genetic testing. Reflections and Recommendations. *The Hastings Center Report*, *29*(5), S1-22.
- Parens, E., & Asch, A. (Eds.). (2000). *Prenatal testing and disability rights*. Georgetown University Press.
- Payne, C. (2013). *Welcome to the "Delivering the Diagnosis" Committee*. Spina Bifida Association.

- PCORI. (2014, June 26). *Our Funding*. Our Funding | PCORI. https://www.pcori.org/about/about-pcori/financials-and-reports/our-funding
- Permanent Contraception: Ethical Issues and Considerations: ACOG Committee Statement No.

  8. (2024). Obstetrics & Gynecology, 143(2), e31–e39.

  https://doi.org/10.1097/AOG.000000000005474
- Piepmeier, A., Estreich, G., & Adams, R. (2021). *Unexpected: Parenting, prenatal testing, and Down syndrome*. New York University Press.
- Pottie, K., Welch, V., Morton, R., Akl, E. A., Eslava-Schmalbach, J. H., Katikireddi, V., Singh, J., Moja, L., Lang, E., Magrini, N., Thabane, L., Stanev, R., Matovinovic, E., Snellman, A., Briel, M., Shea, B., Tugwell, P., Schunemann, H., Guyatt, G., & Alonso-Coello, P. (2017).

  GRADE equity guidelines 4: Considering health equity in GRADE guideline development: evidence to decision process. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, *90*, 84–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclinepi.2017.08.001
- Powell, R. M., Andrews, E. E., & Ayers, K. B. (2021). Becoming a disabled parent: Eliminating access barriers to health care before, during, and after pregnancy. In *Tulane Law Review* (Vol. 96, p. 369).
- Rayburn, W. F., Klagholz, J. C., Murray-Krezan, C., Dowell, L. E., & Strunk, A. L. (2012).

  Distribution of American Congress of Obstetricians and Gynecologists Fellows and Junior Fellows in Practice in the United States: *Obstetrics & Gynecology*, *119*(5), 1017–1022.

  https://doi.org/10.1097/AOG.0b013e31824cfe50

- Reed, A., & Meredith, S. (2020). Shaping Contexts and Developing Invitational Ethos in Response to Medical Authority: An Interview Study of Women Down Syndrome Advocates. Rhetoric of Health & Medicine.
- Rep. Smith, A. [R-N.-3. (2023, June 9). *Titles H.R.3876 118th Congress (2023-2024): Access to Genetic Counselor Services Act of 2023* (2023-06-06) [Legislation].

  https://www.congress.gov/bill/118th-congress/house-bill/3876/titles
- Ritchie, J., & Spencer, L. (2002). Qualitative Data Analysis for Applied Policy Research. In *The Qualitative Researcher's Companion* (pp. 305–329). SAGE Publications, Inc.
- Roesner, N., Jamal, L., Wasserman, D., & Berkman, B. E. (2022). Reason-Based Abortion Bans,

  Disability Rights, and the Future of Prenatal Genetic Testing. *American Journal of Law & Medicine*, 48(2–3), 187–199. https://doi.org/10.1017/amj.2022.21
- Rubeis, G., & Steger, F. (2019). A burden from birth? Non-invasive prenatal testing and the stigmatization of people with disabilities. *Bioethics*, *33*(1), 91–97. https://doi.org/10.1111/bioe.12518
- Rubin, H., & Rubin, I. (2005). *Qualitative Interviewing (2nd ed.): The Art of Hearing Data*. SAGE Publications, Inc. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781452226651
- Rudolph, L., Ben-Moshe, K., Caplan, J., & Dillon, L. (2012). *Health in All Policies: A Guide for State*and Local Governments. American Public Health Association and Public Health Institute.

  https://www.apha.org/-
- Rutherford, A. (2023). *Control: The dark history and troubling present of eugenics* (First American edition). W.W. Norton & Company.

/media/Files/PDF/factsheets/Health inAll Policies Guide 169pages.ashx

- Saldaña, J. (2021). *The coding manual for qualitative researchers* (4E [Fourth edition]). SAGE Publishing Inc.
- Samango-Sprouse, C., & National Organization for Rare Disorders (NORD). (2020, July 24). *47,*XXY (Klinefelter Syndrome)—Symptoms, Causes, Treatment. Rarediseases.Org.

  https://rarediseases.org/rare-diseases/47-xxy-klinefelter-syndrome/
- Sanborn, E., & Patterson, A. R. (2014). Disability training in the genetic counseling curricula:

  Bridging the gap between genetic counselors and the disability community. *American Journal of Medical Genetics Part A*, 164(8), 1909–1915.

  https://doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.a.36613
- Sanford, B. H., Labbad, G., Hersh, A. R., Heshmat, A., & Hasley, S. (2021). Leveraging American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists Guidelines for Point-of-Care Decision Support in Obstetrics. *Applied Clinical Informatics*, *12*(04), 800–807. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0041-1733933
- Santoro, J. D., Yedla, M., Lazzareschi, D. V., & Whitgob, E. E. (2017). Disability in US medical education: Disparities, programmes and future directions. *Health Education Journal*, 76(6), 753–759. https://doi.org/10.1177/0017896917712299
- Schwartz, E., & Vellody, K. (2016). Prenatal Risk Assessment and Diagnosis of Down Syndrome:

  Strategies for Communicating Well with Patients. *AMA Journal of Ethics*, *18*(4), 359–364.

  https://doi.org/10.1001/journalofethics.2016.18.4.ecas1-1604
- Shakespeare, T., & Hull, R. J. (2018). Termination of Pregnancy After Non-Invasive Prenatal Testing (NIPT): Ethical Considerations. *Journal of Practical Ethics*, *6*(2), 32–54.

- Shakespeare, T. W. (2011). Choices, reasons and feelings: Prenatal diagnosis as disability dilemma. *Alter*, *5*(1), 37–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.alter.2010.11.001
- Sheets, K. B., Best, R. G., Brasington, C. K., & Will, M. C. (2011). Balanced information about

  Down syndrome: What is essential? *American Journal of Medical Genetics Part A*, 155(6),

  1246–1257. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.a.34018
- Sheets, K. B., Crissman, B. G., Feist, C. D., Sell, S. L., Johnson, L. R., Donahue, K. C., Masser-Frye, D., Brookshire, G. S., Carre, A. M., LaGrave, D., & Brasington, C. K. (2011). Practice Guidelines for Communicating a Prenatal or Postnatal Diagnosis of Down Syndrome:

  Recommendations of the National Society of Genetic Counselors. *Journal of Genetic Counseling*, 20(5), 432–441. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10897-011-9375-8
- Skotko, B. G. (2005). Prenatally diagnosed Down syndrome: Mothers who continued their pregnancies evaluate their health care providers. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 192(3), 670–677. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajog.2004.11.001
- Skotko, B. G., Allyse, M. A., Bajaj, K., Best, R. G., Klugman, S., Leach, M., Meredith, S., Michie, M., Stoll, K., & Gregg, A. R. (2019). Adherence of cell-free DNA noninvasive prenatal screens to ACMG recommendations. *Genetics in Medicine*, *21*(10), 2285–2292. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41436-019-0485-2
- Skotko, B. G., Kishnani, P. S., Capone, G. T., & for the Down Syndrome Diagnosis Study Group.

  (2009). Prenatal diagnosis of Down syndrome: How best to deliver the news. *American Journal of Medical Genetics Part A*, 149A(11), 2361–2367.

  https://doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.a.33082

- Skotko, B. G., Levine, S. P., & Goldstein, R. (2011a). Having a son or daughter with Down syndrome: Perspectives from mothers and fathers. *American Journal of Medical Genetics*Part A, 155(10), 2335–2347. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.a.34293
- Skotko, B. G., Levine, S. P., & Goldstein, R. (2011b). Self-perceptions from people with Down syndrome. *American Journal of Medical Genetics Part A*, *155*(10), 2360–2369. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.a.34235
- SMFM. (2024a). SMFM 2024 Pregnancy Meeting Schedule. SMFM 2024 Pregnancy Meeting. https://smfm2024.eventscribe.net/agenda.asp?pfp=Browse%20By%20Day
- SMFM, B. K.-K. (2024b). Equity. https://www.smfm.org/what-is-the-society/equity
- Society of Maternal Fetal Medicine. (n.d.). *Publications & Guidelines | SMFM.org—The Society*for Maternal-Fetal Medicine. Retrieved December 30, 2023, from

  https://www.smfm.org/publications/183-cell-free-dna-screening-is-not-a-simple-blood-test
- Starke, M., Wikland, K. A., & Möller, A. (2002). Parents' experiences of receiving the diagnosis of Turner syndrome: An explorative and retrospective study. *Patient Education and Counseling*, 47(4), 347–354. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0738-3991(02)00010-1
- Stramondo, J. A. (2020). Disability and the Damaging Master Narrative of an Open Future.

  Hastings Center Report, 50, S30–S36. https://doi.org/10.1002/hast.1153
- Szabo, L. (2013, May 1). With Down syndrome diagnoses comes a wrenching choice. *USA TODAY*. https://www.usatoday.com/story/news/nation/2013/05/01/prenatal-tests-down-syndrome/2051237/

- Text of S. 1810 (110th): Prenatally and Postnatally Diagnosed Conditions Awareness Act (Passed Congress version). (2007, July 18). GovTrack.Us.

  https://www.govtrack.us/congress/bills/110/s1810/text
- The Down Syndrome Community's Abortion Rift | Matthew Hennessey. (2012a, November 29).

  First Things. https://www.firstthings.com/web-exclusives/2012/11/the-down-syndrome-communitys-abortion-rift
- The Down Syndrome Community's Abortion Rift | Matthew Hennessey. (2012b, November 29).

  First Things. https://www.firstthings.com/web-exclusives/2012/11/the-down-syndrome-communitys-abortion-rift
- Thomas, G. M., & Rothman, B. K. (2016). Keeping the Backdoor to Eugenics Ajar?: Disability and the Future of Prenatal Screening. *AMA Journal of Ethics*, *18*(4), 406–415. https://doi.org/10.1001/journalofethics.2016.18.4.stas1-1604
- Turner Syndrome—Symptoms, Causes, Treatment | NORD. (n.d.). Retrieved January 13, 2024, from https://rarediseases.org/rare-diseases/turner-syndrome/
- U.S. Senate: Edward M. (Ted) Kennedy: A Featured Biography. (n.d.). Retrieved October 6, 2023, from
  - https://www.senate.gov/senators/FeaturedBios/Featured\_Bio\_KennedyEdwardTed.htm
- Walani, S. R., & Biermann, J. (2017). March of Dimes Foundation: Leading the way to birth defects prevention. *Public Health Reviews*, *38*(1), 12, s40985-017-0058–3. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40985-017-0058-3

- Walker, L. V., Miller, V. J., & Dalton, V. K. (2008). The health-care experiences of families given the prenatal diagnosis of trisomy 18. *Journal of Perinatology*, 28(1), 12–19. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.jp.7211860
- Watson, M. J., Watson, L. F., Bell, R. J., Halliday, J. L., Burford, N., & Brennecke, S. P. (1999). A randomized community intervention trial to increase awareness and knowledge of the role of periconceptional folate in women of child-bearing age: The role of periconceptional folate. *Health Expectations*, *2*(4), 255–265.

  https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1369-6513.1999.00064.x
- Wood, E. (2008, November 24). *Activists hope new law reduces Down abortions | Baptist Press*.

  Https://Www.Baptistpress.Com/. https://www.baptistpress.com/resource-library/news/activists-hope-new-law-reduces-down-abortions/

# Appendix 1: Potential Interviewees:

- Andrew Imparato: Former Chief of Staff for Democratic Senator, Former President of
  the American Association of People with Disabilities, Former Director of the
  Association of University Centers on Disability, Executive Director at Disability Rights
  California, and person who identifies as having a person with a disability (speaking in
  personal capacity)
- 2. Madeleine Will: Former Policy Director of the National Down Syndrome Congress,
  Former Directors of OSERS, Organizer of Down Syndrome Consensus Group, and
  Mother of a person with Down syndrome (speaking in personal capacity)
- David Hoppe: Former Chief of Staff for Republican Members of the House and Senate and Father of a Person with Down Syndrome (speaking in personal capacity)
- 4. Senate Staff 1 (speaking in personal capacity)
- 5. Senate Staff 3 (Democrat) (speaking in personal capacity)
- Heather Sachs: National Down Syndrome Congress Policy Director, Mother of a Person with Down Syndrome) (speaking in personal capacity)
- Colleen Payne: Staff at the Spina Bifida Association and Mother of a Person with Spina
   Bifida (speaking in personal capacity)
- 8. Senate Staff 2 (Republican) (speaking in personal capacity)
- Crystal Lotterberry (Director of the national Black Down Syndrome Association, Mother of Person with Down Syndrome)
- 10. John Richardson (NSGC Policy Director) (<a href="mailto:jrichardson@nsgc.org">jrichardson@nsgc.org</a>)

# Appendix 2: Interview guide

- Recent research we conducted found that most expectant parents are not receiving accurate, balanced, and up-to-date information from obstetricians when receiving prenatal screening results suggesting a possible diagnosis of a genetic condition.
  - a. What policy solutions do you think could help address that information gap?
  - b. What national or medical organizational solutions do you think could help address that information gap?
- 2. Recent research we conducted also found that most expectant parents described that their obstetricians conveyed implicit or explicit bias against disabilities when receiving prenatal screening results suggesting a possible diagnosis of a genetic condition?
  - a. What policy solutions do you think could help address that bias?
  - b. What organizational solutions do you think could help address that issue?
- 3. What criteria would we use to determine whether these federal or organizational policies have been effective?
- 4. Are the policy solutions we discussed politically feasible, cost efficient, sustainable, equitable or fair? Do you have any concerns or feel more hopeful about certain solutions?
- 5. What could be the potential costs and benefits of the solutions we discussed?
- 6. What would be the positives and negatives of the solutions we discussed?
- 7. What solution do you think would be most effective?

# Appendix 3: Potential Legislative Champions

This chart is based on information listed about legislators in billtrack50.com. Legislators determined to offer broad disability support were identified if they sponsored three or more pieces of legislation related to disability rights and belonged to the Down syndrome or Disability caucus. Crossing party lines was determined if Democrats co-sponsored the Charlotte Woodward Organ Transplant Discrimination Prevention Act authored by a Republican or if Republicans supported disability health legislation authored by Democrats.

Name	House /Senat e	Party	State	Disability Connection	Crosses Party Lines	Introduces legislation
Bob Casey	S	D	PA	Broad disability support and introduced REAADI for Disasters Act Real Emergency Access for Aging and Disability Inclusion for Disasters Act and RISE Act Respond, Innovate, Succeed, and Empower Act		Y
Tammy Duckworth	S	D	IL	Introduced reproductive healthcare bill for PWD and Air Carrier Access Amendments Act of 2023		Y
Patty Murray	S	D	WA	Introduced reproductive healthcare bill for PWD		Υ
Maggie Hassan	S	D	NH	Parent of a child with cerebral palsy and wrote letter of support for childcare access for parents of children with disabilities		Υ

Chris Van Hollen	S	D	MD	Broad disability support and introduced IDEA Full Funding Act and Keep Our PACT Act Keep Our Promise to America's Children and Teachers Act	Υ
Michael Bennet	S	D	СО	Broad disability support and introduced Latonya Reeves Freedom Act of 2023	Υ
John Fetterman	S	D	PA	Broad disability support	
Kirsten Gillibrand	S	D	NY	Broad disability support	
Tim Kaine	S	D	VA	Broad disability support	
Christopher Murphy	S	D	СТ	Broad disability support and introduced Keeping All Students Safe Act	Υ
Chris Coons	S	D	DE	Introduced bipartisan legislation for student loan forgiveness of PWD	Υ
Robert Menendez	S	D	NJ	Introduced bipartisan International Children with Disabilities Protection Act in US Congress	Y
Jon Tester	S	D	MT	Introduced Major Richard Star Act	
Bill Cassidy	S	R	LA	Support of Social Security legislation for PWD	Y
Rob Portman	S	R	ОН	Bipartisan legislation for student loan forgiveness of PWD	
Mike Braun	S	R	IN	Bipartisan legislation for student loan forgiveness of PWD	
Jerry Moran	S	R	KS	Introduced International Children	Υ

				with Dischilities		
				with Disabilities		
				Protection Act in US		
Angua King	_		NAT.	Congress		
Angus King	S		ME	Bipartisan legislation		
				for student loan		
		_		forgiveness of PWD	.,	
Brian Fitzpatrick	Н	R	PA	Disability Caucus Co-	Υ	Υ
				Chair		
Cathy McMorris-	Н	R	WA	Parent of a child with	Υ	
Rodgers				DS and broad support		
				of disability legislation		
Marc Molinaro	Н	R	NY	Broad disability		
				support and co-		
				sponsoring legislation.		
Kat Cammack	Н	R	FL	Introduced Charlotte		
				Woodward Organ		
				Transplant		
				Discrimination		
				Prevention Act		
Pete Sessions	Н	R	TX	Broad disability		
				support.		
Glenn Thompson	Н	R	PA	Broad disability		
				support.		
Bryan Steil	Н	R	WI	Broad disability		
				support.		
Christopher Smith	Н	R	NJ	Broad disability		
				support.		
John Rutherford	Н	R	FL	Broad disability		
				support.		
Doug Lamborn	Н	R	CO	Moderate disability		
				support.		
Andrew Garbarino	Н	R	NY	Broad disability		
				support.		
Garland "Doug"	Н	R	KY	Moderate disability		
Barr				support.		
Stephanie Bice	Н	R	ОК	Broad disability		
				support.		<u>                                      </u>
Darrell Issa	Н	R	CA	Moderate disability		
				support.		
Mariannette Miller-	Н	R	IA	Broad disability		
Meeks				support.		
Pete Stauber	Н	R	MN	Broad disability	Υ	
				support.		
	1	1	1	1-1	I .	

5 111 51 11				D. 1.111. 0	
Debbie Dingell	Н	D	MI	Disability Caucus Co-	Υ
				Chair and introduced	
				Charlotte Woodward	
				Organ Transplant	
				Discrimination	
				Prevention Act	
Ayanna Pressley	Н	D	MA	Introduced	Υ
				reproductive	
				healthcare bill for PWD	
				and disability justice	
				amendments	
Cori Bush	Н	D	MO	Introduced	Υ
				reproductive	
				healthcare bill for PWD	
Seth Moulton	Н	D	MA	Broad disability	Υ
				support.	
Eleanor Norton	Н	D	DC	Broad disability	
				support.	
David Trone	Н	D	MD	Broad disability	
				support.	
Darren Soto	Н	D	FL	Moderate disability	
				support.	
Adam Smith	Н	D	WA	Broad disability	
				support.	
Mark Pocan	Н	D	WI	Broad disability	
				support.	
Jamie Raskin	Н	D	MD	Broad disability	
				support.	
C.A. Ruppersberger	Н	D	MD	Broad disability	
				support.	
James McGovern	Н	D	MA	Broad disability	
				support.	
Zoe Lofgren	Н	D	CA	Broad disability	
				support.	
Ted Lieu	Н	D	CA	Broad disability	
				support.	
Josh Gottheimer	Н	D	NJ	Broad disability	
				support.	
Lloyd Doggett	Н	D	TX	Moderate disability	Υ
. 55				support.	
Rosa DeLauro	Н	D	СТ	Moderate disability	
				support.	
				support.	

Diana DeGette	Н	D	СО	Broad disability support.		
Steve Cohen	Н	D	TN	Broad disability	Υ	Υ
Steve Conen	П	0	IIN	support and introduced	I	1
				Latonya Reeves		
				Freedom Act of 2023		
Tony Cardenas	Н	D	CA	Broad disability		
Tony Cardenas	' '			support.		
Salud Carbajal	Н	D	CA	Broad disability		
Saraa Carbajar	' '			support.		
Julia Brownley	Н	D	CA	Broad disability		
,				support.		
Jared Huffman	Н	D	CA	Broad disability		Υ
				support.		
Angela Craig	Н	D	MN	Broad disability	Υ	
				support.		
Jason Crow	Н	D	СО	Broad disability	Υ	
				support.		
Donald Davis	Н	D	NC	Broad disability	Υ	
				support.		
Marie	Н	D	WA	Broad disability	Υ	
Gluesenkamp Perez				support.		
Ann Kuster	Н	D	NH	Broad disability	Υ	
				support.		
Dina Titus	Н	D	NV	Introduced Air Carrier		Υ
				Access Amendments		
				Act of 2023		
Suzanne Lee	Н	D	NV	Introduced Keep Our		Υ
				PACT Act Keep Our		
				Promise to America's		
				Children and Teachers		
				Act		
Lisa Rochester	Н	D	DE	Broad disability	Υ	
D. I		<u> </u>		support.		
Rebecca Sherrill	Н	D	NJ	Broad disability	Υ	
D. IT. I			ND/	support.	\ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \	
Paul Tonko	Н	D	NY	Broad disability	Υ	
Dalahir M/			F1	support.	\ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \	
Debbie Wasserman	Н	D	FL	Broad disability	Υ	
Schultz	]		1	support.		

# Appendix 4: Index

See Attachment.

# Appendix 5: Analytical Memo

Stephanie Meredith: December 1, 2023

## **Background:**

### **Research Questions**

- 3. What federal and organizational policies can be implemented, expanded, or funded to improve patient prenatal screening experiences?
- 4. What federal and organizational policies can be implemented, expanded, or funded to address disability bias in genetics/obstetrics?

## Positionality on Methods and Sampling:

## Participant Recruitment

Because of my deep connections in the genetics and disability communities, I was able to send email invitations to schedule interviews with colleagues who are policy representatives for national disability and genetics organizations, disability policy experts, and I was able to use snowball sampling to schedule a meeting with Republican Senate staff. Originally, the plan was to interview one Republican House member involved in disability issues and one Democrat House member involved in disability issues. However, I was unable to schedule meetings with House of Representative staff because I was not in the district of the ideal interviewees and did not receive responses back from them even after multiple solicitations. One declined to be interviewed due to time constraints. This is part of the challenge that will be addressed in the policy analysis: the lack of federal policy leadership on this issue and broken federal system. However, I was able to interview the Chief of Staff for a former Speaker of the House of Representatives to get a broad overview of that demographic.

## Participant Demographics

Ten experts who were either a medical organization leader, community leader, federal policy expert, or representative of a national advocacy organization participated in the interviews. Of the ten participants, 3 were current Senate staff, 1 was a former House Chief of Staff and disability community leader, 1 was a policy expert from a national genetics organization, 3 were national disability advocacy leaders, and 2 were leaders in the disability community. 50% were in the 50-64-year age group, and 10% were African American. 40% were Male, and 60% were female. All participants had some level of higher education with representation across the US. Additionally, 1 identified as a person with a disability 7 identified as immediate family members of a person with a disability, and 2 did not have an immediate personal connection to the disability community.

## **Interview Structure**

There were 10 semi-structured interviews conducted over Zoom with the recordings stored on the GSU Dropbox data storage system. The consent form was read to the participants at the beginning of each interview. Additionally, I took observational notes in a notebook during the interview documenting the behavior of participants.

## **Data Cleaning**

For the semi-structured interview transcripts, we used the closed caption feature on Zoom to create an initial draft of the transcripts and then listened to the audio to correct any mistakes and to eliminate duplicate and extraneous words. We also double checked the meaning of words that were difficult to understand and combined all quotes from one person that were separated with time stamps. After cleaning the data and listening to the audio a second time, I created a list of seven major inductively determined themes, which were also informed by the literature scan to place the data in the context of existing literature. Additionally, I utilized deductive categories that align with the research questions, including Medical Organization Actions, Disability Advocacy Actions, Policy Actions; and Bardach's model for policy analysis, including funding options, measures of effectiveness, cost, challenges/barriers, benefits, positives, and negatives. I inductively determined themes and subthemes for each of these categories using grounded theory. Further, I separately catalogued the political themes and subthemes to inform more nuanced approaches. Moreover, I separately pulled out the values and most effective solutions identified by each participant.

The semi-structured interview added up to 116 transcription pages. The data analysis process began by inductively creating themes and subthemes in each cluster category, which had been deductively pre-determined. 78 total intermediate axial themes were identified in the following categories:

Major Themes: 7

• Medical Organization Action Themes: 3

Disability Organization Action Themes: 7

Policy Action Themes: 10

Funding Options: 4Effectiveness: 11

Cost: 5

• Challenges/Barriers: 14

Benefits: 9Positives: 3Negatives: 1

• Political: 4 (There were originally 8, but 4 were subsequently reassigned as Challenge codes.)

Subsequently, as outlined in the Framework policy analysis model, I assigned letters/numbers to each theme/subtheme (1.a., 1.b., 1.b.i, etc.) and categorized each statement in the transcript

with the assigned number/letter/roman numeral written in the margin. Additionally, I highlighted particularly powerful quotes. The only data not coded was background data used to inform the demographics and consent dialogue. Next, I iteratively revised the themes and merged codes. The final step in the data analysis was to create a framework index where data from the interviews was sorted and tabulated in a table matrix with rows representing themes and subthemes and columns representing participants. I also cited the original transcript using page numbers, and the page numbers with powerful quotes pertaining to each theme were bolded in red.

## **Challenges**

Because of my personal and professional working relationships with many of the participants, I was able to receive much more candid responses; however, the collegial relationship also resulted in some deep dive conversations that veered significantly from the original interview questions. However, I believe the richness of the content was worth the trade-off. In addition, some of the questions seemed long at the end, particularly when discussing the list of values, so I found it helpful to post the last 5 questions in the chat.

## **Trustworthiness and Rigor**

To affirm the rigor and trustworthiness of the data collection and analysis, I utilized recommended practices as outlined in Lincoln and Guba's "four criteria of trustworthiness"—namely credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability.

- To establish credibility and confirm the validity of the research findings, I outlined the
  credentials of all participants, gave participants the opportunity to review and validate
  findings to allow for member checking, outlined my own prolonged engagement in the
  field in a positionality statement, and used multiple sources to triangulate the data (Y. S.
  Lincoln & Guba, 1985).
- 2. Transferability (the ability to replicate the context) was achieved by providing rich descriptions of the research context, participants, and methods in an analytical memo (Y. S. Lincoln & Guba, 1985). Likewise, the analytical memo included detailed documentation about the research process and decisions to establish dependability based on the stability and consistency of the research findings over time and with different researchers (Y. S. Lincoln & Guba, 1985).
  - 1. Finally, **confirmability** or the degree to which the research findings are shaped by the participants and the context rather than my biases and values were validated through peer debriefing with my dissertation committee that included experts in the field; the use of quotations and thick descriptions in the text to highlight key points and allow readers to confirm the validity of the findings; and a transparent audit trail and documentation for how codes and themes were determined in a codebook that documents each theme and sub-theme to be assigned during indexing (Y. S. Lincoln & Guba, 1985). Moreover, I shared my reflexivity statement and acknowledged my own biases throughout the analysis as not only a researcher but an active participant in the field.

Summarily, the analysis of the qualitative data practically maintained rigor during the qualitative process as outlined by Johnny Saldaña, and informed by Lincoln and Guba, through

systematic coding with an audit trail (using the indexing and framework matrix of the Framework Method) with well-defined code categories and themes documented in a codebook; constant comparative analysis by iteratively evaluating the themes; transparent documentation of coding, themes, and interpretation in an analytical memo; peer debriefing with external reviewers; data saturation by interviewing a representative sample of participants; and clear reporting of results (Saldaña, 2021).

## **Reflexivity Statement**

Being the mother of a young adult with Down syndrome has profoundly shaped my identity as a disability rights advocate and as an academic. During the past two decades of experience with my son and the broader disability advocacy community, I have learned that the lives of people with disabilities are much more multi-dimensional, multi-layered, marginalized, and meaningful than the public often realizes. In my position as a mother and disability rights advocate, I'm immersed in the world of disability rights and disability, so I see the world through that lens—which could be perceived as a bias. However, I would posit that because we live in a society in which people with disabilities have experienced historic discrimination and stigma, the public typically has a bias against disability, including medical professionals. Therefore, the perspective of someone within the community is likely more balanced with real-life experience ... as we would expect from those with first-hand experience from different races, ethnicities, and socioeconomic backgrounds.

I had a positive diagnosis experience when I was 23 years old and learned about my son's diagnosis hours after he was born. The pediatrician neutrally explained the characteristics of Down syndrome, and the next day a parent support staff member at the Newborn Intensive Care Unit brought us a book about Down syndrome and showed us a photo of her son on a bike. This was a normalizing moment for us as first-time parents, and she connected us with supports and services right away. I was surprised when research showed this was not the experience for most new parents.(Skotko, 2005) Therefore, I am motivated by empathy for these other new and expectant parents to improve their diagnosis experiences so that they get the support and resources I received. I'm also deeply grateful for the medical providers who supported me, and I feel compassion for medical professionals who feel uncomfortable when delivering unexpected news. I want to provide them with the tools and resources they need to navigate that process as sensitively as possible.

As I conduct research about the families of people with disabilities, my first-hand experience parenting a person with a disability, advocating for disability rights, and supporting new and expectant parents for the past 20 years can be beneficial in knowing what research questions to frame about quality of life, diagnosis experiences, and supports and services. In addition, I have a unique advantage when seeking community-based participatory research partners and when interpreting data to discern how responses correspond to patterns of experiences and themes I've observed over the years while supporting hundreds of families. However, my experience can be a disadvantage among medical professionals who may perceive me as a biased advocate because I am genuinely skeptical of a strictly medical approach disability. I do believe we must acknowledge any medical issues associated with disabilities and address them, but I also believe that presenting disability in a social context is essential for a more complete picture to meet the needs of patients and present disability with equity.

Because of my personal morality and my ideals as a feminist and disability rights advocate, my beliefs about abortion are complicated and don't fit a traditional framework. Fundamentally, I feel empathy for all parties involved. I believe pregnant patients should have equitable access to prenatal screening technologies they want to utilize, and I did utilize prenatal screening for preparation in subsequent pregnancies. I also believe pregnant patients should receive the full spectrum of support and resources to cope with those results. My primary concern is ensuring that patients have access to the support, resources, and healthcare they need so that they are not alone and so that disabilities are presented equitably. I feel profound empathy for them as someone who has gone through that experience myself. I have also personally witnessed and experienced discrimination in health care, systemic ableism, and low societal expectations for my son, and I worry that the information provided to pregnant patients may be tainted by those same biases so that the reproductive decisions they make are based on outdated perceptions of a historically marginalized population. I also feel it is not my place to make pregnancy decisions for other people; my primary goal is to give them the resources they need to understand disabilities and feel empowered to make decisions that reflect their own values. In many ways, the fragile internal compromises I've made about abortion put me in a unique position to understand the doctors whose priority is to serve patients, the feminist advocates who fear encroachment on women's rights, and the disability rights advocates whose main priority is to ensure pregnant women receive accurate, up-to-date, and balanced information about genetic conditions.

Toward that end, I have been involved in many efforts over the past two decades to address the lack of balanced, accurate, and up-to-date information provided about genetic conditions and the clinical bias that perpetuates discrimination against people with disabilities as an author of patient education materials, a conference presenter, an educator, and a researcher. Indeed, many people who are disability rights advocates have lived experience as individuals and family members and can contribute perspectives about life with disabilities that are essential to prenatal screening conversations, and no one approaches this issue objectively. Therefore, all interested parties need to share their unique perspectives and be aware of potential bias whether they be disability rights advocates, medical professionals, scientists, or policy makers.

## **Background**

Further, I have personally witnessed and been involved in the advocacy fractures that can happen surrounding this issue when national disability organizations disagree about how to approach the abortion issue, who should lead the advocacy efforts, and what solutions are most appropriate. The dysfunction in the Down syndrome community and lack of cohesive approach makes it easier for medical and genetics organizations to absolve responsibility by pointing to the absence of clear messaging.

## **Study Information:**

Submission Type: Exempt Protocol Category 2

IRB Number: H24198

Reference Number: 377031

## **Initial Codes Identified:**

## 1. Major inductively derived themes:

- **a.** First point on life course critical for health equity for people with disabilities and caregivers (access to supports and services)
- b. Recognize people with disabilities are a minority population subject to discrimination.
  - i. Strong bias against people with disabilities conveyed by providers at diagnosis.
  - ii. Inequities exacerbated by race, ethnicity, and other intersectional identities.
- c. Parents of children with disabilities are experiencing emotional harm.
- d. Parents of children with disabilities not receiving critical information about social outcomes, support, and services.
- e. Lack of funding for work to address problems with diagnosis experiences.
- f. Professional medical orgs need to value disability perspective and people with disabilities.
- g. Much work has been done, but bad diagnosis experiences are still the norm.

# All other themes derived deductively and inductively based on the categories of the research questions and the Bardach Model:

## 2. Medical Organization Actions:

- a. Develop better organizational practices toward people with disabilities.
  - i. Collaborate with and include people with disabilities, including guideline development, and conferences.
  - ii. Workforce development of people with disabilities. Protected class.
  - iii. Feature genetic counselors at conferences.
  - iv. Need ethical and moral framework for addressing disability.
  - v. Determine strategies for disseminating patient education resources about disabilities to providers.
- b. Develop better organizational disability standards/guidelines.
  - i. Offer timely referrals to specialists like genetic counselors.
  - ii. Provide information about advocacy orgs.
  - iii. Develop consensus on how to deliver a diagnosis/screening results—informed by people with disabilities and their caregivers (related to 2.a.i)
  - iv. Convey how to avoid bias: Don't say sorry or assume bad news.
  - v. Provide information about supports and services and social model.
- c. Develop better medical education/clinical training about disability.
  - i. Value of people with disabilities
  - ii. Provide context of disability rights
  - iii. Cultural humility regarding disability and recognizing bias.
  - iv. Genetic counselors offer training to physicians in practice.
  - v. Hospital systems (DEI)

## 3. Disability Advocacy

- a. Advocate directly to ACOG to improve guidelines, training, and organizational practices.
  - i. Find multiple internal champions.
  - ii. No financial requirements
  - iii. [Observation] Advocacy orgs don't know how and are concerned about push-back [Ethan Saylor example]
- b. Advocate directly to state and federal funding agencies for grant prioritization.
- c. Advocate directly to foundations.
- d. Use advocacy strategies.
  - i. Thalidomide example—20 people
  - ii. Address as moral and ethical issue.
  - iii. Address as health equity issue.
  - iv. Share stories.
  - v. Collect data on referrals and diagnosis experiences.
  - vi. Do it annually until change is achieved?
- e. [Observation] Grassroots advocacy to impact patient satisfaction scores.
- f. Publish interdisciplinary publication of guidelines for delivering diagnoses and textbook.
- g. Advocate for people with disabilities to be included in any federal legislative or agency initiative involving health disparities.

## 4. Policy Actions:

- a. Make federal or state funding to organizations dependent on measures.
  - i. Mandatory disability training (medical schools and CMEs)
  - ii. Provision of education information about disabilities
  - iii. Including people with disabilities in guideline development
  - iv. Significant opposition would emerge.
  - v. [Observation] Could be used as a "stick" threat to bring people to the table and get media attention.
- b. Insurance parity bill
  - i. Not currently well written
  - ii. Bipartisan
  - iii. Equity issue: only private insurers
  - iv. No appropriation
  - v. Potential for labs to dominate information provided.
  - vi. lag in time.
- c. Financial incentives for certification on disability sensitivity for practices and organizations
  - i. Money challenge
  - ii. Appropriations opposition
  - iii. Possible through agencies
- d. Funding for National First Call (combine with j)

- e. Policies to broadly support people with disabilities.
- f. Statute requiring the provision of information [stick]
  - i. [Observation] Pro-life label would lead to opposition.
  - ii. [Observation] Information widely variable in quality between states.
- g. Congress can change bills that are derogatory or discriminatory to people with disabilities.
- h. Expand coverage for genetic counseling (Medicare)
- i. Reimburse clinicians for following certain guidelines [carrot]
- j. Use health disparities population funding designation to improve diagnosis experiences by giving grants to do the following.
  - i. researching experiences
  - ii. diversifying workforce
  - iii. grants to medical org to build disability cultural competence in clinicians through training and technical assistance [carrot]
- k. Funding resources for families that include social model of disability.
- I. Fund an interdisciplinary coalition that can develop guidelines, make dissemination and implementation plans, and develop resources.

## 5. Funding Options:

- a. Get funding through research grants (minority underserved population) from NIH.
- b. Get dissemination funding through CDC.
- c. OSERS and NIDDLR for training grants
- d. Funding to local orgs, ARC, DD council, P&A, UCEDDs (ACL)

## 6. Effective:

- a. When doctors do it right as part of culture
- b. Referrals to specialists
- c. Distribution of educational materials
- d. Tracking medical choices of parents (termination, surgery—prenatal or postnatal)
- e. Patient outreach to local orgs
- f. Studies of parent experiences
- g. Studies of provider knowledge and competence
- h. Change in ACOG guidelines.
- i. Medical org engagement with disability community
- j. Evaluation of the adoption of standards at institution and community-level
- k. How is curriculum embedded in medical schools—how many?
- I. Peer assessment by genetic counselors

### 7. Cost:

- a. Substantial emotional harm and mental anguish for parents. Include mental health in cost/benefit analysis.
  - i. Emotional harm to parents impacts relationships with doctors.
  - ii. Emotional harm impacts parenting

- iii. Emotional harm impacts individuals with disabilities
- b. Exacerbated health disparities for people with disabilities.
- c. Financial cost of education and training—estimated as both low and high.
- d. High political cost for politicians criticized about reproductive rights stance.

## 8. Challenges/Barriers

- a. Societal ableism problem
- b. Practical limitations of doctors (time, money)
- c. Doctors behind the times
- d. Arrogance of physicians.
- e. Scope of practice concerns
- f. Scientists can be hostile to the civil rights framing of disability.
- g. Advocacy organizations have limited funding and bandwidth to do work.
- h. Hard for people/professionals to keep up with innovation.
- i. Broken national government.

## 9. Benefits:

- a. healthier, more independent, more self-sufficient, self-determined group of adults with disabilities
- b. empower parents to make the best decisions for their child.
- c. Stronger relationships between families and providers
- d. Improved competence of clinicians to deliver a diagnosis and discuss disability.
- e. Improve medical profession disability perception.
- f. Reduce emotional harm through information and support.
- g. Possible lower termination rates
- h. Reduced experiences of bias and better access to resources

#### 10. Positives

- a. Greater awareness of issue at many levels: Congressional and administrative level; Organizational level; provider level
- b. Bringing together political parties on disability issues (P.f.vii)
- c. Bringing together medical and disability communities (P.f.vii)

The political codes were not initially included among the themes and subthemes for the Framework analysis index but were being used to explore the political nuances.

#### 1. Political:

- a. Politics: Laws don't work at changing behavior [Medical, Policy] Can provide incentives and punishments.
- Politics: Need policy champions who are willing to collaborate with disability community
  - i. Molinaro bill
  - ii. Be transparent with constant communication—develop trust.
  - iii. Disability rights has to be most central priority.

### c. Agencies

- i. Politics: Do not tell agencies what to so [Dem]
- ii. Politics: Working through agency can avoid legislative politics. [Advocacy]
- iii. Changing leadership can impact sustainability.

## d. Medical Providers

- i. Politics: Prescribing relationship between patient and healthcare providers [Dem]
- ii. Politics: [Observation] Republicans more open to requirement for physicians and regulation. Democrats opposed.
- iii. More pushback on political sticks than carrots from constituents. Observation: policymakers seem more willing to pursue sticks.
- iv. Politics: Be specific and collaborative about policy to alleviate concerns about scope creep [Med policy]
- v. Medical community and patients skeptical of parent organizations.
- vi. Powerful pharmaceutical lobby to resist regulation.

## e. Reproductive Rights

- i. Politics: Mired in pro-life/pro-choice. Pro-information. [Advocacy]
- ii. Politics: Federal policy action more difficult post-Dobbs
- iii. Politics: Pro-life Republicans need to support healthcare.
- iv. Politics: For pro-life: less likely to terminate
- v. Politics: For pro-choice: more resources to support people with disabilities across lifespan.
- vi. Politics: Use their motivation to accomplish purpose. [Advocacy]
- vii. Politics: State not federal when involving abortion. May be easier to start groundswell at state level.
- viii. Politics: Abortion bans make it harder. [Advocacy]

## f. General Politics

- i. Politics: Power of one senator/Amendment Demands [Dem]
- ii. Politics: More difficult with partisan/tribal politics
- iii. Politics: Hatred is more tolerated now. [Dem]
- iv. Politics: Baby steps are important.
- v. Politics: Be strategic in politics in what will move the needle. [Med policy]
- vi. Missing the policy window.
- vii. Policy can convey a message and facilitate collaboration even if never passed. Motivate people to come to the table.
- viii. Need to be moderate/centrist to have support of medical community.
- ix. Relieve anxiety of legislators
- x. Uncover opposition.
- xi. State laws.
- xii. Federal law already exists.
- g. Politics: DS Info bills have limited effectiveness. [Advocacy]
  - i. No requirement
  - ii. No funding
  - iii. Language and approach difficult to address problem.

- iv. Competing advocacy voices.
- h. Disability "p" politics
  - i. Politics: Disability org silos. [observation]
  - ii. Politics: Competing disability orgs.
  - iii. Politics: Disability community has more critical legislative priorities. [Advocacy]

## **Codes Merged and Added:**

## 1. Major inductively derived themes: [Why the issue is important]

- **a.** First point on life course critical for health equity for people with disabilities and caregivers (access to supports and services) and not just point of reproductive decision-making.
- b. Recognize people with disabilities are a minority population subject to discrimination.
  - i. Strong bias against people with disabilities conveyed by providers at diagnosis.
  - ii. Inequities exacerbated by race, ethnicity, and other intersectional identities.
- c. Parents of children with disabilities are experiencing emotional harm.
- d. Parents of children with disabilities not receiving critical information about social outcomes, support, and services.
- e. Lack of funding for work to address problems with diagnosis experiences.
- f. Professional medical orgs and public health need to value disability perspective and civil rights and include people with disabilities.
- g. Much work has been done, but bad diagnosis experiences are still the norm.

# All other themes derived deductively and inductively based on the categories of the research questions and the Bardach Model:

- 2. Medical Organization Actions: [What national medical organizations like ACOG and SMFM can do to improve diagnosis experiences]
  - a. Develop better organizational practices toward people with disabilities.
    - i. Collaborate with and include people with disabilities and other disciplines, including guideline development, conferences, and research: merged with original 2.a.iii to include genetic counselors and other disciplines and merged with original 2.b.iii since duplicative about collaborating on guidelines development.
    - ii. Workforce development of people with disabilities. Protected class.
    - iii. Need ethical and moral framework for addressing disability.
    - iv. Determine strategies for disseminating patient education resources about disabilities to providers and funding mechanisms.
  - b. Develop better organizational disability standards/guidelines.
    - i. Offer timely referrals to specialists like genetic counselors and tertiary care centers.

- ii. Provide information about advocacy orgs.
- iii. Convey how to avoid bias: Don't say sorry or assume bad news.
- iv. Provide information about supports and services and social model.
- c. Develop better medical education/clinical training about disability.
  - i. Value of people with disabilities
  - ii. Provide context of disability rights
  - iii. Cultural humility regarding disability and recognizing bias.
  - iv. Genetic counselors offer training to physicians in practice.
  - v. Hospital systems (DEI)

## 3. Disability Advocacy

- a. Advocate directly to ACOG to improve guidelines, training, and organizational practices.
  - i. Find multiple internal champions
    Related to 2.a.ii but distinct because 2.a.ii refers to medical organizations
    seeking disability advocacy workgroups and developing the workforce
    while 3.a.i refers to advocacy organizations developing internal
    champions at organizations. However, the strategies can be interrelated.
  - ii. [Observation] No financial requirements
  - iii. [Observation] Advocacy orgs don't know how and are concerned about push-back [Ethan Saylor example]
- b. Advocate directly to state and federal funding agencies for grant inclusion in health disparity initiatives.
  - Merged with former 3.g: Advocate for people with disabilities to be included in any federal legislative or agency initiative involving health disparities.
- c. Advocate directly to foundations.
- d. Use advocacy strategies.
  - i. Thalidomide example—20 people
  - ii. Address as moral and ethical issue.
  - iii. Address as health equity issue.
  - iv. Share stories.
  - v. Collect data on referrals and diagnosis experiences.
  - vi. Do it annually until change is achieved?
  - vii. Added: Be pro-info, not pro-life
- e. [Observation] Grassroots advocacy to impact patient satisfaction scores.
  - i. Added: Can become just a checklist
  - ii. Added: Fraud is possible
- f. Publish interdisciplinary publication of guidelines for delivering diagnoses and textbook.

## 4. Policy Actions:

- a. Make federal or state funding to organizations dependent on measures.
  - i. Mandatory disability training (medical schools and CMEs)
  - ii. Provision of resources about disabilities at diagnosis

- iii. Including people with disabilities in guideline development
- iv. Significant opposition would emerge.
- v. [Observation] Could be used as a "stick" threat to bring people to the table and get media attention.
- b. Insurance parity bill
  - i. Not currently well written
  - ii. Bipartisan
  - iii. Equity issue: only private insurers
  - iv. No appropriation
  - v. Potential for labs to dominate information provided.
  - vi. Added: lag in time
- c. Financial incentives for certification on disability sensitivity for practices and organizations
  - i. Merged 4.c.i and 4.c.ii: Money and appropriations challenge.
  - ii. Possible through agencies
- d. Policies to broadly support people with disabilities.
- e. Statute requiring the provision of information [stick]
  - i. [Observation] Pro-life label would lead to opposition.
  - ii. [Observation] Information widely variable in quality between states.
- f. Congress can change bills that are derogatory or discriminatory to people with disabilities.
- g. Expand coverage for genetic counseling (Medicare)
- h. Reimburse clinicians for following certain guidelines [carrot]
- i. Use health disparities population funding designation to improve diagnosis experiences by giving grants to do the following.
  - i. researching experiences
  - ii. diversifying workforce
  - iii. grants to medical org to build disability cultural competence in clinicians through training and technical assistance [carrot]
  - iv. Funding resources for families that include social model of disability.
  - v. Fund an interdisciplinary coalition that can develop guidelines, make dissemination and implementation plans, and develop resources.
  - vi. First Call technical assistance grant

    Merged former 4.d. Funding for National First Call
- j. Update federal resources.

## 5. Funding Options:

- a. Get funding through research grants (minority underserved population) from NIH.
- b. Get dissemination funding through CDC.
- c. OSERS and NIDDLR for training grants
- d. Funding to local orgs, ARC, DD council, P&A, UCEDDs (ACL)

## 6. Effective:

- a. When doctors do it right as part of culture
- b. Referrals to specialists
- c. Distribution of educational materials
- d. Tracking medical choices of parents (termination, surgery—prenatal or postnatal)
- e. Patient outreach to local orgs
- f. Studies of parent experiences
- g. Studies of provider knowledge and competence
- h. Change in ACOG guidelines.
- i. Medical org engagement with disability community
- j. Evaluation of the adoption of standards at institution and community-level
- k. How is curriculum embedded in medical schools—how many?
- I. Peer assessment by genetic counselors

### 7. Cost:

- a. Substantial emotional harm and mental anguish for parents. Include mental health in cost/benefit analysis.
  - i. Emotional harm to parents impacts relationships with doctors.
  - ii. Emotional harm impacts parenting
  - iii. Emotional harm impacts individuals with disabilities
- b. Exacerbated health disparities for people with disabilities.
- c. Financial cost of education and training—estimated as both low and high.
- d. High political cost for politicians criticized about reproductive rights stance.
- e. Added: Time cost for clinical training

## 8. Challenges/Barriers

- a. Societal ableism problem
- b. Practical limitations of doctors (time, money)
- c. Doctors behind the times on disability rights
- d. Arrogance of physicians.
- e. Scope of practice concerns
- f. Scientists can be hostile to the civil rights framing of disability.
- g. Advocacy organizations have limited funding and bandwidth to do work.
- h. Hard for people/professionals to keep up with innovation in genetics and disability.
- i. Broken national government.
- **j.** Change is slow.
- **k.** Abortion politics
  - Merged from former P.e policy code.
- Politics: Laws don't work at changing behavior [Medical, Policy] Can provide incentives and punishments.
  - Merged from former P.a policy code.
- m. Limited effectiveness of DS bills

  Merged from former P.g policy code.
- n. Dysfunction of disability orgs

## Merged from former P.h policy code.

## 9. Benefits:

- a. healthier, more independent, more self-sufficient, self-determined group of adults with disabilities
- b. empower parents to make the best decisions for their child through better resources and information.
  - Removed reference to resources from 9.f and 9.h to clarify.
- c. Stronger relationships between families and providers
- d. Improved competence of clinicians to deliver a diagnosis and discuss disability.
- e. Improve medical profession disability perception.
- f. Reduce emotional harm to patients.
- g. Possible lower termination rates
- h. Reduced experiences of bias to be more equitable and fairer to people with disabilities
- i. Added: Genetic counselors can help

### 10. Positives

- a. Greater awareness of issue at many levels: Congressional and administrative level; Organizational level; provider level
- b. Bringing together political parties on disability issues (P.f.vii)
- c. Bringing together medical and disability communities (P.f.vii)

## 11. Added: Negatives

a. Can't make informed treatment decisions.

Note: Four of the policy codes were recoded as Challenges due to the persistent mention of them as barriers.

### **Summaries:**

## **Most Important Values:**

- Measurable and quantifiable
- Efficacy/effectiveness/usefulness
- Equity
- Efficiency
- Cost
- Administrative robustness
- Political sustainability
- Sustainability
- Fairness
- Freedom: free markets, economic freedom; reproductive freedom
- Legality

- Political acceptability
- Robustness and improvability

## 1. MGM Values:

- a. Politically feasible [Extrapolated]
- b. Equity [Extrapolated]
- c. Cost efficient [Extrapolated]

## 2. CP Values:

- a. Equity
- b. Politically feasible

### 3. HS Values:

- a. Politically feasible [extrapolated]
- b. Cost efficient
- c. Equity
- d. Sustainability

## 4. CL Values:

- a. Politically feasible
- b. Sustainable
- c. Equity
- d. Cost efficient

## 5. CR Values:

- a. Politically Feasible
- b. Equity
- c. Cost efficient

## 6. JR:

- a. Politically feasible
- b. Cost efficient
- c. Fair

## 7. SM:

- a. Equity
- b. Political feasibility
- c. Cost efficient
- d. Sustainability

## 8. MW:

- a. Politically feasible [extrapolated]
- b. Equity [extrapolated]

## 9. DH:

- a. Equity
- b. Cost efficient

## 10. AI:

- a. Equity
- b. Ethical
- c. Politically feasible

#### Most effective solutions:

- 1. MGM: Advocate directly to professional organizations.
- 2. CP: More collaboration between ACOG and disability orgs.
- 3. HS: Funding for national First Call Center/technical assistance center. Money given to medical orgs for training and assistance and certification for disability training.
- 4. CL: providing the additional training for the medical professionals or mandating the additional training. Collab between medical and advocacy (seat at table.)
- 5. CR: Be inclusive of people with disabilities in health disparity initiatives.
- 6. JR: Change ACOG guidelines and pass bill to reimburse GCs.
- 7. SM: Change medical guidelines and practices. Build a groundswell of support.
- 8. MW: Bring people to the table to collaborate on solutions.
- 9. DH: Motivate medical orgs to value and include people with disabilities.
- 10. AI: Including people with disabilities in professional orgs through workforce pipeline

## **Observations:**

The sophistication of the advocacy experts in considering the multiple perspectives ranging from patient continuing a pregnancy, patients considering termination, providers, and policymakers reflected more nuance than the approach of representatives from medical organizations in this interview or published literature.

Advocacy experts often make the claim with anecdotal evidence that more information about disabilities makes it less likely that patient will terminate, but we have no way to verify if this claim is true. However, given the level of bias experienced by patients continuing a pregnancy and the fear and emotional harm caused by the lack of information about the disability or outdated information provided to them, the claim does not seem unfounded.

Improved societal acceptance of people with disabilities has been both policy-driven and socially driven; therefore, social and policy solutions will likely be the most likely effective approaches for improving diagnosis experiences.

Many participants reported that change is slow.

While the "health disparities," "inclusion," and "minority underserved population" approaches are helpful designations for people with disabilities, some participants warned against being associated with politically fraught Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion (DEI) initiatives.

There was general consensus that genetic counselors are better trained at delivering diagnosis. One lever for doctors could be patient satisfaction scores, which are important for Medicare reimbursement (<a href="https://www.cms.gov/medicare/quality/initiatives/hospital-quality-initiative/hcahps-patients-perspectives-care-survey">https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC9690600/</a>)

Examine models like Alzheimer's research.

## Alternatives:

Address both bias and need for resources: Improve ACOG policies toward PWD Funding dependency Health disparities funding Do not address bias: Expand coverage for GCs Statute requiring provision of information Insurance parity bill

# Appendix 6: Telling Your Story: Step 8

## Advocacy Letter to ACOG

Dear Dr. Christopher Zahn, Ms. Nancy O'Reilly, Ms. Courtney Salley, Dr. Wanda Nicholson, and ACOG DEI Workgroup Members:

We are deeply grateful that over the past five years ACOG has taken vital steps toward addressing health inequities faced by historically marginalized populations. Notably, ACOG has issued a policy statement on the importance of addressing racism in obstetrics and gynecology with corresponding webinars, training modules, and conference presentations to improve practice. Similarly, ACOG has issued committee opinions, position, and policy statements, and learning modules to address health inequities experienced due to sexuality, gender identity, and socioeconomic status. These are important and valued actions as these populations have all faced significant health disparities in the field of obstetrics and gynecology, and we appreciate the work to improve outcomes and care. Unfortunately, a population visibly less represented in the health equity efforts at ACOG are people with disabilities who account for a quarter of the population and who were designated as a health disparity population by NIH in September 2023 (NIH Designates People with Disabilities as a Population with Health Disparities, 2023).

Indeed, an assessment of the of the ACOG website section on "Diversity, Equity, and Inclusive Excellence at ACOG," demonstrated that the website makes no mention of ableism as a concept, and disability is not addressed in the Collective Action Plan or the Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion (DEI) curriculum roadmap (*Diversity, Equity, and Inclusive Excellence at ACOG*, 2024). Moreover, no policy statement or committee opinion specifically addresses disability as a topic (*Equity-Focused Clinical Guidance and Policies*, 2024). Disability is most often referenced in these documents as a related intersectional identity but not addressed specifically. Moreover, the recently released "Permanent Contraception: Ethical Issues and Considerations" has improved in encouraging clinicians to preserve reproductive autonomy for patients with limited cognition as much as possible but still fails to identify the historic context of eugenics that informs this recommendation even though the same document does successfully provide the context for discrimination experienced by other marginalized populations—including the forced sterilization of incarcerated people.

Additionally, in the training materials, none of the publicly available webinars address disability specifically (*Education and Training*, 2024). Notably, the Council on Resident Education in Obstetrics and Gynecology (**CREOG**) Health Equity Curriculum does include disability when discussing the history of health equity, social determinants of health, health disparities, and bias. However, examples are not provided for how to address those disparities and what the manifestations of bias look like in obstetric care (*Health Equity*, n.d.). Furthermore, no person on the current DEI committee identifies that they have a disability or represent the disability perspective (ACOG, 2024).

Finally, there are no sessions addressing disability as a minority underserved population on the upcoming 2024 ACOG Annual Meeting schedule while there are three sessions on racial health equity, one session on Asian American and Pacific Islander health equity, one session on transgender care, one session addressing inequities due to socioeconomic status, and a keynote speaker addressing LGBTQ social justice issues (ACOG Annual Clinical & Scientific Meeting, 2024).

The various health disparity populations currently included in ACOG's health equity efforts are critically important and have experienced historical discrimination by the obstetric field that vitally need to be addressed. We stand in solidarity with them and acknowledge the benefit for patients with disabilities who share those intersectional identities. Similarly, people with disabilities have collectively experienced historic harms given the era of eugenics and forced sterilization, the discrimination in access disabled patients continue to face, the current disparities in maternal mortality and morbidity for patients with disabilities and their infants, and the profound bias often conveyed about disabilities during prenatal screening (Gleason et al., 2021; Meredith et al., 2023; Mitra et al., 2015; Powell et al., 2021; Rutherford, 2023).

Patients with physical, intellectual, and sensory disabilities have a higher risk for pregnancy-related complications and severe maternal morbidities that most significantly contribute to maternal mortality, and maternal death (Gleason et al., 2021; Mitra et al., 2015). Major factors cited are disparities in access due to lack of healthcare; communication and physical barriers; the lack of recognition of patients with disabilities collectively as a high risk pregnancy population; and the lack of provider comfort in treating patients with disabilities, particularly as more individuals with disabilities are choosing to become pregnant (Gleason et al., 2021; Mitra et al., 2015). Correspondingly, patients with disabilities are more likely to experience preterm labor and give birth to low-birthweight infants. Research also demonstrates that 61% of patients who give birth to babies with Down syndrome describe their obstetricians as conveying bias against disabilities, and clinicians who conveyed bias were significantly less likely to provide more comprehensive health care during pregnancy (Meredith et al., 2023).

Studies of these disability health inequities in obstetric care overwhelmingly recommend better training and medical education for obstetricians to recognize people with disabilities as a health disparity population with higher risk for poor maternal and child health outcomes (Gleason et al., 2021; Mitra et al., 2015; Mwachofi, 2017). Researchers further emphasize the importance of developing policies and procedures about caring for parents with disabilities and providing cultural competency training to counter disability bias and improve clinicians' knowledge about disabilities (Meredith et al., 2023; Powell et al., 2021).

Given the past and current health inequities faced by people with disabilities in obstetric care, this is a population that deserves to be recognized by ACOG as a health disparity population and that needs acknowledgment, training, and protection like all other health disparity populations. ACOG has taken some steps for which we are grateful, but much more needs to be done to address the specific needs of the disability community.

Therefore, we make the following requests of ACOG to work toward greater equity toward people with disabilities and to address historic discrimination faced by people with disabilities in the field of obstetrics:

- Collaborate with and include people with disabilities and their caregivers at ACOG conferences, in research initiatives, and in the development of guidelines that reference people with disabilities or genetic conditions. This would also include inviting professionals who self-identify as a people with disabilities to participate on ACOG's Health Equity Team.
- 2. Work alongside the disability community on grants as research and project partners to improve equity toward people with disabilities such as the Respectful Care module done in collaboration with the Maternal Health Learning and Innovation Center (MHLIC) of the University of North Carolina Chapel Hill (UNC Chapel Hill).
- 3. Improve student and clinical training to include people with disabilities and disability social justice advocates covering topics such as historic harms done to people with disabilities in the field of obstetrics and current harms; strategies for improving practice, fostering cultural humility about disabilities, and avoiding bias in prenatal screening and the healthcare of patients with disabilities; and education about the history of disability rights.
- 4. Invest in the obstetric workforce development of people with disabilities as a protected class under the Americans with Disabilities Act.
- Develop an ethical and moral framework for addressing disability to be published as a committee opinion, position, or policy statement with input from leaders in the disability community.
- 6. Determine strategies for disseminating patient education resources about disabilities to providers and funding mechanisms for developing and disseminating accurate, balanced, and up-to-date information created with input by people with disabilities. Be sure these resources provide information about advocacy organizations and supports and services as critical resources to address social determinants of health, particularly at the first point on the life course.
- 7. Encourage providers to provide timely referrals to experts and to collaborate with other professionals such as genetic counselors to improve care delivery.

We do not assert that ACOG or obstetricians and gynecologists are exceptional or intentional in their lack of recognition of people with disabilities as an identity that experiences bias and discrimination. This is a systemic and societal problem that has only recently been recognized by NIH as a gaping hole. What we are asking is for ACOG to help us step across the chasm because your allyship is critical with obstetric care being a first point on the life course for many families of people with disabilities and a significant health disparity for patients with disabilities.

Please contact us about your plans to move forward and address these issues so that we can begin collaborating on solutions as soon as possible. Our primary hope and intention are to work together as partners. Indeed, researchers in the field have identified ACOG as the linchpin

for addressing these health disparities for people with disabilities in obstetric care. We look forward to hearing from you and working together in the near future.

## Possible signers:

National Center for Prenatal and Postnatal Resources
AAHD
AADMD
Disabled Parenting Project
Case Western Reserve Bioethics
Hastings Center
Spina Bifida Association
TSSUS
AXYS
NSGC
Genetic Support Foundation
National Society of Genetic Counselors
11q Research and Resource
Little People of America
Joel Michael Reynolds

Progressive steps:
Send letter to entire ACOG board.
Email campaign.
Social media and media campaign.
Meet with legislators.
Draft legislation.

## Email:

Mark Leach

Robert Dinerstein

After decades of documented discrimination against people with disabilities in the field of obstetrics and genetics, the time has come for us to engage in advocacy for change, and collectively we have the power to make a difference. Never before have we centered the argument on health equity for people with disabilities and their families, and never before have we approached ACOG to recognize people with disabilities as a minority population that experiences discrimination in healthcare—particularly when ACOG has a stated interest in promoting health equity. People with disabilities are notably excluded from the current health equity initiatives at ACOG even though women with disabilities experience higher rates of maternal morbidity and mortality, and 61% of parents of children with disabilities reported that their clinicians conveyed implicit bias against disabilities in prenatal screening conversations, with nearly 1 in 10 reporting blatantly discriminatory and incorrect descriptions of disabilities. Patients report poorer health outcomes and lack of access to supports and services that can

improve health; therefore, we need to advocate directly to ACOG today for people with disabilities to be included in their health equity initiatives, in their organizational leadership, and in their training. Please join us today in signing on to a collaborative letter and also contacting ACOG directly about your concerns.